UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS

## USO DE DIFERENTES ANESTÉSICOS PARA MANIPULAÇÃO BIOMÉTRICA E TRANSPORTE DE PEIXES DE ÁGUA DOCE

ANDRE LIMA FERREIRA

BELO HORIZONTE

ESCOLA DE VETERINÁRIA – UFMG

2022

#### ANDRE LIMA FERREIRA

## USO DE DIFERENTES ANESTÉSICOS PARA MANIPULAÇÃO BIOMÉTRICA E TRANSPORTE DE PEIXES DE ÁGUA DOCE

Tese apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia da Escola de Veterinária da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais como requisito para obtenção do grau de Doutor em Zootecnia.

Área de concentração: Produção Animal/Aquacultura.

Orientador: Dr. Ronald Kennedy Luz. Coorientadora: Dr<sup>a</sup>. Gisele Cristina Favero.

#### **BELO HORIZONTE**

#### ESCOLA DE VETERINÁRIA – UFMG

2022

F383u

Ferreira, Andre Lima,1990-Uso de diferentes anestésicos para manipulação biométrica e transporte de peixes de água doce / Andre Lima Ferreira. – 2022.

165 f .:il.

Orientador: Ronald Kennedy Luz

Coorientadora: Gisele Cristina Favero

Tese (Doutorado) apresentada à Escola de Veterinária da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais para obtenção do título grau de Doutor em Zootecnia.

Área de concentração: Produção animal / Aquacultura. Bibliografias: f. 18 a 44.

1. Peixe - Teses - 2. Aquicultura - Teses - 3. Produção animal - Teses - I. Luz, Ronald Kennedy - II. Favero, Gisele Cristina - III. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Escola de Veterinária - IV. Título.

CDD - 636.08

Bibliotecária responsável Cristiane Patrícia Gomes – CRB2569 Biblioteca da Escola de Veterinária, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais



#### UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS ESCOLA DE VETERINÁRIA COLEGIADO DO CURSO DE PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO EM ZOOTECNIA

#### FOLHA DE APROVAÇÃO

#### USO DE DIFERENTES ANESTÉSICOS PARA MANIPULAÇÃO **BIOMÉTRICA E TRANSPORTE DE PEIXES DE ÁGUA DOCE**

#### ANDRE LIMA FERREIRA

Tese de Doutorado defendida e aprovada, no dia vinte e cinco de março de dois mil e vinte e dois, pela Banca Examinadora designada pelo Colegiado do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Zootecnia da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, constituída pelos seguintes professores:

Dr. Bernardo Baldisserotto Universidade Federal de Santa Maria

Bernardo Baldisserotto Assinado de forma digital por Bernardo Baldisserotto Dados: 2022.03.28 17:26:38 +02'00'

Dr. Luís Antonio Kioshi Aoki Inoue Empresa Brasileira de Pesquisa Agropecuária

JISOM Ambomio Wed-

Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Catarinense

Dr. Ro

Universidade de Brasília

Dr. Ronald Kennedy Luz - Orientador Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais

Belo Horizonte. 25 de março de 2022.

"Os dias prósperos não vêm por acaso.

Nascem de muito trabalho e persistência."

Henry Ford

#### DEDICATÓRIA

Dedico aos meus pais (Lucimar e Ivanda), meu irmão (Gustavo), minha cunhada (Lunara) e minha sobrinha/afilhada (Ísis Giovanna). E também a minha fiel companheira de quatro patas (Bel).

Dedico a todos os meus familiares e amigos.

Dedico a todos os mestres que contribuíram para minha formação profissional (desde o préescolar até a pós-graduação).

Finalizo esta etapa importante da minha vida e agradeço a todos vocês que fizeram parte desta trajetória. Já dizia Nelson Mandela, "A educação é a ferramenta mais poderosa que podemos usar para transformar o mundo".

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

Agradeço primeiramente a Deus, pela fé, sabedoria e força concedida a cada dia e por ouvir minhas orações. Aos meus amados pais Raimundo Lucimar Ferreira e Ivanda de Lima Ferreira por ensinarem e serem exemplos de união, honestidade, lealdade, persistência, humildade, companheirismo e tanto amor. Eu escolheria vocês infinitas vezes.

À Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) pela concessão da bolsa de doutorado.

Ao Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnlógico (CNPq – Brasil, sob o número de registro 202628/2020-5) pela concessão da bolsa de doutorado sanduíche realizado no Instituto de Investigación y Tecnología Agrolimentarias, na Espanha.

À Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior e Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG) pelo apoio financeiro de projetos.

Ao meu orientador Prof. Dr. Ronald Kennedy Luz por sua grande contribuição em minha formação profissional e pessoal, pela sua dedicação em ensinar, ser um grande motivador à pesquisa, excelente gestor e exemplo de profissional. Agradeço também por todas as oportunidades e sua disposição em auxiliar e abraçar os sonhos dos alunos como se fossem os seus.

À Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Gisele Cristina Favero por todo auxílio, apoio e coorientação durante o doutorado.

Aos professores do doutorado da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), do mestrado e graduação da Universidade Federal dos Vales do Jequitinhonha e Mucurí (UFVJM) que muito contribuíram para minha formação profissional e pessoal.

A todos os funcionários da UFMG em especial aos da Escola de Veterinária (EV).

Aos colegas do Laboratório de Aquacultura (LAQUA) da EV da UFMG por toda troca de conhecimento e momentos de descontração. Em especial, a equipe de pesquisa do Laboratório de Larvicultura do LAQUA, pela colaboração durante os experimentos, pelos bons momentos e trocas de experiências pessoais e profissionais. E para esta grande equipe, com carinho, relembro a seguinte frase escrita por Zilda Prudencio: "Nenhum de nós é tão bom quanto todos nós juntos".

À Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup>. Deliane Cristina Costa por toda amizade, ajuda e incentivo durante minha pós graduação. Principalmente, por me instruir ao melhor caminho para realização do

doutorado. E também, agradeço a todos os amigos que ganhei durante minha caminhada por Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais.

Ao Prof. Dr. Bernardo Baldisserotto e Prof<sup>a</sup>. Dr<sup>a</sup> Berta Maria Heinzmann da Universidade Federal de Santa Maria (UFSM) pelas doações de anestésicos, auxílios em análises estatísticas, parceria de trabalho e todo apoio prestado durante a realização dos projetos. Em especial, a toda equipe do Laboratório de Fisiologia de Peixes e Laboratório de Extratos Vegetativos da UFSM.

Ao Pesq. Dr. Rodrigo Takata da Fundação Instituto de Pesca do Estado do Rio de Janeiro pela doação de anestésicos, auxílios em análises estatísticas e toda parceria com os projetos.

Ao Dr. Enric Gisbert e ao seu grupo de pesquisa na área de nutrição de organismos aquáticos do Instituto de Investigación y Tecnología Agrolimentarias (IRTA) - Sant Carles de La Rapita, na Espanha; pela receptividade e por todos os conhecimentos técnicos e científicos compartilhados. Em especial, a todos os funcionários do (IRTA) e amigos que ganhei durante meu período de doutorado sanduíche.

Ao meu estimado irmão Gustavo de Lima Ferreira, à minha cunhada Lunara e minha sobrinha/afilhada Isís Giovanna, por todo companheirismo, compreensão e tanto amor durante esta caminhada.

Ao Ronan Luis Araújo Santos e sua família por toda ajuda, conselhos, ensinamentos, companheirismo, carinho e amizade.

A Camilla Souza e sua família por todo carinho, amizade e amor.

A família de Katira Durães e amigos de Diamantina - Minas Gerais, por toda cumplicidade, carinho e companheirismo.

A Rosa Serret e sua família, pela amizade, por todos os momentos compartilhados e trocas de experiências durante minha caminhada por Sant Carles de La Rapita, na Espanha.

Muito obrigado!

#### Resumo

Procedimentos realizados nas pisciculturas, como biometria e transporte de peixes vivos podem ocasionar perturbações na homeostase dos peixes, acometendo o estresse; como consequência disso pode ocorrer depressão do sistema imunológico e até mesmo morte dos animais. Desta forma, foram realizados cinco artigos. No Artigo 1 – avaliou-se diferentes concentrações de benzocaína e mentol (0, 12,5, 25, 50, 75, 100, 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para cada anestésico) em juvenis de Aulonocara nyassae. Para o teste com benzocaína, os peixes foram classificados em Juvenis I ( $0.74 \pm 0.31$  g) e Juvenis II ( $3.80 \pm 0.92$  g). Já, para o experimento de mentol foram utilizados Juvenis I (1.01  $\pm$  0.39 g) e Juvenis II (3.73  $\pm$  0.78 g). Foram realizados testes independentes para cada anestésico e classe de tamanho de peixe em delineamento inteiramente casualizado (DIC). Foram mensurados os tempos de indução e recuperação da anestesia e frequências ventilatória (VF) dos animais. Concentrações entre 75 e 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de benzocaína para Juvenis I e 50 a 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para Juvenis II são ideais. Para mentol, concentrações entre 50 e 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> podem ser usadas para ambas classes de A. nyassae. Logo, no Artigo 2, foram avaliadas diferentes concentrações de eugenol e mentol (0, 25, 50, 75, 100 e 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) em dois tamanhos de juvenis de *Piaractus brachypomus*. Para o teste de eugenol, foram utilizados Juvenis I ( $0.87 \pm 0.20$  g) e Juvenis II ( $17.14 \pm 3.27$  g). Já, para o ensaio com mentol foram usados Juvenis I ( $0.83 \pm 0.21$  g) e Juvenis II ( $16.83 \pm 2.78$  g). Foram realizados testes independentes para cada classe de tamanho de peixe e anestésico, em DIC. Concentrações de eugenol entre 50 e 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> foram capazes de induzir anestesia para ambas as classes de tamanho juvenil de P. brachypomus, enquanto o mentol foi capaz de induzir anestesia em concentrações entre 25 e 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para Juvenis I e entre 50 e 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para Juvenis II. O uso de 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de eugenol reduziu a VF durante a recuperação e prevenir aumento da glicose plasmática, tendo pouca influência nos parâmetros hematológicos e bioquímicos após biometria. O uso de 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de mentol também reduziu a VF durante a recuperação e não causou alterações nos parâmetros no sangue que fosse prejudicial à fisiologia dos peixes. No Artigo 3 foram investigadas as propriedades físicas e químicas de nanopartículas de zeína contendo eugenol (NPZMA), no processo de anestesia de Oreochromis niloticus e seus efeitos na hemogasometria e sua estabilidade na água. Foram realizados quatro testes independentes em DIC. O novo método de aplicação de eugenol através de nanopartículas de zeína mucoadesivas (NPZMA) demonstrou cargas positivas e fácil adesão ao muco dos peixes. O método levou oscilações na qualidade da água durante o período de observação (1 h), embora tenha permanecido dentro da faixa ideal para o cultivo de O. niloticus. O experimento 3 revelou tempos de indução semelhantes para eugenol-80 mg  $L^{-1}$ , NPZMA-80 mg  $L^{-1}$  e NPZMA-40 mg  $L^{-1}$ . O tempo de recuperação foi mais curto para NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> e mais longo para NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. O experimento 4 demonstrou que as concentrações testadas não têm efeitos nas variáveis hemogasométricas. Já, no Artigo 4 foram avaliadas diferentes concentrações do óleo essencial de Ocimum gratissimum L. (EOOG) para anestesia e seu uso na água de transporte de juvenis de O. niloticus e os efeitos na frequência ventilatória, hematologia e bioquímica do sangue e estresse oxidativo. Foram realizados três experimentos independentes em DIC. Concentrações entre 90 e 150 mg  $L^{-1}$  de EOOG são recomendadas para *O. niloticus* com 40 g. O uso de 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de EOOG preveniu aumento da glicose plasmática logo após a indução anestésica e 1 h após recuperação, porém causou alterações no sistema de defesa antioxidante aumentando as espécies reativas de oxigênio no tecido hepático e renal. O uso de 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG no transporte aumentou os valores de glicose e diminuiu hematócrito imediatamente. O transporte de O. niloticus com peso médio de 12 g durante 4,5 h pode ser realizado com concentração de 5 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de EOOG. No Artigo 5 foram investigadas diferentes concentrações anestésicas e sedativas do óleo essencial de Hesperozygis ringens (EOHR) para juvenis de Colossoma macropomum. Foram realizados quatro ensaios independentes em DIC. Concentrações entre 150 e 450 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR são recomendadas para anestesia de C. macropomum com peso médio de 3 g. Concentrações de 15 e 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup> de EOHR foram capazes de reduzir os níveis de amônia não ionizada durante o transporte de C. macropomum com 2 g; no entanto, seu uso em sacos plásticos por longos períodos (24 h) deve ser evitado, pois reduz os níveis de oxigênio dissolvido. Esses resultados são promissores para cadeia industrial da piscicultura; contudo estudos de anestesia para peixes que investiguem a morfologia e histologia de tecidos, além do desempenho zootécnico dos animais, se fazem necessários.

**Palavras chaves:** Aquacultura, Anestesia, Fisiologia de peixe, Óleo essencial de planta, Manejo estressante.

#### Abstract

Procedures performed in fish farms, such as biometry and transport of live fish can cause disturbances in fish homeostasis, affecting stress; as a consequence of this, depression of the immune system and even death of animals can occur. Thus, five articles were carried out. In Article 1 – different concentrations of benzocaine and menthol (0, 12.5, 25, 50, 75, 100, 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for each anesthetic) were evaluated in juveniles of Aulonocara nyassae. The fish were classified as Juveniles I (0.74  $\pm$  0.31 g) and Juveniles II (3.80  $\pm$  0.92 g) for the benzocaine test. For the menthol experiment, Juveniles I (1.01  $\pm$  0.39 g) and Juveniles II (3.73  $\pm$  0.78 g) were used. Independent tests were performed for each anesthetic and fish size class in a completely randomized design (DIC). Induction and recovery times from anesthesia and ventilatory frequency (VF) of the animals were measured. Concentrations between 75 and 125 mg  $L^{-1}$  of benzocaine for Juveniles I and 50 to 125 mg  $L^{-1}$  for Juveniles II are ideal. For menthol, concentrations between 50 and 125 mg  $L^{-1}$  can be used for both classes of A. nyassae. Therefore, in Article 2 different concentrations of eugenol and menthol (0, 25, 50, 75, 100 and 125 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) were evaluated in two sizes of juveniles of *Piaractus brachypomus*. For the eugenol test, Juveniles I (0.87  $\pm$  0.20 g) and Juveniles II (17.14  $\pm$  3.27 g) were used. For the menthol assay, Juveniles I ( $0.83 \pm 0.21$  g) and Juveniles II ( $16.83 \pm 2.78$  g) were used. Independent tests were performed for each fish size class and anesthetic in DIC. Eugenol concentrations between 50 and 100 mg  $L^{-1}$  were able to induce anesthesia for both juvenile size classes of *P. brachypomus*, while menthol was able to induce anesthesia at concentrations between 25 and 100 mg  $L^{-1}$  for Juveniles I and between 50 and 125 mg  $L^{-1}$  for Juveniles II. The use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol was able to reduce the ventilatory rate (VF) during recovery and prevented an increase in plasma glucose, having little influence on hematological and biochemical parameters after biometry. The use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol also reduced VF during recovery and did not cause changes in blood parameters that were harmful to fish physiology. In Article 3, the physical and chemical properties of zein nanoparticles containing eugenol (NPZMA) in the anesthesia process of Oreochromis niloticus and their effects on blood gas analysis and their stability in water were investigated. Four independent tests were performed in DIC. The new method of eugenol application through mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles (NPZMA) demonstrated positive charges and easy adhesion to fish mucus. The method led to fluctuations in water quality during the observation period (1 h), although it remained within the ideal range for O. niloticus cultivation. Experiment 3 revealed similar

induction times for eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Recovery time was shorter for NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and longer for NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Experiment 4 demonstrated that the concentrations tested have no effect on blood gas variables. Already, in Article 4 different concentrations of essential oil of Ocimum gratissimum L. (EOOG) were evaluated for anesthesia and their use in the transport water of juveniles of O. niloticus and their effect on VF, hematology and blood biochemistry and oxidative stress. Three independent experiments were carried out in DIC. Concentrations between 90 and 150 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of EOOG are recommended for O. niloticus with 40 g. The use of 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of EOOG prevented an increase in plasma glucose soon after anesthetic induction and 1 h after recovery, but caused changes in the antioxidant defense system, increasing reactive oxygen species in hepatic and renal tissue. The use of 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG in transport increased glucose values and decreased hematocrit immediately after transport. The transport of O. niloticus with an average weight of 12 g for 4.5 h can be carried out with a concentration of 5 mg  $L^{-1}$  of EOOG. In Article 5, different anesthetic and sedative concentrations of the essential oil of Hesperozygis ringens (EOHR) were investigated for juveniles of Colossoma macropomum. Four independent trials were carried out in DIC. Concentrations between 150 and 450 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR are recommended for anesthesia of C. macropomum with an average weight of 3 g. Concentrations of 15 and 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup> of EOHR were able to reduce the levels of unionized ammonia during the transport of C. macropomum with 2 g; however, its use in plastic bags for long periods (24 h) should be avoided, as it reduces dissolved oxygen levels. These results are promising for the fish farming industrial chain; however, studies of anesthesia for fish that investigate the morphology and histology of tissues, in addition to the zootechnical performance of the animals, are necessary.

Key words: Aquaculture, Anesthesia, Fish physiology, Handling stress, Plant essential oil.

**ARTIGO 2.** Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for *Piaractus brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818): Induction and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical responses

**TABLE 1.** Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for ventilation frequency during anesthesiausing different concentrations of eugenol and two size classes of *Piaractus brachypomus*.

**TABLE 2.** Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for ventilation frequency during anesthesiausing different concentrations of methanol and two size classes of *Piaractus brachypomus*.

**TABLE 3.** Values (mean ± standard deviation) of hematological and biochemistry parameters at two blood collection times for *Piaractus brachypomus* submitted to different concentrations of eugenol.

**TABLE 4.** Values (mean ± standard deviation) of hematological and biochemistry parameters at two blood collection times for *Piaractus brachypomus* submitted to different concentrations of menthol.

**ARTIGO 3** - Chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles containing eugenol potentiates anesthesia in Nile tilapia

**TABLE 1.** Physico-chemical characteristics of mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles containing

 eugenol: polydispersion index (PDI), particle size and zeta potential.

**TABLE 2.** Means and standard deviations for the physical parameters of water quality over time after in vitro testing among the different forms of eugenol application.

**TABLE 3.** Breakdown of the interaction (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) between different forms of eugenol application over time and temperature (°C).

**TABLE 4.** Breakdown of the interaction (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) between the different forms of eugenol application over time and pH.

**TABLE 5.** Hemogasometric values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for sodium (Na<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), potassium (K<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), carbon dioxide rate (TCO<sub>2</sub> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), glucose (Glu - mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), hematocrit (Hct % PCT), hydrogen potential (pH), partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PCO<sub>2</sub> - mmHg), bicarbonate ion (HCO<sub>3</sub> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), base deficit (Beecf - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and hemoglobin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>) for blood samples of *O. niloticus* submitted to different forms of eugenol application.

**ARTIGO 4. Essential oil of** *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753): efficacy for anesthesia and transport of Oreochromis niloticus

**TABLE 1.** Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) after 4.5 h of transport of juvenile *O. niloticus* in plastic bags containing water with different concentrations of essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L.

**ARTIGO 5.** Efficacy of *Hesperozygis ringens* essential oil as an anesthetic and for sedation of juvenile tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) during simulated transport

**TABLE 1.** Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) at the end of 4 and 24 h of simulated transport of juveniles *Colossoma macropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR.

**TABLE 2.** Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) after the second simulated transport (24 h) of juveniles *Colossoma macropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR

**TABLE 3.** Water quality parameters (mean ± standard deviation) after simulated transport(24 h) without fish containing water and different concentrations of EOHR

#### LISTA DE FIGURAS

# **ARTIGO 1. Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid** *Aulonocara nyassae*

**FIGURE 1.** Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) of time (seconds) of induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of Aulonocara nyassae, submitted to different benzocaine concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

**FIGURE 2.** Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) ventilation frequency (opercular beats per minute) during induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different benzocaine concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

**FIGURE 3.** Values (mean ± standard error) of time (seconds) of induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different menthol concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

**FIGURE 4.** Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) ventilation frequency (opercular beats per minute) during induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different menthol concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

**ARTIGO 2.** Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for *Piaractus brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818): Induction and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical responses

**FIGURE 1.** Time required for anesthesia induction (A, C) and recovery (B, D) for juvenile *Piaractus brachypomus* using different concentrations eugenol.

**FIGURE 2.** Time required for anesthesia induction (A, C) and recovery (B, D) for juvenile *Piaractus brachypomus* using different concentrations menthol.

# **ARTIGO 3.** Chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles containing eugenol potentiates anesthesia in Nile tilapia

**FIGURE 1.** Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to analyze the morphology of NPZMA. The nanoparticles were diluted 1:5000, mounted on plastic coverslips (Thermanox), metalized with carbon in an evaporator (Modelo Hitachi HUS4G) and analyzed by SEM with secondary electrons in a backscattered electronic image.

**FIGURE 2.** Time for anesthesia induction (A) and recovery (B) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) of juvenile *O. niloticus* submitted to different forms of eugenol application. Means followed by different letters differ significantly according to Tukey's test (*P* <0.05).

# **ARTIGO 4. Essential oil of** *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753): efficacy for anesthesia and transport of Oreochromis niloticus

**FIGURE 1.** Anesthesia induction time (a), anesthesia recovery time (b), ventilatory frequency during induction (c), and ventilatory frequency during recovery (d) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) of *Oreochromis niloticus* subjected to different concentrations of the essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (stars represent the minimum value of the equations).

**FIGURE 2.** Biochemical and hematological parameters of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthesia induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. (a) Plasma glucose, (b) hematocrit and (c) plasma protein. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data

were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 3.** Reactive oxygen species (ROS) of the liver (a), gills (b), kidney (b), and brain (d) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthesia induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by twoway ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 4.** Superoxide dismutase (SOD) of the liver (a), gills (b), kidney (c), and brain (d) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 5.** Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) of the liver (a), gills (b), kidney (c), and brain (d) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by the Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 6.** Non-protein thiols (NPSH) of the liver (a), gills (b), kidney (c), and brain (d) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 7.** Protein levels of the liver (a), gills (b), kidney, (c), and brain (d) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

**FIGURE 8.** Biochemical and hematological parameters of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured after transport with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG). Basal group: fish not transported. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Plasma glucose (a), hematocrit (b), and plasma protein (c). Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference from the basal group.

# **ARTIGO 5.** Efficacy of *Hesperozygis ringens* essential oil as an anesthetic and for sedation of juvenile tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) during simulated transport

**FIGURE 1.** Anesthesia induction time (a) and recovery time (b) and ventilatory frequency during anesthesia induction (c) and recovery (d) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) of juveniles of *Colossoma macropomum* subjected to different concentrations of essential oil of *Hesperozygis ringens* (star represents the minimum value of the equation). The equations were adjusted to the data: induction y = 551.89 - 3.33x + 0.006x<sup>2</sup>, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.8628, recovery y = 8.97 + 0.16x, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.7527, induction ventilatory frequency (non significant), recovery ventilatory frequency y = 148.39 - 0.15x, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.5090.

**FIGURE 2.** Ammonia excretion levels (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for the different time periods of simulated transport of juveniles of *Colossoma macropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR. (1) Experiment 2 and (2) Experiment 3. Means for the same time followed by different letters differ by the Kruskal-Wallis test (p < 0.05).

### LISTA DE ABREVIATURAS, SIGLAS E SÍMBOLOS

ACTH – Adrenocorticotropic hormone

ANOVA - Analysis of variance

Beats min<sup>-1</sup> - Opercular beat per minute

CAT - Catalase

CEUA - Comissão de ética no uso de animais

CNS - Central nervous system

CRH - Corticotrophin releasing hormone

CV - Coefficient of variation

DIC - Completely randomized design

DNA – Deoxyribonucleic acid

EO - Essential oil

EV - Escola de Veterinária

EOOG – Essential oil Ocimum gratissimum L.

EOHR – Essential oil Hesperozygis ringens

EOLA – Essential oil Lippia alba

FAO - Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

FDA – Food and Drug Administration

VF – Ventilatory frequency

Glu - Glucose

GPx - Glutathione peroxidase

 $GST-Gluta thione \hbox{-} S \hbox{-} transferase$ 

Hct - Hematocrit

LAQUA – Laboratório de Aquacultura

NPSH – Non-protein thiol

NPZMA - Mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles containing eugenol

PABA - p-aminobenzoic acid

PDI - Polydispersion index

pH – Hydrogen potential

RAS – Recirculating aquaculture system

ROS - Oxigen-reactive species

s-Seconds

SOD - Dismutase

TBARS - Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances

UFMG - Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais

US\$ - Dollar

Beecf - Deficit base

 $\operatorname{cm}-\operatorname{Centimeter}$ 

% - Percentage

°C - Degrees Celsius

g-Gram

g dL<sup>-1</sup> - Gram per deciliter

g kg<sup>-1</sup> - Gram per kilo

K<sup>+</sup> - Potassium

kcal kg<sup>-1</sup> – Kcal per kilo

L - Liters

 $\min-Minutes$ 

mg L<sup>-1</sup> - milligrams per liter

mg dL<sup>-1</sup> - Milligrams per decilitre

mL-milliliter

 $\mu L L^{-1}$  - microliter per liter

mm-Millimeter

mmHg - Millimeter of mercury

mmol - Millimol

mmol L<sup>-1</sup> - millimole per liter

mS - Millisiemens

MS-222 - Tricaine methanesulfonate

Na<sup>+</sup> - Sodium

PCO<sub>2</sub> - Partial pressure of carbon dioxide

pH - Hydrogen potential

TCO<sub>2</sub> - Carbon dioxide rate

HC03<sup>-</sup> Bicarbonate ion

#### Sumário

1. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL	29
2. REVISÃO BIBLIOGRÁFICA	30
2.1 Anestesia em peixes	30
2.2 Fármacos anestésicos para peixes	33
2.3 Hematologia, bioquímica, gasometria do sangue, estado oxidativo e frequ	ência
ventilatória de peixes frente ao uso de anestésicos	35
2.4 Manipulação biométrica e transporte de peixes frente ao uso de anestésicos	41
2.5 Espécies estudadas	42
2.5.1 Oreochromis niloticus	42
2.5.2 Colossoma macropomum	42
2.5.3 Piaractus brachypomus	43
2.5.4 Aulonocara nyassae	44
3. OBJETIVOS	44
3.1 GERAL	44
3.2 ESPECÍFICOS	45
4. REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS	46
Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid Aulonocara nyassae	73
1. Introduction	75
2 Material and Methods	76
3 Results	77
Benzocaine	77
Menthol	80
4 Discussion	82
5 Conclusion	84
Funding information	84
Conflict of Interest	84
Ethical approval	84
6 References	84
Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for Piaractus brachypomus (Cuvier, 1818): Indu	ction
and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical responses .	89
1. Introduction	91
2. Material and methods	92

2.1 Animals and environmental acclimation	
2.2 Statistical analysis	
3. Results	
Experiment I	
Eugenol	
Experiment II	
Hematology and blood biochemistry	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	
6. References	
Chitosan-coated zein nanopoarticles containing eugenol po	otentiates anesthesia in Nile tilapia
1. Introduction	
2. Materials and Methods	
Animals and environmental acclimatization	
Nanoparticle morphology	
Colloidal parameters of nanoparticles, mean diameter, po	olydispersity index (PDI) and zeta
potential	
Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)	
Statistical analysis	
3. Results	
Experiment I	
Experiment II	
Experiment III	
Experiment IV	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusion	
Acknowledgements	
6. References	
Essential oil of Ocimum gratissimum (Linnaeus, 1753): ef	ficacy for anesthesia and transport
of Oreochromis niloticus	
1. Introduction	

2. Materials and Methods	
2.1 Compliance with Ethical Standards	
2.2 Animals and environmental acclimation	
2.3 Statistical analysis	
3. Results	
Experiment I	
Experiment II	
Biochemistry and blood hematology	
Oxidative stress variables	
Experiment III	
Water quality	
Blood biochemical and hematological parameters	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusions	
Declarations	
Funding	
Conflict of Interest	
Ethics approval	
Consent to participle	
Consent to publication	
Availability of data and material	
Code availability	
Efficacy of Hesperozygis ringens essential oil as an anesthetic and for sec	lation of juvenile
tambaqui (Colossoma macropomum) during simulated transport	
Abstract	
2. Material and Methods	
Anesthetic	
Fish maintenance	
Statistical analysis	
3. Results	
4. Discussion	
5. Conclusions	
Funding	

Availability of data and material	
6. References	
CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS	

#### 1. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

Segundo a FAO (2020), a produção global de peixes foi de 179 milhões de toneladas em 2018, com venda total em valor aproximado de US\$ 401 bilhões, dos quais 82 milhões de toneladas, avaliadas em US\$ 250 bilhões, foi proveniente da produção aquícola. A aquicultura representa 46% da produção total e 52% de pescado para consumo humano (FAO, 2020). No Brasil, a produção de peixes chegou a 841.005 toneladas no ano de 2021 (PEIXE BR, 2022). A espécie de maior produção no país é a tilápia do Nilo Oreochromis niloticus (PEIXE BR, 2022); a tilapicultura foi registrada em aproximadamente 110.000 fazendas de cultivo em todos os estados (IBGE, 2020). Segundo PEIXE BR (2022) os estados de maior produção de tilápia são o Paraná, com aproximadamente 182.000 toneladas (t), seguido por São Paulo com cerca de 76.140 t, Minas Gerais com 47.000 t (ocupando o terceiro lugar), Santa Catarina com 41.700 t e Mato Grosso do Sul com cerca de 34.450 t. Já, a produção de espécies nativas foi estimada em 262.370 toneladas em 2021 e maiores estados produtores foram Rondônia (59.600 t), Mato Grosso (37.000 t), Maranhão (37.000 t), Pará (24.200 t) e Amazonas (21.000 t). As conhecidas popularmente por espécies redondas, tambaqui Colossoma macropomum, pirapitinga Piaractus brachypomus e seus híbridos, como: patinga: Piaractus mesopotamicus x P. brachypomus; e tambatinga: C. macropomum x P. brachypomus) são o segundo e terceiro grupos das espécies de peixes nativos de maior produção no Brasil, respectivamente (PEIXE BR, 2022). Segundo projeções da FAO (Organização das Nações Unidas para Alimentação e Aquicultura) a produção aquícola no Brasil crescerá em 32% de 2018 até 2030 (FAO, 2020).

Outra atividade que tem ganhado destaque no cenário mundial é a aquariofilia, principalmente com o cultivo de peixes para fins de companhia e ornamentação (Faria et al., 2019). Há diferentes relatos nas culturas oriental, romana e egípcia que a criação de peixes para fins estéticos é antiga (Botelho Filho, 1990). A denominação "peixe ornamental" engloba variadas espécies de peixes com formatos, tamanhos e colorações distintas criadas em cativeiro (Alderton, 2019). A cadeia industrial de produção de peixes ornamentais movimenta mais de US\$ 27 bilhões anualmente, incluindo itens como: equipamentos, acessórios, plantas ornamentais e alimentação (Ploeg, 2013). Segundo o mesmo autor, este comércio movimenta aproximadamente 1,5 bilhões de exemplares por ano, onde, Singapura é o principal exportador de peixes, com US\$ 61,4 milhões, seguido pela Espanha com US\$ 26,5 milhões e República Tcheca com US\$ 21,7 milhões. Cerca de 60% das exportações de peixes

ornamentais são de países em desenvolvimento e o Brasil contribui com apenas 5,9% do total de exportações mundiais (Ploeg, 2013; Rossoni et al., 2014).

Diante deste aumento na cadeia industrial de peixes, tanto para consumo humano quanto para ornamentação, nos cultivos os peixes têm de lidar com diferentes situações estressantes que podem comprometer seu bem-estar, incluindo a manipulação, principalmente durante a biometria e o transporte (Pickering, 1981; Barton et al., 2002). O estresse induzido por tais práticas desencadeia alterações fisiológicas as quais podem comprometer o desempenho produtivo e reprodutivo dos peixes (Gressler et al., 2012; Souza et al., 2019a), além de poder levar a morte do animal. Nesse sentido, os anestésicos, em concentrações ideais, são apresentados como benéficos por diminuir a mobilidade dos peixes evitando possíveis danos físicos, bem como alterações hematológicas, bioquímicas e endócrinas (Ortuno et al., 2002; Souza et al., 2019b) durante diferentes procedimentos nas pisciculturas (Ross e Ross, 2008). Seus benefícios também foram descritos no transporte de peixes vivos, uma vez que diminuem a excitação dos animais (efeito sedativo), reduz a excreção de amônia e gás carbônico, como também o consumo de oxigênio e a deterioração da qualidade da água (Ross e Ross, 2008; Aydin e Barbas, 2020, Brandão et al., 2021).

Assim, o objetivo deste trabalho foi avaliar diferentes compostos anestésicos e/ou sedativos (sintético ou natural) e formas de aplicação (diluição em álcool ou nanoemulsão) nas respostas fisiológicas e metabólicas de peixes de água doce após situações de manipulação, como biometria e transporte.

#### 2. REVISÃO BIBLIOGRÁFICA

#### 2.1 Anestesia em peixes

A palavra "anestesia" deriva do grego antigo *an* (ausência) + *aisthesis* (sensação), que significa "ausência de sensação". A anestesia provoca perda de sensação de todo ou parte do corpo e causa depressão da função nervosa, acometida geralmente por um fármaco, sendo, no entanto, este processo reversível (Williams e Wilkins Company, 1982).

O processo de indução anestésica engloba vários componentes, o que inclui sedação, inconsciência, amnésia e analgesia (Zahl et al., 2012). Segundo os mesmos autores, o efeito da sedação é caracterizado pela redução da sensibilidade, enquanto a anestesia geral compreende o estado de inconsciência, amnésia e também imobilização e alívio da dor. Desta

forma, um mesmo fármaco pode ser considerado sedativo e/ou anestésico, o que depende da concentração aplicada, período de exposição e, consequentemente, seu efeito no organismo animal.

Nesse sentido, segundo Ross e Ross (2008), o estágio de anestesia em peixes pode ser classificado em quatro etapas, sendo elas: estágio I – sedação: diminuição de reatividade a estímulo externo; estágio II – anestesia leve: perda parcial do equilíbrio e natação errática; estágio III – anestesia profunda: perda total do equilíbrio e interrupção da locomoção e inconsciência e estágio IV – anestesia cirúrgica: perda total de reações a estímulos táteis e movimento opercular irregular. Segundo esses mesmos autores, a recuperação da anestesia nos peixes pode ser descrita também em quatro etapas, sendo elas: estágio I pela leve recuperação do movimento opercular e início da movimentação das nadadeiras; no estágio II pelo início da recuperação do equilíbrio e leve reação a estímulos externos; no estágio III ocorre recuperação parcial do equilíbrio e dos movimentos de natação e no estágio IV é caracterizado pela recuperação total do equilíbrio e dos movimentos operculares e de natação.

As concentrações ideais de cada anestésico variam entre as espécies de peixes e seus tamanhos (Ross e Ross, 2008; Ribeiro et al., 2015; Readman et al., 2017; Tarkhani et al., 2017; Ferreira et al., 2020a), bem como da qualidade da água e de outros fatores externos (Massee et al., 1995; Gomes et al., 2011). Sua eficiência está associada à capacidade de indução rápida (até 180 s) e curto período de recuperação (até 300 s) (Keene et al., 1998; Ross e Ross, 2008).

Desta forma, um bom anestésico para peixes é aquele que além de apresentar o estado de anestesia desejado, não cause danos biológicos ao animal, ou seja, não afete negativamente seu desempenho zootécnico, reprodutivo e sobrevivência (Cunha et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2012). É importante também, que o anestésico não deixe resíduos na carne, não desencadeie alterações celulares (Roubach e Gomes, 2001, Teixeira et al., 2017), não cause danos ao operador, que seja de fácil acesso e baixo custo (Cunha et al., 2010).

Na aquacultura existem diferentes compostos anestésicos (sintéticos ou naturais) e formas de aplicação (Purbosari et al., 2019; Uehara et al., 2019; Yostawonkul et al., 2019). O uso de anestésicos injetáveis em peixes é eficiente, no entanto, requer mão de obra qualificada, o que torna um método oneroso (Ross e Ross, 2008). A forma de aplicação de anestésicos na piscicultura mais utilizada é a em banhos de imersão, na qual a absorção do fármaco ocorre através da pele, brânquias e intestino (Summerfelt e Smith, 1990; Rombout et

al., 2014). Normalmente, a maioria dos anestésicos utilizados na piscicultura necessita de prévia diluição em baixas concentrações de álcool etílico para sua diluição na água (Souza et al., 2019a; Aydin e Barbas, 2020; Brandão et al., 2021). Desta forma, a administração de medicamentos envolvendo nanopartículas consiste na otimização da solubilidade aquosa e biodisponibilidade da droga, além de minimizarem as reações de hipersensibilidade tecidual (Irache e González-Navarro, 2017; Wang et al., 2017) em relação a formulações convencionais (Torchilin, 2014). Desta forma, é de extrema importância desenvolver e implementar novas tecnologias para identificar diferentes terapêuticos solúveis em água e com isso melhorar o uso dos anestésicos e seus compostos ativos no cultivo de peixes (Aydin e Barbas, 2020). Assim, pesquisadores têm se esforçado para aplicar a nanotecnologia em estudos de anestesia para peixes. Yostawonkul et al. (2019) avaliaram o efeito de nanopartículas lipídicas para melhorar a miscibilidade aquosa do óleo de cravo e observaram diminuição significativa no tempo de indução da anestesia para tilápia do Nilo O. niloticus. Kheawfu et al. (2018) e Khumpirapang et al. (2017) relataram que as nanopartículas de óleo essencial de Syzygium aromaticum e Alpinia galanga induziram uma anestesia significativamente mais rápida do que suas soluções diluídas em álcool para quinguio C. auratus e carpa comum Cyprinus carpio, respectivamente. Por outro lado, um estudo com nanopartículas mucoadesivas de zeína contendo benzocaína promoveu uma anestesia mais eficaz em zebrafish Danio rerio (Charlie-Silva et al., 2020). Já Rodrigues et al. (2021) relataram que a nanoemulsão do óleo essencial Nectandra grandiflora causou maior proteção e melhorias em sua atividade farmacológica e ainda concluiram que 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> deste composto pode ser usado para sedação durante 24 h e 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para anestesia profunda de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*.

De modo geral, os anestésicos, quando dispersos na água são absorvidos pelos peixes através das brânquias, sendo distribuídos para corrente sanguínea e chega ao sistema nervoso central (CNS). As depressões generalizadas do CNS, causadas pelos anestésicos, estão associadas a liberação de transmissores ou excitabilidade da membrana, ou também pela combinação destas ações (Ross e Ross, 2008). Segundo os mesmos autores, o mecanismo de ação dos anestésicos envolve a estabilização do alastramento de impulsos nervosos em axônios eferentes e/ou aferentes, impedimento da liberação de neurotransmissores na membrana pré-sináptica e impedimento dos sítios receptores na membrana pós-sináptica. Este fato ocasiona depressões dos centros bulbares respiratórios, que reduzem a frequência ventilatória e o fluxo sanguíneo dos animais, o que leva os peixes a hipóxia tecidual e perda dos sentidos (Arias, 1999).

#### 2.2 Fármacos anestésicos para peixes

O metanossulfonato de tricaína (MS-222) e a benzocaína são os anestésicos sintéticos mais utilizados na piscicultura. Contudo, apenas o MS-222 é aprovado pela Food and Drug Administration dos EUA para uso em alimentos para peixes, e os animais quando expostos ao fármaco devem ser mantidos em depuração por 21 dias antes do consumo humano (Woody et al., 2002). A benzocaína é um éster etílico do ácido p-aminobenzóico (PABA), sendo um anestésico local, usado como calmante para dores em mamíferos. A benzocaína - um anestésico sintético amplamente utilizado por ser de fácil acesso e baixo custo, não possuir ação mutagênica e poder ser rapidamente metabolizada pelos peixes (Gomes et al., 2001; Woody et al., 2002; Gontijo et al., 2003). Esse anestésico é comercializado na forma de sal cristalino e apresenta características hidrofóbicas, sendo necessária a dissolução em álcool etílico antes de ser adicionado água (Gimbo et al., 2008). Desta forma a benzocaína já foi testada como anestésico e sedativo para muitas espécies de peixes, como: tambaqui Colossoma macropomum (Gomes et al., 2001), quinguio Carassius auratus (Bittencourt et al., 2012b), guppy Poecilia vivípara (Bolasina et al., 2017); acará bandeira Pterophyllum scalare (Romaneli et al., 2018), curimba Prochilodus lineatus (Junior et al., 2019), pacamã Lophiosilurus alexandri (Ribeiro et al., 2019), lambari-bocarra Oligosarcus argenteus (Uehara et al., 2019) e panga Pangasianodon hypophthalmus (Boaventura et al., 2021b) ressaltando que as concentrações ideais variam entre as espécies citadas. Este produto pode ser usado com frequência sem afetar o desempenho produtivo e reprodutivo dos peixes (Ross e Ross, 2008).

Além dos anestésicos sintéticos, alguns óleos essenciais extraídos das plantas apresentam efeito anestésico e/ou sedativo em peixes e, dependendo da concentração, apresentam redução nas alterações bioquímicas, hematológicas e endócrinas e, consequentemente, melhoram o estado de bem-estar (Strange e Schreck 1978). Há décadas que pesquisas vêm sendo realizadas para avaliar a eficácia anestésica do OE (óleo essencial) de cravo-da-índia (*Eugenia aromatica* e *Eugenia caryophylata*) para diferentes espécies de peixes, conforme revisado por Javahery et al. (2012) e Priborsky e Velisek (2018). Diferentes estudos descreveram os efeitos do OE de cravo ou seu composto ativo (eugenol) como sendo

seguros e eficazes para a anestesia de peixes (Inoue et al., 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2015; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Aydin e Barbas, 2020; Ferreira et al., 2020b; Silva et al., 2021c). Além de sua eficácia, o OE de cravo é amplamente utilizado em manejos da piscicultura por ser um produto de baixo custo efetivo, pouco tóxico, abundante e ecologicamente correto (Mirghaed et al., 2018; Aydın et al., 2019). A literatura relata que o OE de cravo para juvenil de angelfish P. scalare pode ser menos prejudicial do que MS-222 e 2-fenoxietanol, e economicamente acessível para uso em larga escala (Mitjana et al., 2014). Contudo, outros estudos em peixes relataram efeitos colaterais após exposição ao eugenol, como elevação dos níveis de cortisol e glicose (Hoseini et al., 2011; Hoseini e Ghelichpour, 2012), possíveis reduções nos valores de linfócitos e aumento de neutrófilos no sangue (Gholipour et al., 2011), insuficiência ventilatória (Sladky et al., 2001) e concentrações elevadas deste fármaco podem acometer necrose branquial (Abdel-Fattah et al., 2005). E ainda, Barbas et al. (2021) afirmam que o uso de eugenol pode ser potencialmente tóxico para o cérebro dos peixes, e que protocolos que sugerem o uso amplo de eugenol para anestesia rápida ou eutanásia de peixes devem ser cuidadosamente revisados, pois levantam preocupações em termos de ética e bem-estar dos animais.

A planta alfavaca *Ocimum gratissimum* L., pertencente a familia Laminaceae, é encontrada em todas as regiões tropicais, incluindo o Brasil (Alburquerque et al., 2007). A literatura relata que o eugenol (73,6%) e  $\beta$ -bisaboleno (18,3%) são os principais componentes do óleo essencial de *O. gratissimum* L. (EOOG) (Silva et al., 2012). Desta forma, esses compostos do EOOG tem demonstrado efeito anestésico e/ou sedativo e seu uso, recomendado para manipulação biométrica e transporte de diferentes espécies de peixes como jundiá *Rhamdia quelen* (Silva et al., 2012); matrinxã *Brycon amazonicus* (Ribeiro et al., 2016), pacamã *L. alexandri* (Boaventura et al., 2020; Boaventura et al., 2021a), *C. macropomum* (Boijink et al., 2016; Chagas et al., 2021) e *O. niloticus* (Adewale et al., 2017; Ferreira et al., 2021a). Do mesmo modo, a espanta pulga *Hesperozygis ringens* é uma planta nativa do Sul do Brasil (Dolwitsch et al., 2020). A literatura relata que os compostos majoritários do OE de *H. ringens* (EOHR) são pulegone (95,18%) e limoneno (1,28%) (Toni et al. 2014); Toni et al. 2015) e tambaqui *C. macropomum* (Ferreira et al., 2014; Toni et al. 2015) e tambaqui *C. macropomum* (Ferreira et al., 2022).

O mentol é uma substância (ou, composto) extraído de plantas do gênero *Mentha* (Matos, 2000; Patel et al., 2007) e também tem demonstrado efeito anestésico e sedativos para muitas espécies, tais como curimba *P. lineatus* (Junior et al., 2018), angelfish *P. scalare* (Romaneli et al., 2018), truta arco-íris *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Teta e Kaiser, 2019), guppy *Poecilia reticulata* (Cunha et al., 2020), ciclídeo africano *A. nyassae* (Ferreira et al., 2020a), pirapitinga *Piaractus brachypomus* (Zapata-Guerra et al., 2020; Ferreira et al., 2021b) e pacamã *L. alexandri* (Ananias et al., 2022). O mentol é um produto natural (Yadegarinia et al., 2006) de baixo custo e facilmente encontrado em farmácias (Façanha e Gomes, 2005). Como revisado por Aydin e Barbas (2020), os autores descreveram que um bom anestésico para peixes deve levar em consideração as melhores relações concentrações-resposta, junto com a caracterização comportamental dos tempos de indução da anestesia e recuperação e que cause menor efeito colateral nos animais. Além disso, que garanta maior segurança tanto para o animal e manipulador (Ross e Ross, 2008), cause maior conforto e promova o bem estar de peixes durante manejo de biometria e transporte.

# 2.3 Hematologia, bioquímica, gasometria do sangue, estado oxidativo e frequência ventilatória de peixes frente ao uso de anestésicos

Barton e Iwana (1991) definiram estresse como uma mudança no estado fisiológico, na qual a desordem da homeostase ocorre por um agente estressor. No cultivo de peixes existem muitos estressores, tais como biometria, transporte e anestésicos (Barton, 2002; Matthews e Varga, 2012). Distúrbios fisiológicos, provocados por fatores estressantes causam desconforto nos peixes e prejudicam seu bem-estar podendo comprometer sua sobrevivência. Durante a tentativa de manter a homeostase do organismo, há consumo de energia para esse processo de restauração homeostática, como, respiração, locomoção e reparação de tecidos, sendo que esta energia poderia ser utilizada para crescimento e reprodução (Schreck, 2010).

O controle neuroendócrino em resposta ao estresse dos mamíferos é semelhante para peixes (Barton, 2000). Basicamente, dois componentes são acionados: o eixo sistema nervoso autônomo-tecido cromafim (SSCC) e o eixo hipotálamo-hipófise-tecido interrenal (HHI). Anatomicamente os peixes apresentam no rim cefálico, células cromafins e interrenais, estruturas homólogas à glândula adrenal dos mamíferos. Após segundos de contato com um estressor ocorre a ativação do SSCC que promove a liberação de catecolaminas circulantes, como as noradrenalinas e adrenalinas (Urbinati e Carneiro, 2004). Após a ativação do SSCC e

após minutos em contato com o estressor, o HHI é ativado em uma cascata de reações. Resumidamente, o sistema nervoso central (CNS), através de centros superiores, estimula os neurônios do hipotálamo a produzir o hormônio liberador de corticotrofina (CRH). Estes neurônios projetados a hipófise ativam a liberação de corticotropina (ACTH) que por fim, estimula as células interrenais a sintetizarem glicorticóides, como o cortisol (Weendelar Bonga, 1997; Weendelar Bonga, 2011).

Existem três tipos de respostas ao estresse: primária, secundária ou terciária (Barton, 2002). A resposta primária, conhecida como a resposta de alarme, envolve a ativação dos dois eixos (SSCC e HHI) e, consequente liberação de hormônios do estresse, como corticosteroides e catecolaminas (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Barton, 2002; Jerez-Cepa et al., 2021). Quando liberados na corrente sanguínea, os hormônios do estresse induzem respostas secundárias nos tecidos-alvo, atuando em seus receptores (Mommsen et al., 1999). Geralmente, a secreção de catecolaminas é iniciada logo após o início da resposta ao estresse e é reduzida de forma transitória (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997). Respostas secundárias dos peixes incluem alterações celulares e imunológicas, composição iônica, hematológicas, metabólicas e osmorreguladoras, como aumento dos níveis de glicose plasmática no sangue, aumento da pressão arterial e frequência ventilatória, hematócrito, atividade da lisozima e síntese de anticorpos (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Ortuno et al., 2002; Iwama et al., 2004; Pankhust, 2011; Jerez-Cepa et al., 2021). Estes levam a respostas terciárias, como diminuição do consumo de alimentos e consequente queda no desempenho produtivo e reprodutivo, além de deixar o animal susceptível às infecções por diversos patógenos, entre outros (Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Barton, 2002). Diante da grande importância na cascata fisiológica do estresse, a concentração de glicose é um dos principais indicadores de estresse mensurados em peixes. Muitos pesquisadores demonstraram que manejos mal planejados (biometria e transporte de peixes) foram responsáveis por aumentar os níveis de cortisol, ativando a glicogenólise e a gliconeogênese com aumentos nos valores de glicose plasmática, como revisado por Aydin e Barbas (2020) e Souza et al. (2019). Tal fato também foi relatado para peixes expostos ao ar ou em condições de hipóxia (Henrique et al., 1998; Abdel-Tawwab et al., 2015; Li et al., 2018; Neves et al., 2020, Neves et al., 2022).

As respostas fisiológicas também podem ser avaliadas através da hematologia, as quais são empregadas como auxiliares de diagnóstico da saúde dos animais. Por meio do acompanhamento desses parâmetros é possível avaliar o perfil homeostático de peixes
37

submetidos a situações estressantes (Kori-Siakpere et al., 2006). As células vermelhas do sangue, compostas por eritrócitos ou hemácias, são responsáveis pelo transporte de oxigênio e gás carbônico através da hemoglobina e com o hematócrito são indicadores da capacidade de transporte de oxigênio em peixes (Tavares-Dias e Moraes, 2004). Desta forma, em peixes, quando os valores de hematócritos e hemácias estão reduzidos podem indicar sinais de anemia e comprometimento do estado de saúde (Vosyliené, 1999). Segundo Tavares-Dias e Moraes (2004), os valores de hematócrito podem sofrer oscilações quando há aumento da atividade eritropoiética do rim e baço ocasionados pelo estresse, sendo que tais alterações podem ocasionar hemoconcentração (liberação de eritrócitos pelo baço) ou hemodiluição (pode ocorrer em peixes de água doce devido a maior entrada de água por osmose ocasionado pelo aumento da VF). Muitos trabalhos demonstraram o aumento nas hemácias, hematócrito e/ou hemoglobina após condição de hipóxia e anestesia de peixes (Affonso et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2017; Ribeiro et al., 2019; Boaventura et al., 2020; Neves et al., 2020). Segundo Teixeira et al. (2017) a concentração de 300 µL L<sup>-1</sup> do óleo essencial de A. triphylla ocasionou anestesia em tilápia do Nilo O. niloticus, redução nos níveis de cortisol 1 h após a anestesia e manipulação e não afetou o sabor e/ou odor na sua carne. Já, a concentração de 500  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> do óleo essencial de Lippia alba (EOLA) também foi capaz de promover a anestesia profunda de O. niloticus e reduzir o cortisol após manuseio (Hohlenwerger et al., 2016). Outro estudo demonstra que o uso de eugenol (50 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) para anestesia profunda de pirapitinga P. brachypomus foi seguro e eficiente com prevenção no aumento nos níveis de glicose plasmática 1 h após manejo biométrico; e com poucas influências nos valores de hematócrito e triglicerídeos (Ferreira et al., 2021b). Da mesma forma, o uso de mentol (50 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) foi eficiente para anestesia (perda de consciência) e na diminuição dos efeitos do estresse causado pelo manejo de biometria em pacamã L. alexandri (Ananias et al., 2022). Em contrapartida, a concentração anestésica de 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de mentol para pirapitinga P. brachypomus não foi capaz de prevenir o aumento da glicose 1 h após biometria; no entanto causou mínimas oscilações nos níveis de proteína plasmática, hematócrito e colesterol (Ferreira et al., 2021b). Além disso, o uso de diferentes concentrações de eugenol e mentol para anestesia de juvenis de pirapitinga P. brachypomus não provocaram mudanças significativas nos valores de hemoglobina (Ferreira et al., 2021b). Por outro lado, a baixa concentração do óleo essencial de O. gratissimum L. (10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) adicionada à água de transporte de pacamã L. alexandri foi capaz de promover a sedação dos animais, reduzir o consumo de oxigênio, excreção de

amônia e prevenir o aumento dos níveis de glicose plasmática imediatamente após o transporte (Boaventura et al., 2021a). Já, a concentração de 5 mg L<sup>-1</sup> do óleo essencial de *O. gratissimum* L. utilizada no transporte de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* não provocou mudanças nas variáveis de qualidade da água (temperatura, pH, oxigênio dissolvido e amônia total) e causou mínimas influências nos valores de hematócrito e glicose plasmática (Ferreira et al., 2021a). Outro trabalho, demonstrou que 20  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> do EOLA adicionada a água de transporte de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* promoveu sedação, sendo capaz de diminuir a frequência ventilatória, níveis de amônia não ionizada e de glicose dos animais (Hohlenwerger et al., 2017). Segundo Liu et al. (2022), a concentração de 40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de MS-222 adicionada a água de transporte de transporte de yellow catfish *Pelteobagrus fulvidraco* permitiu menor excreção de nitrogênio amoniacal na água.

Da mesma maneira a hemogasometria também é ferramenta utilizada como indicadora da saúde dos peixes (Barton, 2002; Tavares Dias et al., 2008). A gasometria do sangue avalia os parâmetros metabólicos (equilíbrio ácido-base) das trocas gasosas respiratórias, tais como pressão parcial de dióxido de carbono (pCO<sub>2</sub>), pressão parcial de oxigênio (pO<sub>2</sub>), pH sanguíneo e íon bicarbonato (HCO<sup>-</sup><sub>3</sub>). Ao associar essas ferramentas pode-se inferir de forma eficaz sobre a fisiologia do peixe desencadeada pelo estresse (Barbas et al., 2016; Mattioli et al., 2019a, Neves et al., 2020). Todos esses parâmetros nos auxiliam a avaliar condições de estresse por manipulação e anestésicos (Honorato et al., 2014; Mattioli et al., 2019b; Neves et al., 2022). Recentemente foi relatado que o uso de nanopartículas de zeína contendo eugenol para tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* foi capaz de potencializar a anestesia e não ocasionar mudanças nas variáveis hemogasometricas desta espécie (Ferreira et al., 2020b).

Outra resposta ao estresse também conhecida é a perturbação do equilíbrio hidromineral. Segundo Mariano et al. (2009) oscilações nas variáveis dos níveis de cálcio, cloreto, potássio e sódio, podem indicar um quadro de desequilíbrio ácido-base em peixes. A adição de sedativos e anestésicos na água de transporte diminuiu a perda líquida de íons em *R*. *quelen* (Parodi et al., 2014, Zeppenfeld et al., 2014; Becker et al., 2016; Becker et al., 2017) e esta resposta é seguida por elevação nos valores de íons plasmáticos (Zeppenfeld et al., 2014).

Porém, condições de anestesia e hipóxia podem desencadear oscilações no estado oxidativo das células de peixes (Matés, 2000; Velisek et al., 2011; Souza et al., 2018; Baldissera et al., 2020). Estresse oxidativo é definido entre o desequilíbrio dos agentes oxidantes e antioxidantes em favor dos oxidantes (Velisek et al., 2011; Halliwell e Gutteridge,

39

2015). Os oxidantes são constituintes de espécies reativas de oxigênio (ROS) que podem ocasionar danos em lipídeos, proteínas e DNA (Evans e Halliwell, 1999, Morel e Barouki, 1999; Gandhi e Abramov, 2012). Já os antioxidantes são substâncias capazes de reduzir ou prevenir a oxidação de uma determinada molécula (Halliwell e Gutteridge, 2007). Em peixes, estressores físicos (captura, hipóxia, manuseio e transporte, por exemplo) desencadeiam alterações fisiológicas e metabólicas que culminam em perturbações respiratórias, cerebrais e hormonais, bem como na síntese de ROS (Barton, 2002; Xing et al., 2012; Faught et al., 2016) que afetam diretamente o sistema imunológico dos animais (Biller e Takahashi, 2018). Os peixes, na tentativa de manter a homeostase frente a um estressor, neutralizam ROS para paralisar os efeitos do estresse oxidativo e prevenir possíveis danos oxidativos atuando no sistema de defesa antioxidante (Halliwell e Gutteridge, 2015). O sistema de defesa antioxidante é composto por inibidores oxidantes não enzimáticos como o tiol não proteíco (NPSH) (Birnie-Gauvin et al., 2017) e pelas enzimas antioxidantes, como a superóxido dismutase (SOD), glutationa peroxidase (GPx), glutationa-S-transferase (GST) e catalase (CAT) (Halliwell et al., 1995; Barbosa et al., 2010), todas elas abundantes nos tecidos dos peixes (Van Der Oost et al., 2003). Desta forma, as substâncias antioxidantes enzimáticas e não enzimáticas atuam na prevenção da carbonilação de proteínas e peroxidação lipídica, que comumente são avaliadas por biomarcadores de substâncias reativas a proteína carbonila (CP) e ao ácido tiobarbitúrico (TBARS), respectivamente (Biller e Takahashi, 2018). Segundo esses mesmos autores, a presença de ROS nos tecidos (células) desencadeia uma cascata de reações bioquímicas que reduzirão a função celular devido aos danos oxidativos em carboidratos, proteínas e lipídeos, e assim podendo culminar no acúmulo de constituintes moleculares oxidados e até mesmo apoptose. Assim, pesquisadores têm utilizado diferentes anestésicos (em concentrações ideais) para anestesia e sedação de peixes com intuito de aumentar a capacidade antioxidante durante a manipulação dos animais (Souza et al., 2019a). Segundo Saccol et al. (2017) os óleos essenciais de Myrcia sylvatica e Curcuma longa L. foram eficientes para anestesia (200 e 500  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>) e sedação (10 e 40  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>) de tambaqui C. macropomum demonstrando diminuição dos níveis de peroxidação lipídica e aumento da atividade de enzimas antioxidantes (CAT, GPx, GST e SOD) e também no potencial antioxidante reativo total e NPSH em tecidos branquiais, cerebrais, hepáticos e renais quando comparados ao grupo controle. Avaliando o efeito anestésico de EO de A. triphylla e MS-222 para R. quelen, foi registrado que o EO de A. triphylla foi capaz de impedir a peroxidação lipídica no tecido hepático, o que não foi observado para MS-222 (Gressler et al., 2014). O uso do óleo essencial de *O. gratissimum* L. (EOOG) (10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) quando adicionado a água de transporte de pacamã *L. alexandri* induziu maior proteção contra possíveis danos oxidativos (Boaventura et al., 2021a). Por outro lado, Boaventura et al. (2020) relataram que a concentração de 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> de EOOG quando utilizado para manejo de biometria promoveu anestesia profunda em pacamã *L. alexandri* e não causou danos teciduais; no entanto ocasionou alterações no sistema de defesa antioxidante com aumento de ROS no tecido hepático e cerebral e redução dos níveis de GST no cérebro. Da mesma maneira, o EOOG provocou anestesia (perda de consciência) em juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*; porém com aumento de ROS no tecido hepático e renal e possíveis danos lipídicos nos rins desta espécie (Ferreira et al., 2021a).

A mensuração da frequência ventilatória (VF) é um método não invasivo que indica possíveis mudanças fisiológicas no sistema respiratório dos peixes causados por estressores agudos, como por exemplo, a manipulação e o uso de anestésicos (Alvarenga e Volpato, 1995; Barreto e Volpato, 2004). Segundo Tytler e Hawkins (1981), os anestésicos causam redução da VF das brânquias devido à exaustão dos centros bulbares respiratórios ocasionando a hipóxia em peixes. Porém, uma característica comumente visível quando os peixes são manipulados ou quando entram em contato com substâncias anestésicas é a hiperventilação (Summerfelt e Smith, 1990) que ocorre a fim de aumentar o consumo de oxigênio (Alvarenga e Volpato, 1995). No entanto, após o contato inicial com um anestésico, a VF reduz consideravelmente (Becker et al., 2012). Segundo Souza et al. (2019b) a concentração de 4 µL L<sup>-1</sup> de propofol provocou anestesia geral em tambaqui *C. macropomum* apresentando propriedades miorrelaxantes, diminuição na frequência cardíaca e capacidade ventilatória (intensidade e frequência de batimentos operculares) desta espécie. Em contrapartida, outro estudo descreve que não foi possível estabelecer uma relação direta entre o aumento das concentrações de benzocaína e mentol e redução da VF para duas classes de tamanhos de juvenis do ciclídeo africano A. nyassae (Ferreira et al., 2020a). Este mesmo comportamento foi também observado para juvenis de tambaqui C. macropomum anestesiados com diferentes concentrações dos óleos essenciais de L. alba e L. origanoides (Silva et al., 2019). No entanto, o uso de eugenol e mentol (50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> para ambos anestésicos) não causou diferenças significativas na VF durante a indução da anestesia em duas classes de tamanhos de pirapitinga P. brachypomus; porém durante a recuperação a VF reduziu

consideravelmente em ambos anestésicos e tamanhos de peixes avaliados (Ferreira et al., 2021b). Segundo Becker et al. (2018) as diferentes concentrações de óleo essencial de *L. alba* e *L. origanoides* para a anestesia de jundiá *R. quelen* não provocaram influências significativas na VF dos animais em relação ao grupo controle. A literatura menciona que o aumento ou diminuição geral na resposta da VF ao utilizar anestésicos pode ser explicada por respostas espécie-específicas (Becker et al., 2018; Ferreira et al., 2020a). Desta forma, estabelecer diferentes protocolos de anestesia que proporcionem maior segurança para o animal durante a biometria e transporte de peixes vivos e principalmente que garantem o bem estar animal, se fazem necessários.

### 2.4 Manipulação biométrica e transporte de peixes frente ao uso de anestésicos

Em produções intensivas de peixes, o estresse dos animais é uma condição praticamente inevitável (Iwama, 1993) que muitas vezes pode ser desencadeado pela prática biométrica e transporte, por exemplo (Barton, 2002). Todo processo de produção necessita de acompanhamento que permita avaliar o crescimento e saúde dos peixes durante o ciclo de cultivo (Lima et al., 2013). Desta forma, o manejo de biometria (mensuração do comprimento e peso) é comumente realizada em pisciculturas (Ostrensky e Boeger, 1998) e centros de pesquisas. Segundo Lima et al. (2013) a biometria de peixes deve ser realizada de forma cuidadosa e rápida, a fim de não causar injurias físicas aos animais e também garantir menor tempo de exposição ao ar. Além disso, é desejável que este manejo seja realizado a cada 15 dias ou mensalmente; pois assim permitirá melhor ajuste na alimentação dos animais.

Já o transporte de peixes vivos é uma prática de grande entrave na cadeia produtiva da piscicultura e muitos fatores devem ser levados em consideração, como a densidade de estocagem (Ibrahim et al., 2015; FAO, 2016; Espinoza-Ramos et al., 2021), concentrações de oxigênio e de dióxido de carbono (Sampaio e Freire, 2016), período de jejum (Kubitza, 1997), duração do transporte (Luz et al., 2013; Paranhos et al., 2021). Tais procedimentos (biometria e transporte), se não realizados corretamente, podem causar sérios danos ao ciclo de produção de peixes e até mesmo a morte dos animais.

Com isso, diferentes anestésicos, têm sido testados para completa imobilização animal, por trazerem mais segurança (tanto para o animal quanto para o colaborador) em diversos manejos adotados na piscicultura (Ross e Ross, 2008; Ribeiro et al., 2013; Ferreira et al., 2021a, Brandão et al., 2021). Recentemente foi relatado que diferentes concentrações de eugenol e mentol para anestesia de pirapitinga *P. brachypomus* seguida de manuseio biometrico, não provocaram mortalidade após 48 h de recuperação, e todos os peixes retomaram a alimentação dentro de 24 horas após o teste (Ferreira et al., 2021b). Da mesma maneira, não foi observada mortalidade após a anestesia com diferentes concentrações de mentol para pacamã *L. alexandri* após manejo biométrico (Ananias et al., 2022). Em contrapartida, a anestesia profunda com benzocaína para o ciclídeo africano *A. nyassae* promoveu uma sobrevivência > 90%. Este conjunto de trabalhos são importantes para cadeia industrial da piscicultura e novas tecnologias devem ser investigadas para melhorar a aplicação de anestésicos na aquicultura. Além disso, estudos que avaliem o desempenho zootécnico dos peixes após testes de anestesia, se fazem necessário.

### 2.5 Espécies estudadas

### 2.5.1 Oreochromis niloticus

A tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* pertencente à família Cichlidae, é a terceira espécie de água doce mais produzida mundialmente (FAO, 2020). No Brasil, a tilápia do Nilo é a espécie mais produzida no país, representando 63,5% da sua produção total de peixes de cultivo (PEIXE BR, 2022). Algumas características desta espécie favorecem o seu cultivo, como hábito alimentar onívoro, rápido crescimento, melhor conversão alimentar e boa qualidade da carne (Coward e Bromage, 2000; Asad et al., 2010; Sayed e Moneeb, 2015). Devido ao aprimoramento das técnicas para produção de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*, essa espécie continua em destaque devido ao seu potencial econômico e além disso é considerada modelo para estudos sobre a biologia de ciclídeos (Fujimura e Okada, 2007) e de anestesia (Ribeiro et al., 2015; Ferreira et al., 2020b, Ferreira et al., 2021a). No Brasil, além da produção de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*, o cultivo de peixes nativos tem contribuído para aumento da produção no país (PEIXE BR, 2022).

#### 2.5.2 Colossoma macropomum

O tambaqui *C. macropomum* (Cuvier, 1816) é uma espécie de peixe migratório nativo das bacias dos rios Amazonas e Orinoco (Araujo Lima e Goulding, 1997; Reis, 2003), pertencente à superclasse Actinopterygii, ordem Characiformes e família Serrasalminae (Buckup et al., 2007). Seu consumo é apreciado no Brasil, Colômbia, Venezuela e Peru

(Woynárovich e Anrooy, 2019). A produção brasileira dessa espécie perde apenas para tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* (PEIXE BR, 2022). O tambaqui *C. macropomum* é considerado um animal rústico com crescimento rápido (Araujo Dairik et al. 2018), de hábito alimentar onívoro com tendência de zooplanctófago na fase larval e de frugívoro na fase adulta (Saint-Paul, 1984) e fácil manejo (Araujo Lima e Goulding, 1997), o que o tornou popular para a aquicultura (Gomes e Baldisserotto, 2019). Esta espécie é conhecida por sua alta resistência a hipóxia (Neves et al., 2020; Neves et al., 2022) e isso se deve ao fato da sua região de origem possuir baixa concentração de oxigênio dissolvido na água (Morais e O'Sullivan, 2017).

Muitos centros de pesquisas e produtores têm se esforçado para promover o papel tecnológico para a criação de tambaqui *C. macropomum* em cativeiro, o que inclui estudos em requerimento de proteína após restrição alimentar (Santos et al., 2012), densidade de estocagem para cultivo em tanques rede (Silva e Fujimoto, 2015), densidade de estocagem (Lima et al., 2019); condições de hipóxia (Neves et al., 2020), exposição ao ar (Neves et al., 2022), níveis de proteína na ração (Sousa et al., 2016), restrição alimentar (Assis et al., 2020) e condições de alimentação automática (Guilherme et al., 2021). Recentemente, resultados importantes foram descritos para produção de larvas de tambaqui *C. macropomum* (Santos et al., 2022), santos et al., 2022), cultivo de juvenis (Boaventura et al., 2021c, Silva et al., 2021a) e fase de crescimento (Santos et al., 2021) em sistemas de recirculação de água. Além da sua importância comercial, o tambaqui *C. macropomum* tem sido usado como modelo biológico em programas de biomonitoramento (Corrêa et al., 2007; Marcuschi et al., 2010; Braz-Mota et al., 2015) e quanto ao uso de anestésicos como revisado por Brandão et al. (2021).

#### 2.5.3 Piaractus brachypomus

A pirapitinga *P. brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818) é uma espécie onívora de água doce pertencente à ordem Characiformes, que geralmente é encontrada naturalmente no Rio Orinoco, Bacias do Amazonas e do Prata (Paraná-Paraguai) (Schultz, 1944). Esta espécie apresenta importância comercial com destaque em países da América Central e América do Sul (Nascimento et al., 2010; Jorge et al., 2018). No Brasil, a produção desta espécie apresenta destaque na produção de peixes nativos (PEIXE BR, 2022). Diferentes estudos têm buscado promover melhorias no cultivo desta espécie de interesse comercial, tais como, no manejo reprodutivo (Nascimento et al., 2010; Chaves-Moreno et al., 2012), nutricional

(Guimarães e Martins, 2015), frequência alimentar (Favero et al., 2022) e anestésicos (Zapata-Guerra et al., 2020; Ferreira et al., 2021b).

### 2.5.4 Aulonocara nyassae

A ordem dos Perciformes inclui um terço de todas as espécies de peixes e apresenta grande diversidade entre os vertebrados (Helfman et al., 2009). A família Cichlidae é a segunda maior dentre a ordem Perciformes com cerca de 1.900 espécies (Weyl et al., 2010). Essas espécies de ciclídeos estão distribuídas na África, América Central e do Sul, Oriente Médio e parte do Sudeste asiático (Berra, 2001).

Um dos maiores lagos da África, o lago Malawi, apresenta grande biodiversidade de espécies de peixes registradas (Fryer e Iles, 1972; Weyl et al., 2010). Neste lago, foram encontradas 800 a 1000 espécies de ciclídeos (Snoeks, 2004) dentre elas as do gênero *Aulonocara* (Konings, 1995). As espécies de peixes deste gênero estão entre as mais comercializadas na aquariofilia ornamental nos últimos anos (Schwalbe et al., 2012).

A espécie *A. nyassae* (Regan, 1922), conhecida popularmente como *African peacock*, *blue cichlid*, *emperor cichlid* e *peacock blue cichlid* é encontrada em locais arenosos (Konings, 1995). Segundo o mesmo autor, os machos apresentam coloração mais forte azulescuro na qual demonstram o comportamento territorialista da espécie, o que chama a atenção dos aquaristas. Devido ao seu interesse comercial, pesquisadores têm se dedicado em promover o cultivo desta espécie em cativeiro, como pode observar através de trabalhos relacionados com a produção de juvenis (Karslı, 2021), reprodução (Silva et al., 2021b) e uso de anestésicos (Ferreira et al., 2020a). Contudo, há carências de informações na literatura sobre as concentrações recomendadas (anestésicos sintéticos ou naturais) para a manipulação e transporte desta espécie.

#### **3. OBJETIVOS**

### 3.1 GERAL

Avaliar as respostas fisiológicas e metabólicas de peixes de água doce expostos a diferentes compostos anestésicos e/ou sedativos (sintético ou natural) e forma de aplicação (diluição em álcool ou nanoemulsão) para manejo de biometria e transporte.

# **3.2 ESPECÍFICOS**

 Avaliar a sobrevivência e retorno da alimentação dos peixes em todos os experimentos.

## Artigo 1

 Avaliar diferentes concentrações de benzocaína e mentol para os tempos de indução e recuperação e frequência ventilatória durante o processo de anestesia, em duas classes de tamanhos de juvenis do ciclídeo africano *A. nyassae*.

## Artigo 2.

- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de eugenol e mentol para os tempos de indução e recuperação e frequência ventilatória durante o processo de anestesia, em duas classes de tamanhos de juvenis de pirapitinga *P. brachypomus*.
- Avaliar o efeito anestésico de eugenol e mentol em juvenis de pirapitinga *P*. *brachypomus* nas variáveis sanguíneas (hematológicas e bioquímicas) após biometria.

### Artigo 3

- Avaliar os parâmetros físico-químicos das características nanopartículas de zeína mucoadesivas contendo eugenol (NPZMA) e sua composição físico-química.
- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de nanopartículas de zeína mucoadesivas (NPZMA) contendo eugenol para o tempo de indução e recuperação de tilápia do Nilo *O*. *niloticus*.
- Avaliar o efeito de NPZMA sob os parâmetros de qualidade da água.
- Avaliar o efeito anestésico de NPZMA sob as variáveis de gasometria do sangue.

# Artigo 4

- Avaliar o efeito anestésico do EOOG e seu uso na água de transporte de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*.
- Avaliar diferentes concentrações do EOOG para os tempos de indução e recuperação de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus*; além da frequência ventilatória durante o processo de anestesia.
- Avaliar o efeito anestésico de EOOG de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O. niloticus* sob as variáveis hematológicas e bioquímicas do sangue e estresse oxidativo após manipulação biométrica.
- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de EOOG para o transporte (4.5 h) sob os parâmetros físico-químicos de qualidade da água.
- Avaliar a hematologia e bioquímica do sangue de juvenis de tilápia do Nilo *O*. *niloticus* transportadas com uso do EOOG.

# Artigo 5.

- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de EOHR para o tempo de indução anestésica e recuperação, frequência ventilatória em pequenos juvenis de tambaqui *C. macropomum.*
- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de EOHR para dois períodos de transporte simulado de pequenos juvenis de tambaqui *C. macropomum*, sob os parâmetros físico-químicos de qualidade da água.
- Avaliar as diferentes concentrações do EOHR na água de transporte sob os efeitos na excreção de amônia dos animais.
- Avaliar diferentes concentrações de EOHR para transporte simulado durante 24 h, porém sem peixes.

# 4. REFERÊNCIAS BIBLIOGRÁFICAS

Abdel-Fattah, M.A.F., Dessouki, A.A., Ramadan, T., Ismail, M.M., 2005. Evaluation of eugenol as anesthetic in cat-fish (*Clarias gariepinus*) with special reference to biochemical and histopathological alterations. Journal of Veterinary Medical Research, 15, 116-122. https://doi.org/10.21608/JVMR.2005.77941.

- Abdel-Tawwab, M., Hagras, A.E., Elbaghdady, H.A.M., Monier, M.N., 2015. Effects of dissolved oxygen and fish size on Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (L.): growth performance, whole-body composition, and innate immunity. Aquaculture International, 23, 1261-1274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-015-9882-y.
- Adewale, A.Y., Adeshina, I., Yusuf, O.Y., 2017. Anaesthetic effect of Ocimum gratissimum extract on Oreochromis niloticus juveniles. Eur Exp Biol 7, 2-7. https://doi.org/10.21767/2248-9215.100007.
- Affonso, E.G., Polez, V.L.P., Correa, C.F., Mazon, A.F., Araujo, M.R.R., Moraes, G., Rantin, F.T., 2002. Blood parameters and metabolites in the teleost fish *Colossoma macropomum* exposed to sulfide or hypoxia. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 133, 375-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1532-0456(02)00127-8.
- Albuquerque, U.P., Medeiros, P.M., Almeida, A.L.S., Monteiro, J.M., Neto, L.E.M.F., Melo, J.G., Santos, J.P., 2007. Medicinal plants of the caatinga (semi-arid) vegetation of NE Brazil: a quantitative approach. J. Ethnopharmacol., 114, 325-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2007.08.017.
- Alderton, D., 2019. Encyclopedia of aquarium and pond fish. Dorling Kindersley Ltd, New York, New York.
- Alvarenga, C.M.D., Volpato, G.L., 1995. Agonistic profile and metabolism in alevins of the Nile tilapia. Physiol. Behav., 57, 75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)00206-K.
- Ananias, I.D.M.C., Melo, C.L., Costa, D.C., Ferreira, A.L., Martins, E.D.F.F., Takata, R., Luz, R.K., 2022. Menthol as anesthetic for juvenile *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Induction and recovery time, ventilatory frequency, hematology and blood biochemistry. Aquaculture, 546, 737373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737373.
- Araújo-Dairiki, T.B., Chaves, F.C.M., Dairiki, J.K., 2018. Seeds of sacha inchi (*Plukenetia volubilis*, Euphorbiaceae) as a feed ingredient for juvenile tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*, and matrinxã, *Brycon amazonicus* (Characidae). Acta Amaz 48, 32-37, https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201700753
- Araújo-Lima, C.A.R.M., Goulding, M., 1998. So fruitful fish: ecology, conservation, and aquaculture of the Amazon's tambaqui. New York: Columbia University Press, pp 157.

- Arias, H.R., 1999. Role of local anesthetics on both cholinergic and serotonergic ionotropic. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, 23, 817-843.
- Asad, F., Ahmed, I., Saleem, M., Iqbal, T., 2010. Hormonal masculinization and growth performance in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) by androgen administration at different dietary protein levels. International Journal of Agriculture and Biology, 12, 939-943.
- Assis, Y.P.A.S., Porto, L.A., Melo, N.F.A.C., Palheta, G.D.A., Luz, R.K., Favero, G.C., 2020. Feed restriction as a feeding management strategy in *Colossoma macropomum* juveniles under recirculating aquaculture system (RAS). Aquaculture, 529, 735689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735689.
- Aydın, B., Akhan, S., Gümüş, E., Özbaş, M., 2019. Anesthetic efficacy of clove oil and 2phenoxyethanol on doctor fish, Garra rufa (Heckel, 1843). Boletim do Instituto de Pesca, 45, e506. https://doi.org/ 10.20950/1678-2305.2019.45.4.506.
- Aydın B, Barbas L.A.L., 2020. Sedative and anesthetic properties of essential oils and their active compounds in fish: A review. Aquaculture, 520, 734999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734999.
- Baldissera, M.D., Souza, C.F., Boaventura, T.P., Nakayama, C.L., Baldisserotto, B., Luz, R.K., 2020. Involvement of the phosphoryl transfer network in gill bioenergetic imbalance of pacamã (*Lophiosilurus alexandri*) subjected to hypoxia: notable participation of creatine kinase. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 46, 405-416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-019-00728-0
- Barbas, L.A.L., Stringhetta, G.R., Oliveira G.L., Figueiredo, M.R.C., Sampaio, L.A., 2016. Jambu, *Spilanthes acmella* as a novel anaesthetic for juvenile tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*: Secondary stress responses during recovery. Aquaculture, 456, 70-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.01.026.
- Barbosa, K.B.F., Costa, N.M.B., Alfenas, R.D.C.G., Paula, S.O., Minim, V.P.R., Bressan, J., 2010. Estresse oxidativo: conceito, implicações e fatores modulatórios. Revista de Nutrição, 23, 629-643.
- Barreto, R.E., Volpato, G.L., 2004. Caution for using ventilatory frequency as an indicator of stress in fish. Behav Processes 66, 43-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beproc.2004.01.001

- Barton, B.A., 2000. Salmonid fishes differ in their cortisol and glucose responses to handling and transport stress. North American Journal of Aquaculture, 62, 12-18. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8454(2000)062<0012:SFDITC>2.0.CO;2.
- Barton, B.A., 2002. Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integrative and Comparative Biology, 42, 517-525. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.3.517.
- Barton, B.A., Haukenes, A.H., Parsons, B.G., Reed, J.R., 2003. Plasma cortisol and chloride stress responses in juvenile walleyes during capture, transport, and stocking procedures. North American Journal of Aquaculture, 65, 210-219. https://doi.org/10.1577/C02-030.
- Barton, B.A., Iwana, G.K., 1991. Physiological changes in fish from stress in Aquaculture with emphasis on the response and effects of corticosteroids. Annual Review of Fish Disease, 1, 3-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8030(91)90019-G.
- Becker, A.G., Parodi, T.V., Heldwein, C.G., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2012. Transportation of silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*, in water with eugenol and the essential oil of *Lippia alba*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 38, 789-796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9562-4.
- Becker, A. G., Parodi, T.V., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Salbego, J., Cunha, M.A., Heldwein, C.G., Loro, V.L., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2016. Pre-sedation and transport of *Rhamdia quelen* in water containing essential oil of *Lippia alba*: metabolic and physiological responses. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 42, 73-81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-015-0118-x.
- Becker, A.J., Fogliarini, C.D.O., Souza, C.D.F., Becker, A.G., Mourão, R.H.V., Silva, L.V.F.D., Baldisserotto, B., 2018. Ventilatory frequency and anesthetic efficacy in silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*: a comparative approach between different essential oils. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 47, e20170185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170185.
- Berra, T.M., 2001. Freshwater fish distribution. Academic Press, San Diego, California, EUA: Academic Press. 1-660.
- Bittencourt, F., Souza, B.E.D., Neu, D.H., Rarato, R.R., Boscolo, W.R., Feiden, A., 2012a. Eugenol e benzocaina como anestesicos para juvenis de *Cyprinus carpio* Linnaeus, 1758

(Carpa Comum). Revista Brasileira de Ciências Agrárias, 8, 163-167. https://doi.org/10.5039/agraria.v8i1a2225.

- Bittencourt, F., Souza, B.E., Boscolo, W.R., Rorato, R.R., Feiden, A., Neu, D.H., 2012b. Benzocaína e eugenol como anestésicos para o quinguio (*Carassius auratus*). Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 64, 1597-1602.
- Birnie-Gauvin, K., Costantini, D., Cooke, S.J., Willmore, W.G., 2017. A comparative and evolutionary approach to oxidative stress in fish: a review. Fish Fisheries, 18, 928-942. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12215.
- Biller, J., Takahashi, L.S., 2018. Oxidative stress and fish immune system: phagocytosis and leukocyte respiratory burst activity. Anais da Acadêmia Brasileira de Ciências, 90, 3403-3414. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201820170730
- Boaventura, T.P., Souza, C.F., Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Baldissera, M.D., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., Luz, R.K., 2020. Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753) as anesthetic for *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Induction, recovery, hematology, biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture, 529, e735676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735676.
- Boaventura, T.P., Souza, C.F., Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Baldissera, M.D., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., Luz, R.K., 2021a. The use of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. essential oil during the transport of *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Water quality, hematology, blood biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture, 531, e735964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735964.
- Boaventura, T.P., Pedras, P.P.C., Júlio, G.S.C., Santos, F.A.C., Ferreira, A.L., Souza, W.S., Luz, R.K., 2021b. Use of eugenol, benzocaine or salt during the transport of panga, *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878): Effects on water quality, haematology and blood biochemistry. Aquaculture Research, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15672.
- Boaventura, T.P., Pedras, P.P., Santos, F.A., Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Palheta, G.D., Luz, R.K., 2021c. Cultivation of juvenile *Colossoma macropomum* in different colored tanks in recirculating aquaculture system (RAS): Effects on performance, metabolism and skin pigmentation. Aquaculture, 532, 736079. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.736079.

- Boijink, C.L., Queiroz, C.A., Chagas, E.C., Chaves, F.C.M., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2016. Anesthetic and anthelminthic effects of clove basil (*Ocimum gratissimum*) essential oil for tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Aquaculture, 457, 24-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.02.010.
- Bolasina, S.N., Azevedo, A., Petry, A.C., 2017. Comparative efficacy of benzocaine, tricaine methanesulfonate and eugenol as anesthetic agents in the guppy *Poecilia vivipara*. Aquaculture Reports, 6, 56-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2017.04.002
- Botelho Filho, G.F., 1990. Síntese da história da aquariofilia. Rio de Janeiro, Interciência.
- Bowser, P.R., 2001. Anesthetic options for fish. In: Recent Advances in Veterinary and Analgesia: Companion animals, Gleed RD, Ludders JW (eds) International Veterinary Information Service, Ithaca Nova York, EUA.
- Brandão, F.R., Melo, S.D.C., Sebastião, F.A., Chaves, M.F.C., Bizzo, R.H., O'Sullivan, A.F.L., Chagas, C.E., 2021. Essential oils as anaesthetics and sedatives in native Brazilian fish, with a special emphasis on *Colossoma macropomum*: A review. Aquaculture Research, 53, 767-781. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15650.
- Braz-Mota, S., Sadauskas-Henrique, H., Duarte, R.M., Val, A.L., Almeida-Val, V.M., 2015. Roundup® exposure promotes gills and liver impairments, DNA damage and inhibition of brain cholinergic activity in the Amazon teleost fish *Colossoma macropomum*. Chemosphere, 135, 53-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.03.042.
- Buckup, P. A., N. A. Menezes and M. S. Ghazzi. 2007. Catálogo das espécies de peixes de água doce do Brasil. Museu Nacional, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro.
- Chagas, E.C., Brandão, F.R., Farias, C.F.S., Monteiro, P.C., BATISTA, E.D.S., SOUZA, D.D. M., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2021. Physiological changes in juvenile tambaquis (*Colossoma macropomum*) transported using essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum*. Embrapa Amazônia Ocidental-Artigo em periódico indexado (ALICE). https://doi.org/10.30612/0621/10.30612/agrarian.v14i51.12279.
- Chaves-Moreno, L.C., Chacón-Rodríguez, L., Lozada-Morales, J., Motta-Delgado, P.A., Murcia-Ordonez, B., 2012. Evaluation in cachama (*Piaractus brachypomus*) of induced reproduction of with buserelin acetate. Veterinaria y Zootecnia, 6, 47-55.

- Charlie-Silva, I., Feitosa, N.M., Gomes, J.M.M., Hoyos, D.C.M, Mattioli, C.C., Eto, S.F., Fernandes, D.C., Belo, M.A.A., Silva, J.O., Barros, A.L.B., Junior, J.D.C., Menezes, G.B., Fukushima, H.C.S., Castro, T.F.D., Borra, R.C., Pierezan, F., Melo, N.F.S., Fraceto, L.F., 2020. Potential of mucoadhesive nanocapsules in drug release and toxicology in zebrafish. PLoS ONE, 15, e0238823. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238823.
- Corrêa, C.F., Aguiar, L.H., Lundstedt, L.M., Moraes, G., 2007. Responses of digestive enzymes of tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) to dietary cornstarch changes and metabolic inferences. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular and Integrative Physiology, 147, 857-862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2006.12.045.
- Coward, k., Bromage, N.R., 2000. Reproductive physiology of female tilapia broodstock. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 10, 1-25. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/A:1008942318272.
- Cunha, M.A.D., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Garcia, L.D.O., Loro, V.L., Fonseca, M.B.D., Emanuelli, T., Baldisserotto, B., 2010. Anesthesia of silver catfish with eugenol: time of induction, cortisol response and sensory analysis of fillet. Ciência Rural, 40, 2107-2114. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782010005000154.
- Cunha, L., Cardoso, L.M., Geraldo, A.M.R., Callai, V., Silva, M.D.S.C., Tamajusuku, A.S.K., Aquio, M., 2020. Menthol as a natural anesthetic for guppy. Revista de Ciências Agroveterinárias, 19, 249-253. https://doi.org/ 10.5965/223811711922020249.
- Dolwitsch, C.B., Pires, F.B., Frescura, L.M., Prá, V.D., Rieffel, R.C., Sagrillo, M.R., Carvalho, C.A., Muzutti, M., Pizzutti, I.R., Rosa, M.B., 2020. *Hesperozygis ringens* (Benth.) Epling: a study involving extraction, chemical profiling, antioxidant and biological activity. Natural Product Research, 35, 4709-4714. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2019.1710703.
- Durhack, T.C., Jeffrey, J.D., Enders, E.C., 2020. In search of an anaesthesia alternative for field-based research. Aquaculture, 525, e735285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735285.
- Espinoza-Ramos, L.A., Pepe-Victoriano, R., Huanacuni, J. I., Nande, M., 2021. Effect of transportation time and stocking density on seawater quality and survival of *Anisotremus*

*scapularis* (Perciformes: Haemulidae). Journal of the World Aquaculture Society, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jwas.12865.

- Evans, P., Halliwell, B., 1999. Free radicals and hearing: cause, consequence, and criteria. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 884, 19-40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08633.x.
- FAO, Food and Aquaculture Organization of the United Nations, 2009. *Oreochromis niloticus*. In Cultured aquatic species fact sheets. Text by Rakocy, J.E., Edited and compiled by Valerio Crespi and Michael New.
- FAO, Organización de las Naciones Unidas para la Alimentación y la Agricultura. 2016. 14.
  Transporte de peces vivos: FAO: http://www.fao.org/fishery/static/FAO\_Training/FAO\_Training/General/x67
  09s/x6709s14.htm
- FAO, Food and Aquaculture Organization of the United Nations, 2020. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2020. Sustainability in Action. FAO, Rome. https:// doi.org/10.4060/ca9229en.
- Façanha, M.F., Gomes, L.C., 2005. A eficácia do mentol como anestésico para Tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*, Characiformes: Characidae). Acta Amazônia, 35, 71-75. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0044-59672005000100011.
- Faria, A.F.C., Ribeiro, K.P.S.C., Faria, C.M.P., 2019. Caracterização do mercado de aquicultura ornamental e aquariofilia no Rio Grande do Norte. Revista Gestão e Sustentabilidade Ambiental, 8,203-215. https://doi.org/10.19177/rgsa.v8e12019203-215.
- Faught, E., Aluru, N., Vijayan, M.M., 2016. The molecular stress response. In: Fish Physiology. Fish Physiology, 35, 113-166. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802728-8.00004-7.
- Favero, G.C., Santos, F.A.C., Costa, J.G.S., Batista, F.S., Bonifácio, C.T., Torres, I.F.A., Luz, R.K., 2022. Effects of water temperature and feeding time on growth performance and physiological parameters of *Piaractus brachypomus* juveniles. Aquaculture, 548, 737716. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737716.

- Ferreira, A.L., Silva, W.D.S., Carmo, L.N., Ferreira, N.S., Takata, R., Luz, R.K., 2020a. Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae*. Aquaculture International, 28, 1837-1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-020-00561-w.
- Ferreira, A.L., Charlie-Silva, I., Favero, G.C., Melo, N.F.S., Fraceto, L.F., Júnior, J.D.C., Luz, R.K., 2020b. Chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles containing eugenol potentiates anesthesia in Nile tilapia. Aquaculture, 529, 735659. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735659
- Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Boaventura, T.P., Souza, C.F., Ferreira, N.S., Descovi, S.N., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Luz, R.K., 2021a. Essential oil of *Ocimum* gratissimum (Linnaeus, 1753): efficacy for anesthesia and transport of *Oreochromis* niloticus. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 47, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-020-00900-x
- Ferreira, A.L., Bonifácio, C.T., Silva, W.D.S., Takata, R., Favero, G.C., Luz, R.K., 2021b. Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for *Piaractus brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818): Induction and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical responses. Aquaculture, 544, 737076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737076.
- Ferreira, A.L., Santos, F.A.C., Souza, A.S., Favero, G.C., Baldisserotto, B., Pinheiro, C.G., Heinzmann, B.M., Luz, R.K., 2022. Efficacy of *Hesperozygis ringens* essential oil as an anesthetic and for sedation of juvenile tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) during simulated transport. Aquaculture International, 1, 1-1.
- Fosse, P.J., Mattos, D.C., Cardoso, L.D., Motta, J.H.S., Jasper, A.P.S., Radael, M.C., Júnior, V., 2013. Estratégia de coalimentação na sobrevivência e no crescimento de larvas de *Betta splendens* durante a transição alimentar. Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 65, 1801-1807. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-09352013000600030.
- Fryer, G., Iles, T.D., 1972. The cichlid fishes of the freat lakes of Africa: Their biology and evolution. Oliver and Boyd, Edinburgh, p641.
- Fujimura, K., Okada, N., 2007. Development of the embryo, larva and early juvenile of Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Pisces: Cichlidae). Developmental staging system.

Development, Growth Differentiation, 49, 301-324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-169x.2007.00926.x.

- Gandhi, S., Abramov, A.Y., 2012. Mechanism of oxidative stress in neurodegeneration. Oxid.
  Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 1, 1-11.
  https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/428010.
- Gelal, A., 2008. Influence of menthol on first pass elimination. Boletin Latinoamericano y del Caribe de Plantas Medicinales y Aromaticas, 7, 119-124
- Gholipour, H.K, Mirzargar, S.S., Soltani, M., Ahmadi, M., Abrishamifar, A., Bahonar, A., Yousefi, P., 2011. Anesthetic effect of tricaine methanesulfonate, clove oil and electroanesthesia on lysozyme activity of *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Iranian Journal of Fisheries Sciences, 10, 393-402. https://jifro.ir/article-1-212-en.html.
- Gimbo, R.Y., Saita, M.V., Gonçalves, A.F.N., Takahashi, L.S., 2008. Diferentes concentrações de benzocaína na indução anestésica do lambari-dorabo amarelo (*Astyanax altiparan*ae). Revista Brasileira de Saúde Produção Animal, 9, 350-357.
- Gomes, L.C., Baldisserotto, B., 2019. Espécies nativas para piscicultura no Brasil: Org Baldisserotto B (3ed) Tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*), Santa Maria, UFSM, pp 147-168.
- Gomes, L.C., Chippari-Gomes, A.R., Lopes, N.P., Roubach, R., Araujo-Lima, C.A., 2001. Efficacy of benzocaine as an anesthetic in juvenile tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum*. Journal of World Aquaculture Society, 32, 426- 431. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2001.tb00470.x.
- Gomes, D.P., Chaves, B.W., Becker, A.G., Baldisserotto, B., 2011. Water parameters affect anaesthesia induced by eugenol in silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*. Aquaculture Research, 42, 878-886. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2011.02864.x.
- Gonçalves, A.F.N., Santos, E.C.C., Fernandes, J.B.K., Takahashi, L.S., 2008. Mentol e eugenol como substitutos da benzocaína na indução anestésica de juvenis de pacu. Acta Scientiarum Animal Sciences, 30, 339-344. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascianimsci.v30i3.1081
- Gontijo, A.M.D.M.C., Barretom, R.E., Speit, G., Reyes, V.A.V., Volpato, G.L., Salvadori, D.M.F., 2003. Anesthesia of fish with benzocaine does not interfere with comet assays

results. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 534, 165-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5718(02)00276-0

- Gressler, L.T., Parodi, T.V., Riffel, A.P.K., DaCosta, S.T., Baldisserotto, B., 2012. Immersion anaesthesia with tricaine methanesulphonate or propofol on different sizes and strains of silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen*. Journal of Fish Biology, 81, 1436-1445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03409.x
- Gressler, L.T., Riffel, A.P.K., Parodi, T.V., Saccol, E.M.H., Koakoski, G., Costa, S.T., Pavanato, M.A., Heinzmann, B.M., Caron, B., Schmidt, D., Llesuy, S.F., Barcellos, L.J.G., Baldisserotto, B., 2014. Silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen* immersion anaesthesia with essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* (L'Hérit) Britton or tricaine methanesulfonate: effect on stress response and antioxidant status. Aquaculture Research, 45, 1061-1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12043.
- Guilherme, H.O., Santos, F.A., Costa, L.S., Prado, V.G., Palheta, G.D., Melo, N.F., Ribeiro, P.A., 2021. Feeding, growth, and blood chemistry of the tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) held under self-feeding and time-restricted automatic feeding conditions. Aquaculture International, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007%2Fs10499-021-00801-7.
- Halliwell, B., Aeschbach, R., Loliger, J., Arouma, O.I., 1995. The characterization of antioxidants. Food Chemical Toxicology, 33, 601-612.
- Halliwell, B., Gutteridge, J.M.C., 2007. Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine. Oxford: Clarendon.
- Halliwel, B., Gutteridg, J.M., 2015. Free radicals in biology and medicine, Fifth 555 edition. Oxford University Press, EUA.
- Helfman, G.S., Collette, B.B., Facey, D.E., Bowen, B.W., 2009. The diversity of fishes: Biology, Evolution, and Ecology. West Sussex, Wiley-Blackwell, p720.
- Henrique, M.M.F., Gomes, E.F., Gouillou-Coustans, M.F., Oliva-Teles, A., Davies, S.J., 1998. Influence of supplementation of practical diets with vitamin C on growth and response to hypoxic stress of seabream, *Sparus aurata*. Aquaculture, 161, 415-426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(97)00289-5.
- Hohlenwerger, J.C., Copatti, E.C., Sena, C.A., Couto, D.R., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann,B.M., Schmidt, D. 2016. Could the essential oil of *Lippia alba* provide a readily available

and cost-effective anaesthetic for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)? Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology, 49, 119-126. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236244.2015.1123869.

- Hohlenwerger, J.C., Baldisserotto, B., Couto, R.D., Heinzmann, B.M., Silva, D.T.D., Caron,
  B.O., Copatti, C.E., 2017. Essential oil of *Lippia alba* in the transport of Nile tilapia.
  Ciência Rural, 47, e20160040. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20160040.
- Honorato, C. A., Dambros, A., Marcondes, V. M., & Nascimento, C. A. (2014). Utilização do eugenol em jundiá da Amazônia (*Leiarius marmoratus*): implicações na sedação e avaliação hemogasométrica. Semina: Ciências Agrárias, 35, 2759-2767. https://doi.org/10.5433/1679-0359.2014v35n5p2759.
- Hoseini, S.M., Hosseini, S.A., Nodeh, A.J., 2011. Serum biochemical characteristics of Beluga, *Huso huso* (L.), in response to blood sampling after clove powder solution exposure. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 37, 567-572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-010-9458-8.
- Hoseini, S. M., & Ghelichpour, M. (2012). Efficacy of clove solution on blood sampling and hematological study in Beluga, Huso huso (L.). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 38, 493-498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9529-5.
- Hoshiba MA, Dias RMS, Moreira KMF, Cunha L, Geraldo AMR, Tamajusuku ASK (2015) Clove oil and menthol as anesthetic for platy. Boletim do Instituto de Pesca, 41, 737-742.
- Houshmand, P., Hedayati, A., 2022. Dietary effect of probiotic and prebiotic on some mucus indices of silver carp (*Hypophthalmichthys molitrix*) exposed to silver nanoparticles. Biological Trace Element Research, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12011-021-03047-9.
- IBGE Instituto Brasileiro de Geografa e Estatística., 2020. Pesquisa da Pecuária Municipal 2017, 2018 e 2019. https://sidra.ibge.gov.br/tabela/3940#resultado.
- Ibrahim, A.M.A., Adam, H.M.Y., Ahmed, A.M.M., Yousif, M.F., 2015. Effect of different stocking densities on survival rates of Nile tilapia fingerlings transported in plastic bags. Online Journal of Animal and Feed Research 5, 160-164.
- Inoue, L.A.K.A., Boijink, C.L., Ribeiro, P.T., Silva, A.M.D.D., Affonso, E.G., 2011. Avaliação de respostas metabólicas do tambaqui exposto ao eugenol em banhos

anestésicos. Acta Amazonica, 41, 327-332. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0044-59672011000200020.

- Irache, J.M., González-Navarro, C.J., 2017. Zein nanoparticles as vehicles for oral delivery purposes. Nanomedicine (Lond.), 12, 1209-1211. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm-2017-0075.
- Iwama, G.K., 1993. Intensive fish productions, Guided Independent Study: Course manual. UBC Access, University of British Columbia, Vancouver. 130p.
- Iwama, G.K., Afonso, L.O., Todgham, A., Ackerman, P., Nakano, K., 2004. Are hsps suitable for indicating stressed states in fish? Journal of Experimental Biology, 207, 15-19. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00707.
- Javahery, S., Nekoubin, H., Moradlu, A.H., 2012. Effect of anaesthesia with clove oil in fish. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 38, 1545-1552. https://doi:10.1007/s10695-012-9682-5.
- Jerez-Cepa, I.; Ruiz-Jarabo, I., 2021. Physiology: An Important Tool to Assess the Welfare of Aquatic Animals. Biology, 10, 61. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10010061.
- Junior, E.F.D.M., Uehara, S.A., Rodrigues, E.C., Palheta, G.D.A., Melo, N.F.A.C.D., Freire, L.D.S., Takata, R., 2018. Menthol and eugenol as natural anesthetics for early juveniles of curimba. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 47, e20170266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170266.
- Junior, E.F.D.M., Uehara, S.A., Freitas, T.M., Melo, N.F.A.C., Palheta G.D.A., Takata, R., 2019. Effectiveness of benzocaine as anesthetic at different water temperatures for early juvenile curimba (*Prochilodus lineatus* Valenciennes, 1836), a neotropical fish species. Boletim do Instituto de Pesca, 45, e474. https://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305.2019.45.3.474
- Karslı, Z., 2021. Effects of synthetic androgen (17α-methyltestosterone) and estrogen (17βestradiol) on growth and skin coloration in emperor red cichlid, *Aulonocara nyassae* (Actinopterygii: Cichliformes: Cichlidae). Acta Ichthyol. Piscat., 51, 357-363. https://doi.org/10.3897/aiep.51.70223.

- Keçili, R., Büyüktiryaki, S., Hussain, C.M., 2019. Advancement in bioanalytical science through nanotechnology: past, present and future. TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 110, 259-276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.11.012.
- Keene, J.I., Noakes, D.I.G., Moccia, R.D., Soto, G.C., 1998. The efficacy of clove oil as an anesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquaculture Research, 29, 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.1998.00927.x.
- Kheawfu, K., Pikulkaew, S., Rades, T., Müllertz, A., Okonogi, S., 2018. Development and characterization of clove oil nanoemulsions and self-microemulsifying drug delivery systems. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 46, 330-338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jddst.2018.05.028.
- Khumpirapang, N., Pikulkaew, S., Müllertz, A., Rades, T., Okonogi, S., 2017. Selfmicroemulsifying drug delivery system and nanoemulsion for enhancing aqueous miscibility of *Alpinia galanga* oil. Plos One, 12, e0188848. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188848.
- King, H.R., 2009. Fish transport in the aquaculture sector: An overview of the road transport of Atlantic salmon in Tasmania. Journal of Veterinary Behavior, 4, 163-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.09.034
- Konings, A.D., 1995. Lake Malawi cichlids. A review of the sand-dwelling species of the genus *Aulonocara*, with the description of three new species. The Cichlids Yearbook, 5, 26-36.
- Kori-Siakpere, O., Ake, J.E.G., Avworo, U.M., 2006. Sublethal effects of cadmium on some selected haematological parameters of Heteroclarias (a hybrid of *Heterobranchus bidorsalis* and *Clarias gariepinus*). International Journal of Zoological Research, 2, 77-83.
- Kubitza, F., 1997. Transporte de peixes vivos. Parte, 1, 20-26.
- Li, Y., Bordinhon, A.M., Davis, D.A., Zhang, W., Zhu, X., 2013. Protein: energy ratio in practical diets for Nile tilápia *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture International, 21, 1109-1119. https://doi:10.1007/s10499-012-9616-3.

- Li, M., Wang, X., Qi, C., Li, E., Du, Z., Qin, J. G., Chen, L., 2018. Metabolic response of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) to acute and chronic hypoxia stress. Aquaculture, 495, 187-195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.05.031.
- Lima, A.O., Bernardino, G., Proença, C.E.M., 2001. Agronegócio de peixes ornamentais no Brasil e no Mundo. Panorama da Aquicultura, 11, 14-24.
- Lima, L.C., Ribeiro, L.R., Leite, R.C., Melo, D.C., 2006. Estresse em peixes. Revista Brasileira de Reprodução Animal, 30, 113-117.
- Lima, A.F., Silva, A.P., Rodrigues, A.P.O., Bergamin, G.T., Torati, L.S., Pedroza Filho, M.X., Maciel, P.O., 2013. Biometria de peixes: piscicultura familiar. Embrapa Pesca e Aquicultura. https://www.infoteca.cnptia.empraba.br/infoteca/handle/doc/972070.
- Lima, J.D.F., Montagner, D., Duarte, S.S., Yoshioka, E.T.O., Dias, M.K.R., Tavares-Dias, M., 2019. Sistema de recirculação usando filtros biológicos aerados no cultivo de alevinos de tambaqui. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 54, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1678-3921.pab2019.v54.00294
- Liu, Y., Zhou, X. W., Ding, H. T., Dong, X. J., Zhang, J. J., Zheng, Y. C., Chen, X.N., Cheng, H.L., Ding, Z.J., Xu, J. H., 2022. Effects of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) on sedation and responses of yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*) subjected to simulated transportation stress. Aquaculture, 549, 737789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737789.
- Lorenzo, D., Paz, D., Dellacassa, E., Davies, P., Vila, R., Cañigueral, S., 2002. Essential oils of *Mentha pulegium* and *Mentha rotundifolia* from Uruguay. Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology, 45, 519-524. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-89132002000600016.
- Luis, A.I.S., Campos, E.V.R., Oliveira, J.L., Fraceto, L.F., 2019. Trends in aquaculture sciences: from now to use of nanotechnology for disease control. Reviews in Aquaculture, 11, 119-132. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12229.
- Luz, R.K., Costa, L.S., Ribeiro, P.A.P., Silva, R.F., Rosa, P.V., 2013. Influência do tempo de transporte para juvenis de pacamã (*Lophiosilurus alexandri*). Arquivo Brasileiro de Medicina Veterinária e Zootecnia, 65, 1895-1898. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0102-09352013000600044.

- Marcuschi, M., Espósito, T.S., Machado, M.F., Hirata, I.Y., Machado, M.F., Silva, M.V., Carvalho, L.B.J., Oliveira, V. Bezerra, R.S., 2010. Purification, characterization and substrate specificity of a trypsin from the Amazonian fish tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 396, 667-673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.04.155.
- Mariano, W.D.S., Oba, E.T., Santos, L.R.B.D., Fernandes, M.N., 2009. Respostas fisiológicas de jeju ("*Hoplerythrinus unitaeniatus*") expostos ao ar atmosférico. Revista Brasileira de Saúde e Produção Animal, 10, 210-223.
- Marking, L.L., Meyer, F.P., 1985. Are better anesthetics needed in fisheries? Fisheries, 10, 2-5. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(1985)010<0002:ABANIF>2.0.CO;2
- Massee, K.C., Rust, M.B., Hardy, R.W., Stickney, R.R., 1995. The effectiveness of tricaine, quinaldine sulfate and metomidate as anesthetics for larval fish. Aquaculture, 134, 351-359. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(95)00057-9
- Matés, J.M., 2000. Effects of antioxidant enzymes in the molecular control of reactive oxygen species toxicology. Toxicology, 153, 83-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(00)00306-1.
- Matos, F.J.A., 2000. Plantas medicinais: guia de selecão e emprego de plantas usadas em fitoterapia no Nordeste do Brasil, 2nd edition. Imprensa Universitaria-Universidade Federal do Ceara, Fortaleza, Brazil.
- Matthews, M., Varga, Z.M., 2012. Anesthesia and euthanasia in zebrafish. ILAR J., 53, 192-204. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.53.2.192
- Mattioli, C.C., Takata, R., Oliveira, P.L.F., Costa, D.C., Luz, R.K., 2019a. Response of juvenile *Lophiosilurus alexandri* to osmotic and thermic shock. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 46, 51-61. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10695-019-00696-5.
- Mattioli, C.C., Takata, R., Oliveira, P.L.F., Costa, D.C., Luz, R.K., 2019b. Physiological and metabolic responses of juvenile *Lophiosilurus alexandri* catfish to air exposure. Fish physiology and biochemistry, 45, 455-467. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10695-018-0576-z.
- Meurer, F., Hayashi, C. Boscolo, W.R., 2003. Fibra bruta para alevinos de tilápia do Nilo (*Oreochromis niloticus*, L). Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia, 32, 256-261. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982003000200002.

- Mirghaed, A.T., Yasari, M., Mirzargar, S.S., Hoseini, S.M., 2018. Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) anesthesia with myrcene: Efficacy and physiological responses in comparison with eugenol. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44, 919-926. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10695-018-0481-5.
- Moges, F.D., Patel, P., Parashar, S.K.S., Das, B., 2020. Mechanistic insights into diverse nano-based strategies for aquaculture enhancement: A holistic review. Aquaculture, 519, 734770. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734770.
- Mommsen, T., Vijayan, M., Moon, T., 1999. Cortisol in teleost: dynamics, mechanisms of action and metabolic regulation. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 9, 211-268. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008924418720.
- Morais, I.D.S., O'Sullivan, F.D.A., 2017. Biology, habitat and farming of tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum* (CUVIER, 1816). Sci Amazon 6, pp 81-93
- Morel, Y., Barouki, R., 1999. Repression of gene expression by oxidative stress. Biochem. J., 342, 481-496. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3420481
- Morgan, J.D., Iwama, G.K., 1997. Measurements of stressed states in thefield. In fish stress and health in aquaculture (Iwama, G.K., Pickering, A.D., Sumpter, J.P., Shreck, C.B. (eds) Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, pp247-268
- Nascimento, A.F., Maria, A.N., Pessoa, N.O., Carvalho, M.A.M., Viveiros, A.T.M., 2010. Out-of-season sperm cryopreserved in different media of the Amazonian freshwater fish pirapitinga (*Piaractus brachypomus*). Anim. Reprod. Sci., 118, 324-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2009.07.002.
- Neves, L.C., Favero, G.C., Beier, S.L., Ferreira, N.S., Palheta, G.D.A., Melo, N.F.A.C., Luz, R.K., 2020. Physiological and metabolic responses in juvenile *Colossoma macropomum* exposed to hypoxia. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 46, 2157-2167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-020-00868-8.
- Neves, L.C., Silva, W.D.S., Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Beier, S.L., Palheta, G.D.A., Nuno, F.A.C.M., Luz, R.K., 2022. Physiological responses of juvenile *Colossoma macropomum* after different periods of air exposure. Aquaculture, 548, 737583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737583.

- Oliveira, C.P.B., Paixao, L.C.H., Silva, A.F., Souza, S.A., Albinati, A.C.L., Lima, A.O., Copatti, C.E., 2019. Use of eugenol for the anaesthesia and transportation of freshwater angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare*). Aquaculture, 513, e734409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734409.
- Ortuno, J., Esteban, M.A., Meseguer, J., 2002. Effects of four anaesthetics on the innate immune response of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). Fish and Shellfish Immunology, 12, 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1006/fsim.2001.0353.
- Ostrensky, A., Boeger, W.A., 1998. Piscicultura: fundamentos e técnicas de manejo, p. 211.
- Padua, S.B., Ventura, A.S., Satake, F., Ishikawa, M.M., Hisano, H., Rotta, M.A., Arantes, F.C. 2012. Respostas hematológicas em tuvira após anestesia com diferentes concentrações de óleo de cravo. Boletim do Instituto de Pesca, 38,181-188.
- Pankhurst, N.W., 2011. The endocrinology of stress in fish: an environmental perspective. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 170, 265-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.07.017.
- Paranhos, C.O., Neves, L.C., Silva, W.S., Luz, R.K., 2021. Transport of killifish *Hypsolebias flagellatus*: effects of salt use and previous feeding in association with transport time. Journal of Applied Aquaculture, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/10454438.2021.1943102.
- Parodi, T.V., Cunha, M.A., Becker, A.G., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Martins, D.I., Koakoski, G., Barcellos, L.G., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2014. Anesthetic activity of the essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* and effectiveness in reducing stress during transport of albino and gray strains of silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 40, 323-334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9845-z.
- Patel, T., Ishiuji, Y., Yosipovitch, G., 2007. Menthol: a refreshing look at this ancient compound. Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology, 57, 873-878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2007.04.008
- Peixe BR (2022). Anuário peixe BR da piscicultura. São Paulo, Associação Brasileira de Piscicultura.
- Pickering, A.D., 1981. Stress and fish. Academic Press, Ed., New York

- Ploeg, A., 2013. Trade-the status of the ornamental aquatic industry. Ornamental Fish International, 72, 11-13.
- Priborsky, J., Velisek, J., 2018. A review of three commonly used fish anesthetics. Reviews in Fisheries Science and Aquaculture, 26, 417-442. https://doi.org/10.1080/23308249.2018.1442812.
- Purbosari, N., Warsiki, E., Syamsu, K., Santoso, J., 2019. Natural versus synthetic anesthetic for transport of live fish: A review. Aquaculture and Fisheries, 4, 129-133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aaf.2019.03.002.
- Readman, G.D., Owen, S.F., Knowles, T.G., Murrell, J.C., 2017. Species specific anaesthetics for fish anaesthesia and euthanasia. Scientific Reports, 7, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06917-2.
- Reis, R.E., 2003. Check list of the freshwater fishes of South and Central America. Porto Alegre (Brazil), Edipucrs, pp 183.
- Ribeiro, F.A.Z., Carvalho Junior, J.R., Fernandes, J.B.K., Nakayama, L., 2008. Comércio brasileiro de peixes ornamentais. Panomara da Aquicultura, 18, 54-59.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Miranda, F.K.C., Melillo, F.R., Santos, A.E.H., Silva, W.D.S., Rodrigues, L.A., Luz, R.K., 2013. Efeito anestésico do eugenol em juvenis de pacamã. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira, 48, 1136-1139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800048.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Miranda, F.K.C., Melo, D.C.D., Luz, R.K., 2015. Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early life stages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Anais da Academia Brasielira de Ciências, 87, 529-535. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/00013765201520140024.
- Ribeiro, A.S., Batista, E.D.S., Dairiki, J.K., Chaves, F.C.M., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2016.
  Anesthetic properties of *Ocimum gratissimum* essential oil for juvenile matrinxã. Acta Scientiarum Animal Sciences, 38, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascianimsci.v38i1.28787.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Melo, H.D.C., Oliveira, C.G., Della, F.M.A.L., Luz, R.K., 2019. Eugenol and benzocaine as anesthetics for *Lophiosilurus alexandri* juvenile, a freshwater carnivorous

catfish. Aquaculture International, 27, 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-018-0326-3.

- Rodrigues, P., Ferrari, F. T., Barbosa, L. B., Righi, A., Laporta, L., Garlet, Q.I., Baldisserotto,
  B., Heinzmann, B.M., 2021. Nanoemulsion boosts anesthetic activity and reduces the side effects of *Nectandra grandiflora* Nees essential oil in fish. Aquaculture, 545, 737146.
- Romaneli, R.D.S., Boaratti, A.Z., Rodrigues, A.T., Queiroz, D.M.D.A., Khan, K.U., Nascimento, T.M.T., Mansano, C.F.M., 2018. Efficacy of benzocaine, eugenol and menthol as anesthetics for freshwater Angelfish. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health, 30, 210-216. https://doi.org/10.1002/aah.10030.
- Rombout, J.H., Yang, G., Kiron, V., 2014. Adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces of teleost fish. Fish and Shellfish Immunology, 40, 634-643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.08.020.
- Ross, L.G., Ross, B., 2008. Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Blackwell Science, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Rossoni, F., Ferreira, E., Zuanon, J., 2014. A Pesca e o conhecimento ecológico local dos pescadores de Acará-disco (*Symphysodon Aequifasciatus*, Pellegrin 1904: Cichlidae). Na reserva de desenvolvimento sustentável Piagaçu-Purus, Baixo Rio Purus, Brasil. Boletim Do Museu Paraense Emilio Goeldi: Ciencias Humanas 9:109-128.
- Roubach, R., Gomes, L.C., 2001. Uso de anestésicos durante o manejo de peixes. Panorama da Aquicultura, 11, 37-40.
- Saccol, E.M., Toni, C., Pês, T.S., Ourique, G.M., Gressler, L.T., Silva, L.V., Mourão, R.H.V., Oliveira, R.B., Baldisserotto, B., Pavanato, M.A., 2017. Anaesthetic and antioxidant effects of *Myrcia sylvatica* (G. Mey.) DC. and *Curcuma longa* L. essential oils on tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Aquaculture Research, 48, 2012-2031. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13034.
- Sampaio, F.D., Freire, C.A., 2016. An overview of stress physiology of fish transport: changes in water quality as a function of transport duration. Fish and Fisheries, 17, 1055-1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12158.

- Santos, F.A., Costa J.G.S., Luz, R.K., 2020. Stocking density in *Colossoma macropomum* larviculture, a freshwater fish, in recirculating aquaculture system. Aquaculture Research, 52, 1185-1191. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14976.
- Santos, F.A., Boaventura, T.P., Costa, J.G.S., Cortezzi, P.P., Figueiredo, L.G., Favero, G.C., Palheta, G.D.A., Melo, N.F.A.C., Luz, R.K., 2021. Growth performance and physiological parameters of *Colossoma macropomum* in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS): Importance of stocking density and classification. Aquaculture, 534, 736274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.736274
- Santos, F.A., Costa J.G.S., Batista, F.S., Miranda, L.N.L., Pedras, P.P.C., Luz, R.K., 2022. High stocking densities in the larviculture of *Colossoma macropomum* in a recirculating aquaculture system: Performance, survival and economic viability. Aquaculture, 552, 738016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2022.738016.
- Sayed, A. E-D. H, Moneeb, R.H., 2015. Hematological and biochemical characters of monosex tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus. Linnaeus. 1758) cultivated using 36-42. methyltestosterone. The Journal of Basic Applied Zoology, 72, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jobaz.2015.03.002.
- Saydmohammed, M., Pal, A.K., 2009. Anesthetic effect of eugenol and menthol on handling stress in *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*. Aquaculture, 298, 162-167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2009.10.020.
- Schreck, C.B., 2010. Stress and fish reproduction: The roles of allostasis and hormesis. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 165,549-556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.004
- Schwalbe, M.A.B., Bassett, D.K., Webb, J.F., 2012. Feeding in the dark: lateral-line-mediated prey detection in the peacock cichlid *Aulonocara stuartgranti*. Journal of Experimental Biology, 215, 2060-2071. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.065920
- Shah, B.R., Mraz, J., 2019. Advances in nanotechnology for sustainable aquaculture and fisheries. Reviews in Aquaculture, 12, 925-942. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12356.
- Silva LL, Parodi TV, Reckziegel P, Oliveira GV, Bürger ME, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM (2012) Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L.: anesthetic effects, mechanism of

action and tolerance in silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*. Aquaculture, 350, 91-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.04.012.

- Silva, C.A.D., Fujimoto, R.Y., 2015. Tambaqui growth in response to stocking density in cages. Acta Amazônica, 45, 323-332. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201402205.
- Silva, H.N.P.D., Carvalho, B.C.F.D., Maia, J.L.D.S., Becker, A.G., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Silva, L.V.F.D., 2019. Anesthetic potential of the essential oils of *Lippia alba* and *Lippia origanoides* in tambaqui juveniles. Ciência Rural, 49, e20181059. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20181059.
- Silva, S.W., Ferreira, A.L., Carmo, N.L., Ferreira, N.S., Palheta, G.D.A., Takata, R., Luz, R.K., 2021a. Effects of stocking density on survival, growth and stress resistance of juvenile tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) reared in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS). Aquaculture International, 29, 609-621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-021-00647-z.
- Silva, W.S, Gonçalves Júnior, L.P., Henry, M.R.J.M., Ferreira, A.L., Torres, I.F.A., Neves, L.C, Ferreira, N.S., Luz, R.K., 2021b. Influence of social status on growth performance, reproductive success and sperm quality of the African cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae*. Applied Animal Behavior Science, 237, 105292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2021.105292.
- Silva, E., Deschamps, G.T., Matter, F.D.L., Bertoldi, F.C., Aldegunde, M., Silva, D.F., Lopes, C., Jatobá, A., Weber, R.A., 2021c. The anaesthetic efficacy of *Eucalyptus globulus* essential oil on silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Aquaculture Research, 52, 5190-5197. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15388.
- Sladky, K.K., Swanson, C.R., Stoskopf, M.K., Loomis, M.R., Lewbart, G.A., 2001. Comparative efficacy of tricaine methanesulfonate and clove oil for use as anesthetics in red pacu (*Piaractus brachypomus*). American Journal of Veterinary Research, 62, 337-342.
- Snoeks, J., 2004. The cichlid diversity of Lake Malawi/Nyasa/Niassa: identification, distribution and taxonomy. Cichlid Press, El Paso, TX, U.S.A.

- Sousa, R.G.C., Prado, G.F., Pyñeiro, J.I.G., Neto, E.B.B., 2016. Avaliação do ganho do peso de tambaqui cultivado com diferentes taxas de proteínas na alimentação. Biota Amazônia, 6, 40-45. https://doi.org/10.18561/2179-5746/biotaamazonia.v6n1p40-45.
- Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M.D., Bianchini, A.E., Silva, E.G., Mourão, R.H.V., Silva, L.V.F., Schmidt, D., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2018. Citral and linalool chemotypes of *Lippia alba* essential oil as anesthetics for fish: a detailed physiological analysis of side effects during anesthetic recovery in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 44, 21-34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-017-0410-z.
- Souza, C.F., Baldissera, M., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Martos-Sitcha, J.A., Mancera, J.M., 2019a. Essential oils as stress-reducing agents for fish aquaculture: A Review. Frontiers in Physiology, 10, 785. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00785.
- Souza, A.D.S.L., Peret, A.C., Hamoy, M., Souza, R.A.L., Torres, M.F., Barbas, L.A.L., 2019b. Propofol and essential oil of *Nepeta cataria* induce anaesthesia and marked myorelaxation in tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum*: implications on cardiorespiratory responses. Aquaculture, 500, 160-169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.10.017.
- Strange, R.J., Schreck, C.B., 1978. Anesthetic and handling etress on survival and cortisol concentration in yearling Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Journal of the Fisheries Research Board of Canada, 35, 345-349. https://doi.org/10.1139/f78-061
- Summerfelt, R.C., Smith, L.S., 1990. Anesthesia, surgery, and related techniques. In: Schreck CB, Moyle PB (eds) Methods for fish biology. Bethesda, Maryland, pp 213-272
- Tavares-Dias, M., Moraes, F.R., 2004. Hematologia de peixes teleósteos. Ed. Eletrônica e Arte Final. Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo SP. 144 p.
- Tarkhani, R., Imani, A., Jamali, H., Farsani, H.G., 2017. Anaesthetic efficacy of eugenol on various size classes of angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare* Schultze, 1823). Aquaculture Research, 48, 5263-5270. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13339.
- Teta, C., Kaiser, H., 2019. Menthol as an alternative anaesthetic and sedative for rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. African Journal of Aquatic Science, 44, 71-76. https://doi:10.2989/16085914.2018.1548342.
- Teixeira, R.R., Souza, R.C., Sena, A.C., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Couto, R.D., Copatti, C.E., 2017. Essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* in Nile tilapia: anaesthesia, stress

parameters and sensory evaluation of fillets. Aquaculture Research, 48, 3383-3392. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13165.

- Toni, C., Becker, A.G., Simões, L.N., Pinheiro, C.G., Lima-Silva, L., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2014. Fish anesthesia: effects of the essential oils of *Hesperozygis ringens* and *Lippia alba* on the biochemistry and physiology of silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 40, 701-714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9877-4.
- Toni, C., Martos-Sitcha, J.A., Ruiz-Jarabo, I., Mancera, J.M., Martínez-Rodríguez, G., Pinheiro, C.G., Heinzmann, B.M., Baldisserotto, B., 2015. Stress response in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*) exposed to the essential oil of *Hesperozygis ringens*. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry, 41, 129-138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-014-0011-z.
- Torchilin, V.P., 2014. Multifunctional, stimuli-sensitive nanoparticulate systems for drug delivery. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 13, 813-827. https://doi.org.10.1038/nrd4333.
- Tytler, P., Hawkins, A.D., 1981. Vivisection, anaesthetics and minor surgery. In: Hawkins, A.D. (Editor). Aquarium Systems. Academic Press, New York, p247-278.
- Uehara, S.A., Andrade, D.R., Takata, R., Junior, A.G., Vidal, M.V., 2019. The effectiveness of tricaine, benzocaine, clove oil, and menthol as anesthetics for lambari-bocarra *Oligosarcus argenteus*. Aquaculture, 502, 326-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.054.
- Urbinati, E.C., Carneiro, P.C.F., 2004. Práticas de manejo e estresse dos peixes em piscicultura. In: Cyrino, J.E.P., Urbinati, E.C., Fracalossi, D.M. (Eds.). Tópicos especiais em piscicultura de água doce tropical intensiva. Jaboticabal: Sociedade Brasileira de Aquicultura e Biologia Aquática, pp 171-194.
- Valentim, D.S.S., Duarte, J.L., Oliveira, A.E.M.F.M., Cruz, R.A.S., Carvalho, J.C.T., Conceição, E.C., Fernandes, C.P., Tavares-Dias, M., 2018. Nanoemulsion from essential oil of *Pterodon emarginatus* (Fabaceae) shows in vitro efficacy against monogeneans of *Colossoma macropomum* (Pisces: Serrasalmidae). Journal of Fish Diseases, 41, 443-449. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12739.

- Van Der Oost, R., Beyer, J., Vermeulen, N.P.E., 2003. Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 13, 57-149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1382-6689(02)00126-6.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Li, Z.H., Silovska, S., Turek, J., 2011. Comparison of the effects of four anaesthetics on blood biochemical profiles and oxidative stress biomarkers in rainbow trout. Aquaculture, 310, 369-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.11.010.
- Vidal Junior, M.V., 2007. Produção de peixes ornamentais. Viçosa:CPT, 234 p.
- Vosyliené, M.Z., 1999. The effects of heavy metals on haematological indices of fish (Survey). Acta Zoologica Lituanica, 9, 76-82.
- Xing, H., Li, S., Wang, Z., Gao, X., Xu, S., Wang, X., 2012. Histopathological changes and antioxidant response in brain and kidney of common carp exposed to atrazine and chlorpyrifos. Chemosphere, 88, 377-383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.02.049.
- Walters, G.R., Plumb, J.A., 1980. Environmental stress and bacterial infection in channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* Rafinesque. Journal of Fish Biology, 17, 177-185. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02751.x
- Wang, Y.F., Liu, L., Xue, X., Liang, X.J., 2017. Nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems: What can they really do in vivo? F1000Research 6, 681-685. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9690.1.
- Weber, E.S., 2011. Fish analgesia: pain, stress, fear aversion, or nociception? Veterinary Clinics: Exotic Animal Practice, 14, 21-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvex.2010.09.002.
- Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiological Reviews, 77, 591-625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591.
- Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 2011. Hormone responses to stress. 2011, 1515-1523 in Farrel, A.P., Cech, J.J., Richards, J.G., Stevens, ED (Eds. Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: from genome to environment. Elsevier Academic Press, United Kingdom.
- Weyl, O.L.F., Ribbink, A.J., Tweddle, D., 2010. Lake Malawi: fishes, fisheries, biodiversity, health and habitat. Aquatic Ecosystem Health, 13, 241-254. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2010.504695.

- Williams e Wilkins Company, 1982. Stedman's medical dictionary, 24th edition. Baltimore, Maryland, em Summerfelt RC, Smith LS. Anaesthesia, surgery and related techniques.
  Em: Schrek CB, Moyle PB. Methods for fish biology, cap8, American Fishery Society, 684, 1990 p.
- Woody, C.A., Nelson, J., Ramstad, K., 2002. Clove oil as anaesthetic for adult sockeye salmon: field trials. Journal of Fish Biology, 60, 340-347. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2002.tb00284.x
- Woynárovich, A., Van Anrooy, R., 2019. A. Field guide to the culture of tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*, Cuvier, 1816). FAO – Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper (ed) pp 624
- Yadegarinia, D., Gachkar, L., Rezaei, M.B., Taghizadeh, M., Astaneh, S.A., Rasooli, I., 2006. Biochemical activities of Iranian *Mentha piperita* L. and *Myrtus communis* L. essential oils. Phytochemistry, 67, 1249-1255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.04.025
- Yang, S., Yan, T., Wu, H., Xiao, Q., Fu, H. M., Luo, J., Zhou, J., Zhao, L.L., Wang, Y., Yang, S.Y., Sun, J. L., Ye, X., Li, S.J., 2017. Acute hypoxic stress: effect on blood parameters, antioxidant enzymes, and expression of HIF-1alpha and GLUT-1 genes in largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*). Fish Shellfish Immunology, 67, 449-458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2017.06.035.
- Yazhiniprabha, M., Gopi, N., Mahboob, S., Al-Ghanim, K.A., Al-Misned, F., Ahmed, Z., Riaz, M.N., Sivakamavalli, J., Govindarajan, M., Vaseeharan, B., 2022. The dietary supplementation of zinc oxide and selenium nanoparticles enhance the immune response in freshwater fish *Oreochromis mossambicus* against aquatic pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology, 69, 126878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2021.126878.
- Yostawonkul, J., Kitiyodom, S., Kaewmalun, S., Suktham, K., Nittayasut, N., Khongkow, M., Surassmo, S., 2019. Bifunctional clove oil nanoparticles for anesthesia and anti-bacterial activity in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture, 503, 589-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.058.
- Yousefi, M., Hoseini, S.M., Aydın, B., Mirghaed, A.T., Kulikov, E.V., Drukovsky, S.G., Seleznev, S.B., Rudenko, P.A., Hoseinifar, S.H., Van Doan, H., 2022. Anesthetic efficacy

and hemato-biochemical effects of thymol on juvenile Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*. Aquaculture, 547, 737540. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737540.

- Zahl, H.I., Samuelsen, O., Kiessling, A., 2012. Anaesthesia of farmed fish: implications for welfare. Fish Physiology and Biochemistry., 38, 201-218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9565-1
- Zapata-Guerra, N.A., Rueda-Gómez, D.S., Lozano-Villegas, K.J., Herrera-Sánchez, M.P., Uribe-García, H.F., Rondón-Barragán, I.S., 2020. Menthol as anaesthetic for red-bellied pacu (*Piaractus brachypomus*) and its effect on HIF1a and GlucoR gene expression. Aquaculture Research, 51, 4421-4429. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14784.
- Zeppenfeld, C.C., Hernández, D.R., Santinón, J.J., Heinzmann, B.M., Da Cunha, M.A., Schmidt, D., Baldisserotto, B., 2016. Essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* as feed additive promotes growth of silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Aquaculture Nutrition, 22, 933-940. https://doi.org/10.1111/anu.12311.
5.0 ARTIGO 1.

Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid Aulonocara nyassae

# **Running Head**

Anesthetics for Aulonocara nyassae

Artigo publicado no periódico Aquaculture International https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10499-020-00561-w

#### Abstract

The objective of this study was to investigate the effects of benzocaine and menthol on anesthesia of Aulonocara nyassae juveniles. Two size classes of fish were used in trials with benzocaine: Juveniles I - 70 fish of  $0.74 \pm 0.31$  g (39.41  $\pm$  7.48 mm); and Juveniles II - 70 fish of  $3.80 \pm 0.92$  g (76.58  $\pm 9.83$  mm). The fish used for trials with menthol were: Juveniles I -70 fish of  $1.01 \pm 0.39$  g (50.39  $\pm 12.75$  mm) and Juveniles II - 70 fish of  $3.73 \pm 0.78$  g (64.94  $\pm$  8.98 mm). Seven concentrations - 0, 12.5, 25.0, 50.0, 75.0, 100.0, 125.0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> - of each anesthetic (benzocaine and menthol) were tested on each size class of fish (n = 10 fish per size class and anesthetic concentration). Thus, anesthesia induction time and recovery were evaluated. Concentrations of 12.5 and 25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of benzocaine did not lead to a deep stage of anesthesia in the animals, however, the other concentrations presented anesthetic effect. For menthol, the concentration of 12.5 mg  $L^{-1}$  also did not anesthetize the fish. However, the other doses were effective and safe. The recommended anesthetic concentrations provided induction and recovery times within the limits considered ideal for fish. Concentrations between 75 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of benzocaine for Juvenile I and 50 to 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juvenile II are recommended. For menthol, concentrations between 50 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> can be used for both size classes of A. nyassae.

Key words: Anesthesia, handling stress, ornamental fish, physiology, ventilation frequency

## **1. Introduction**

Handling and transport are stressful procedures involved in the management and trading of ornamental fish (Pickering 1981; Barton 2002; Romaneli et al. 2018; Oliveira et al. 2019). Exposure to stressors trigger physiological changes that may compromise fish health and survival (Wendelaar Bonga 1997). Blood glucose and cortisol concentrations are often employed as stress indicators (Morgan and Iwama 1997; Barton 2002) and observations of ventilation frequency can provide indications of changes in metabolic rate following exposure to a stressor (Summerfelt and Smith 1990; Alvarenga and Volpato 1995; Toni et al. 2014; Becker et al. 2018).

The use of anesthetics in effective doses promotes safety for both fish and the handler during different management practices adopted in pisciculture (Ross and Ross, 2008; Weber, 2011; Ribeiro et al. 2015), and can promote animal welfare and increased survival of fish. The concentration and efficacy required for anesthetic induction by a drug are related to fish size and species (Woody et al. 2002; Ross and Ross 2008; Tarkhani et al. 2017), which makes it necessary to validate an anesthetic before its use (King 2009). The choice of a particular anesthetic is associated with its legal implications, economic viability, ease of application and low risk to animals and handlers (Padua et al. 2012). Ideally, anesthetic induction time should not exceed 180 s, while recovery time should not exceed 300 s (Keene et al. 1998; Ross and Ross 2008).

Benzocaine is a synthetic anesthetic that is widely used because it is easily accessible and inexpensive, has no mutagenic action and can be rapidly metabolized by fish (Woody et al. 2002; Gontijo et al. 2003). This product can be used frequently without affecting productive and reproductive performance of fish and is environmentally friendly (Okamoto et al. 2009; Okamura et al., 2010).

Menthol, which is an essential oil extracted from plants of the genus *Mentha* (Patel et al. 2007), is another alternative anesthetic that has been used effectively for many fish species, such as rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Teta and Kaiser 2019); curimba, *Prochilodus lineatus* (Junior et al. 2018); and the angelfish *Pterophyllum scalare* (Romaneli et al. 2018). Menthol is easily found in pharmacies, is inexpensive (Facanha and Gomes 2005) and is a safe and natural product (Yadegarinia et al. 2006).

Species of the genus *Aulonocara* are the most popular ornamental fish among African cichlids, and have had great international commercialization in recent years (Schwalbe et al.

2012). The Blue cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae* originates from Lake Malawi and is of ornamental interest due to its "*blue orchid*" coloration that catches the attention of aquarists. Nonetheless, no data are available on the effects of benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the species.

Therefore, the present study aimed to investigate the effects of benzocaine and menthol on anesthesia of *A. nyassae* juveniles, as well as on ventilation frequency during anesthetic induction and recovery.

#### 2 Material and Methods

The experiments were carried out at Laboratório de Aquacultura of the Escola de Veterinária, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, under registration number 326/2019 of Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais.

Fish of *A. nyassae* were produced and cultivated in six rectangular tanks with 42 L useful volume, at a density 50 fish tank<sup>-1</sup>, in a water recirculation system with temperature maintained at 27.21  $\pm$  0.09 °C, pH around 7.08  $\pm$  0.06 (measured by Hanna HI98130 multiparameter probe), dissolved oxygen of 6.81  $\pm$  0.58 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, (Water Quality Meter AK87 oximeter) and total ammonia of 0.53  $\pm$  0.02 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, (Alfakit Labcon Test colorimetric kit). The animals were fed 1.7 mm diameter commercial feed containing 460.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein, 80 g kg<sup>-1</sup> ether extract, 140 g kg<sup>-1</sup> mineral matter, 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> calcium and 15 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, as reported by the manufacturer, three times a day (09:00, 12:00 and 15:00 hours) until apparent satiety. The water of the system was changed once a week with 50% renewal of its useful volume. Fish were fasted for 24 h prior to testing.

The anesthetics tested were benzocaine (ethyl 4-aminobenzoate 99%, Sigma Aldrich®, SLBH1225V) and menthol (99% CRQ-1006310100). Two size classes of fish were used in trials with benzocaine: Juveniles I - 70 fish of  $0.74 \pm 0.31$  g (39.41 ± 7.48 mm); and Juveniles II - 70 fish of  $3.80 \pm 0.92$  g (76.58 ± 9.83 mm). The fish used for trials with menthol were: Juveniles I - 70 fish of  $1.01 \pm 0.39$  g (50.39 ± 12.75 mm); and Juveniles II - 70 fish of  $3.73 \pm 0.78$  g (64.94 ± 8.98 mm). Seven concentrations - 0 (control), 12.5, 25.0, 50.0, 75.0, 100.0, 125.0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> - of each anesthetic (benzocaine and menthol) were tested on each size class of fish. Trials consisted of 10 replicates for each size class and concentration of anesthetic, with individual fish acting as independent replicates. The experiments were

conducted independently for each anesthetic and size class of fish, using a completely randomized design. Anesthetic concentrations were prepared by dilution in five mL ethyl alcohol (98.1% purity), and the control consisted of ethyl alcohol without anesthetic (Ribeiro et al., 2013).

For analysis of anesthesia induction and recovery, fish were randomly captured one at a time and placed in a 1 L beaker containing the concentration of anesthetic to be tested. Control animals were observed for 10 min. Anesthetic induction time was evaluated using a digital timer (Taksun Ts1809). The behavioral characteristics of the deep anesthesia used in this study followed the recommendations of Ross and Ross (2008), and were basically the loss of equilibrium and absence of swimming. Throughout the anesthetic induction process, the ventilation frequency (VF) of the animals was evaluated by counting the number of opercular beats for per minute adapted from Alvarenga and Volpato (1995). Once fish reached deep anesthesia they were weighed on an analytical balance (Marte AD5002) and measured for length using a digital caliper (Starret® 799). The fish were then transferred individually to a 1 L beaker with clean water (from the cultivation system itself) for anesthetic recovery, which was timed and VF measured. The animals were considered recovered when they presented reflexes to external stimuli and normal swimming balance (Ross and Ross 2008).

After the experiments, fish of each size class and anesthetic were pooled and kept in 28 L tanks in a recirculating aquaculture system to observe the return to appetite and record survival after 24 h. The fish were fed three times a day until apparent satiety.

Data were tested for normality by the Shapiro Wilk test and homoscedasticity of variances by the Leven test, followed by ANOVA. Regression analyses were performed to better fit the model (P < 0.05). Data were analyzed using R software version 3.5.2.

#### **3 Results**

### Benzocaine

Benzocaine concentrations of 0, 12.5 and 25.0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> did not induce deep anesthesia in the fish of either size class. For the other tested concentrations, induction time had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) for Juvenile I (Fig. 1a), with an estimated inflection point at 108



mg L<sup>-1</sup> (41.87 s). Recovery time for Juvenile I also presented a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among the studied concentrations with a maximum point at 68 mg  $L^{-1}$  (118.93 s) (Fig. 1b).

Fig. 1 Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) of time (seconds) of induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of Aulonocara nyassae, submitted to different benzocaine concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

75

Concentration (mg L<sup>-1</sup>)

50

25

100

125

50

Fig. 1

75

Concentration (mg L<sup>-1</sup>)

100

125

A quadratic effect (P < 0.05) was also observed for induction time for the Juvenile II size class, with the estimated minimum point being at 112.85 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, while induction time ranged from 48.20 to 76.40 s (Fig. 1c). Recovery time also had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among concentrations for these fish, with the maximum point at 121.67 mg  $L^{-1}$  (101.41 s) (Fig. 1d). Increasing doses of benzocaine were accompanied by increasing recovery times for the Juvenile II size class.

Ventilation frequency during induction of Juvenile I presented a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among the studied concentrations, with the estimated minimum point being at 110 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (50.63 beats min<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 2a). During recovery, the VF for Juvenile I also had a quadratic





Fig. 2 Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) ventilation frequency (opercular beats per minute) during induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different benzocaine concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

Ventilation frequency during induction of Juvenile II presented a quadratic effect among the evaluated concentrations (P < 0.05) with the minimum point at 65 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (79.94 beats min<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 2c). During recovery, the VF for Juvenile II had a direct linear effect (P < 0.05) among the studied concentrations and a range of 94.47 – 112.75 beats min<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 2d).

Survival for Juvenile I was > 90% at 24 hours after the end of the experiment and presented a linear effect (P < 0.05) among the evaluated concentrations with the estimated equation Y = 109.0 - 0.16x,  $R^2 = 0.80$ , and all surviving animals feeding normally. Survival for Juvenile II was 100% 24 hours after the end of the experiment for all benzocaine concentrations, with all animals resuming feeding.

## Menthol

Menthol concentrations of 0, 12.5 mg L<sup>-1</sup> did not induce deep anesthesia in the fish of either size class. For the other concentrations, induction time for Juvenile I had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05), with an estimated inflection point of 122.25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (11.78 s) (Fig. 3a). Recovery time for Juvenile I also had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) with a maximum point of 40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (91.98 s) (Fig. 3b).



Fig. 3 Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) of time (seconds) of induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different menthol concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

The induction time for Juvenile II also had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among the different menthol concentrations, with the minimum at 93.83 mg  $L^{-1}$  (58.02 s) (Fig. 3c). The

recovery time for Juvenile II had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among the studied concentrations with a maximum point of 25 mg  $L^{-1}$  and a range of 50.90 – 86.70 s (Fig. 3d).

Ventilation frequency for Juvenile I during induction had a direct linear effect (P < 0.05) among the concentrations and ranged 44.52 – 169.78 beats min<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 4a). For the same size class, VF during recovery had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05) among the concentrations with a minimum point of 47.50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (70.20 beats min<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 4b).



Fig. 4 Values (mean  $\pm$  standard error) ventilation frequency (opercular beats per minute) during induction (a, c) and recovery of anesthesia (b, d) in two size classes of *Aulonocara nyassae*, submitted to different menthol concentrations. Star represents value estimated by the equation derived.

Ventilation frequency for Juvenile II during induction had a direct linear effect (P < 0.05) among concentrations ranging 48.13 – 110.70 beats min<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 4c). For the same size class, VF during recovery also had direct linear effect (P < 0.05) among concentrations (Fig. 4d). Survival for Juvenile I and Juvenile II size classes was 100% at all concentrations evaluated after 24 hours of recovery, and all animals resumed feeding.

#### **4 Discussion**

Benzocaine and menthol proved to be efficient for anesthesia of *A. nyassae*. Concentrations were found with induction times of less than 180 s and recovery times less than 300 s, as recommended by Keene et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008).

Benzocaine and menthol are anesthetics that require dilution in ethanol; however, this solvent has no induction effect and does not cause mortality in fish at low concentration (Junior et al. 2018, Ribeiro et al. 2019, Teta and Kaiser 2019), as also observed for fish in the control group of the present study.

In the benzocaine experiment, anesthetic efficiency for the Juvenile I size class was between the concentrations of 75 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, while for Juvenile II it was between 50 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; then providing induction and recovery times within the limits considered ideal for fish (Keene et al. 1998 and Ross and Ross 2008). During the process of anesthesia, and until a complete loss of swimming balance is achieved, anesthetic-related corticosteriods and catecholamines are released. Therefore, the faster that immobilization can occur, the less of these metabolites will be released in the organism (Rothwell et al. 2005). Thus, benzocaine concentrations of 108 and 112.85 mg L<sup>-1</sup> were calculated for Juvenile I and Juvenile II size classes, respectively. Values close to the concentrations of benzocaine indicated in this study have been reported for some species. Concentrations of 87.5 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> were recommended for common carp, Cyprinus carpio, weighing an average 1.9g (Bittencourt et al. 2012a), whereas concentrations ranging 110 - 160 mg L<sup>-1</sup> were recommended for angelfish, P. scalare, weighing an average of 16g (Romaneli et al. 2018). Ideal concentrations of benzocaine for juvenile pacamã, Lophiosilurus alexandri, with an average weight of 214g, were found to range  $60 - 120 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$  (Ribeiro et al. 2019). This variation in the concentration of a given anesthetic is related to fish size and species (Ross and Ross 2008; Fernandes et al. 2016; Tarkhani et al. 2017), as observed in the present study.

High survival (> 90%) was observed for the Juvenile I size class 24 hours after the benzocaine experiment. In addition, the surviving fish resumed feeding during this period. The recorded mortality was not associated with anesthetic toxicity, but rather with fights (bites) observed among animals in experimental units. Survival was 100% for the Juvenile II size class, and all animals fed normally after 24 hours. Benzocaine is a safe synthetic

anesthetic for fish and can be rapidly metabolized (Gontijo et al. 2003; Okamoto et al. 2009; Okamura et al. 2010), which may explain the high survival rates observed after its use. Junior et al. (2019) evaluated different concentrations of benzocaine for juvenile curimba, *P. lineatus*, and observed a survival rate of > 90%, 96-hours after the end of the study. However, for juvenile pacamã, *L. alexandri*, benzocaine concentrations of 60, 120, 240 and 480 mg L<sup>-1</sup> also did not cause mortality in fish 24 hours after the test (Ribeiro et al. 2019), demonstrating its efficiency for different species.

The present study demonstrated that the concentration of 25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol promoted deep anesthesia for Juvenile I and Juvenile II size classes, but it took longer than 180 s. For the other concentrations evaluated, however, induction was reached within 180 s, and recovery times were less than 300 s, as suggested by Keene et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008), with good anesthetic efficiency at concentrations of 122.25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and 93.83 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juvenile I and Juvenile II, respectively. Hoshiba et al. (2015) evaluated the anesthetic effect of menthol for juveniles of the platy *Xiphophorus maculatus* weighing an average of 0.168g and found that concentrations between 100 and 250 mg L<sup>-1</sup> had a safe effect. Similarly, menthol concentrations of 150 to 250 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for lambari, *Oligosarcus argenteus*, weighing an average of 11.3g (Uehara et al. 2019), were also found to be suitable for anesthesia management, which are close to the concentrations found in the present study.

In the menthol experiment, survival was 100% after 24 hours for both size classes of *A. nyassae* and all concentrations evaluated, with all animals resuming feeding. This high survival may be related to the product because it is natural and safe (Yadegarinia et al. 2006). Menthol concentrations of 50, 100, 150, 200 and 250 mg L<sup>-1</sup> did not cause mortality for the platy *X. maculatus* (Hoshiba et al. 2015). Evaluating different concentrations of menthol for juvenile curimba, *P. lineatus*, Junior et al. (2018) observed high survival (> 90%) after 96 hours of anesthetic recovery with all animals resuming feeding.

The present study was not able to establish a direct relationship between increasing benzocaine and menthol concentrations and reduced VF for the Juvenile I and Juvenile II size classes of *A. nyassae*, as was also observed by Silva et al. (2019). Ventilation frequency is a useful parameter for understanding how fish physiology responds to anesthetics (Alvarenga and Volpato 1995; Becker et al. 2012). According to Toni et al. (2014), increased VF was observed for the catfish *Rhamdia quelen* after some minutes of exposure to essential oils of

*Hesperozygis ringens* and *Lippia alba*. This hyperventilation is common in fish and is associated with increased oxygen consumption during anesthesia (Summerfelt and Smith 1990). Generally, after initial contact with an anesthetic, VF values decrease considerably (Becker et al. 2012). In contrast, Becker et al. (2018) did not observe any differences in VF values for the catfish *R. quelen* exposed to essential oils of *L. alba* and *L. origanoides* compared to the control group. According to these authors, difficulty in establishing a general increase or decrease response of VF when using anesthetics can be explained by species-specific responses, which is also apparent from the present study.

### **5** Conclusion

Benzocaine and menthol proved to be effective anesthetics for juvenile *A. nyassae*. The recommended concentrations of benzocaine are between 75 to 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juvenile I and between 50 to 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juvenile II size classes. For menthol, concentrations between 50 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> can be used for both juvenile size classes.

#### **Funding information**

The present research was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-Brazil), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-Brazil) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG-Brazil). LUZ, R.K. received a research grant from the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq No. 308547/2018-7).

### **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

## **Ethical approval**

All applicable international, national, and/or institutional guidelines for the care and use of animals were followed by the authors.

#### **6** References

- Alvarenga CMD, Volpato GL (1995) Agonistic profile and metabolism in alevins of the Nile tilapia. Physiol Behav 57(1):75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)00206-K
- Barton BA (2002) Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integr Comp Biol 42(3):517-525. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.3.517
- Becker AG, Parodi TV, Heldwein CG, Zeppenfeld CC, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2012) Transportation of silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*, in water with eugenol and the essential oil of *Lippia alba*. Fish Physiol Biochem 38(3):789-796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9562-4
- Becker AJ, Fogliarini CDO, Souza CDF, Becker AG, Mourão RHV, Silva LVFD, Baldisserotto B (2018) Ventilatory frequency and anesthetic efficacy in silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*: a comparative approach between different essential oils. R Bras Zootec 47:e20170185. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170185
- Bittencourt F, Souza BED, Neu DH, Rarato RR, Boscolo WR, Feiden A (2013) Eugenol e benzocaina como anestesicos para juvenis de *Cyprinus carpio* Linnaeus, 1758 (Carpa Comum). R Bras Cienc Agrar 8(1):163-167. https://doi.org/10.5039/agraria.v8i1a2225
- Facanha MF, Gomes LC (2005) A eficácia do mentol como anestésico para Tambaqui (Colossoma macropomum, Characiformes: Characidae). Acta Amaz 35(1):71-75. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0044-59672005000100011
- Fernandes IM, Bastos YF, Barreto DS, Lourenço LS, Penha JM (2016) The efficacy of clove oil as an anaesthetic and in euthanasia procedure for small-sized tropical fishes. Braz J Biol 77(3):444-450. https://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.15015
- Gontijo AMDMC, Barreto RE, Speit G, Reyes VAV, Volpato GL, Salvadori DMF (2003) Anesthesia of fish with benzocaine does not interfere with comet assays results. Mutat Res 534(1-2):165-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5718(02)00276-0
- Hoshiba MA, Dias RMS, Moreira KMF, Cunha L, Geraldo AMR, Tamajusuku ASK (2015) Clove oil and menthol as anesthetic for platy. Bol Inst Pesca 41:737-742.
- Junior EFDM, Uehara SA, Rodrigues EC, Palheta GDA, Melo NFACD, Freire LDS, Takata R (2018) Menthol and eugenol as natural anesthetics for early juveniles of curimba. R Bras Zootec 47:e20170266. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170266

- Junior EFDM, Uehara SA, Freitas TM, Melo NFAC, Palheta GDA, Takata R (2019) Effectiveness of benzocaine as anesthetic at different water temperatures for early juvenile curimba (*Prochilodus lineatus* Valenciennes, 1836), a neotropical fish species. Bol Inst Pesca 45:e474. https://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305.2019.45.3.474
- Keene JI, Noakes DIG, Moccia RD, Soto GC (1998) The efficacy of clove oil as an anesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquac Res 29(2):89-101. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.1998.00927.x
- King HR (2009) Fish transport in the aquaculture sector: An overview of the road transport of Atlantic salmon in Tasmania. J Vet Behav Clinical Applications and Research 4(4):163-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.09.034
- Morgan JD, Iwama GK (1997) Measurements of stressed states in thefield. In fish stress and health in aquaculture (Iwama GK, Pickering AD, Sumpter JP, Shreck CB (eds) Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, pp247-268
- Okamoto MH, Tesser MB, Louzada LR, Santos RA, Sampaio LA (2009) Benzocaína e eugenol como anestésicos para juvenis do pampo (*Trachinotus marginatus*). Cienc Rural 39(3):866-870. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782008005000100
- Okamura D, Araújo FGD, Rosa PV, Freitas RTFD, Murgas LDS, Cesar MP (2010) Effect of benzocaine concentration and fish size on anesthesia and recovery in Nile tilapia. R Bras Zootec 39(5):971-976. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1516-35982010000500005
- Oliveira CPB, Paixao LCH, Silva AF, Souza SA, Albinati ACL, Lima AO, Copatti CE (2019) Use of eugenol for the anaesthesia and transportation of freshwater angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare*). Aquaculture 513:e734409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734409
- Padua SB, Ventura AS, Satake F, Ishikawa MM, Hisano H, Rotta MA, Arantes FC (2012) Respostas hematológicas em tuvira após anestesia com diferentes concentrações de óleo de cravo. Bol Inst Pesca 38(3):181-188
- Patel T, Ishiuji Y, Yosipovitch G (2007) Menthol: a refreshing look at this ancient compound. J Am Acad Dermatol 57(5):873-878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2007.04.008

Pickering AD (ed) (1981) Stress and fish. Academic Press, New York

- Ribeiro PAP, Miranda FKC, Melillo FR, Santos AEH, Silva WDS, Rodrigues LA, Luz RK (2013) Efeito anestésico do eugenol em juvenis de pacamã. Pesqui Agropecu Bras 48(8):1136-1139. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800048
- Ribeiro PAP, Miranda FKC, Melo DCD, Luz RK (2015) Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early life stages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). An Acad Bras Cienc 87(1):529-535. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/00013765201520140024
- Ribeiro PAP, Melo HDC, Oliveira CG, Della FMAL, Luz RK (2019) Eugenol and benzocaine as anesthetics for *Lophiosilurus alexandri* juvenile, a freshwater carnivorous catfish. Aquac Int 27(1):313-321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-018-0326-3
- Romaneli RDS, Boaratti AZ, Rodrigues AT, Queiroz DMDA, Khan KU, Nascimento TMT, Mansano CFM (2018) Efficacy of benzocaine, eugenol and menthol as anesthetics for freshwater Angelfish. J Aquat Anim Health 30(3):210-216. https://doi.org/10.1002/aah.10030
- Ross LG, Ross B (2008) Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Blackwell Science, Oxford, United Kingdom
- Rothwell SE, Black SE, Jerrett AR, Forster ME (2005) Cardiovascular changes and catecholamine release following anesthesia in Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawy tscha*) and snapper (*Pagrus auratus*). Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol 140(3):289-298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2005.01.007
- Schwalbe MAB, Bassett DK, Webb JF (2012) Feeding in the dark: lateral-line-mediated prey detection in the peacock cichlid *Aulonocara stuartgranti*. J Exp Biol 215(12):2060-2071. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.065920
- Silva HNPD, Carvalho BCFD, Maia JLDS, Becker AG, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Silva LVFD (2019) Anesthetic potential of the essential oils of *Lippia alba* and *Lippia* origanoides in tambaqui juveniles. Cienc Rural 49:e20181059. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20181059
- Summerfelt RC, Smith LS (1990) Anesthesia, surgery, and related techniques. In: Schreck CB, Moyle PB (eds) Methods for fish biology. Bethesda, Maryland, pp213-272

- Tarkhani R, Imani A, Jamali H, Farsani HG (2017) Anaesthetic efficacy of eugenol on various size classes of angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare* Schultze, 1823). Aquac Res 48(10):5263-5270. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13339
- Teta C, Kaiser H (2019) Menthol as an alternative anaesthetic and sedative for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Afr J Aquat Sci 44(1):71-76. https://doi:10.2989/16085914.2018.1548342
- Toni C, Becker AG, Simões LN, Pinheiro CG, Lima-Silva L, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2014) Fish anesthesia: effects of the essential oils of *Hesperozygis ringens* and *Lippia alba* on the biochemistry and physiology of silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Fish Physiol Biochem 40(3):701-714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9877-4
- Uehara SA, Andrade DR, Takata R, Junior AG, Vidal MV (2019) The effectiveness of tricaine, benzocaine, clove oil, and menthol as anesthetics for lambari-bocarra *Oligosarcus argenteus*. Aquaculture 502:326-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.054
- Weber ES (2011) Fish analgesia: pain, stress, fear aversion, or nociception? Vet Clin N Am: Exotic Animal Practice Journal 14(1):21-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvex.2010.09.002
- Wendelaar Bonga SE (1997) The Stress Response in Fish. Physiol Rev 77(3):591-625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591
- Woody CA, Nelson J, Ramstad K (2002) Clove oil as anaesthetic for adult sockeye salmon: field trials. J Fish Biol 60(2):340-347. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2002.tb00284.x
- Yadegarinia D, Gachkar L, Rezaei MB, Taghizadeh M, Astaneh SA, Rasooli I (2006) Biochemical activities of Iranian *Mentha piperita* L. and *Myrtus communis* L. essential oils. Phytochemistry 67(12):1249-1255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phytochem.2006.04.025

## 6.0 ARTIGO 2

# Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for *Piaractus brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818): Induction and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical responses

Artigo publicado na revista Aquaculture https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737076

#### Abstract

This work evaluated the use of eugenol and menthol as anesthesia for juvenile Piaractus brachypomus. Experiment I determined the times for anesthesia induction and recovery using different concentrations of eugenol and menthol (0, 25, 50, 75, 100 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>), as well as their effects on ventilation frequency (VF) for two size classes: Juveniles I -  $0.87 \pm 0.20$  g and Juveniles II -  $17.14 \pm 3.27$  g for eugenol and Juveniles I -  $0.83 \pm 21$  g and Juveniles II -16.83 ± 2.78 g for menthol. Based on data from Experiment I, Experiment II evaluated the effects of 0, 25 (beyond the recommended times for induction and recovery) and 50 mg  $L^{-1}$ (within the recommended times for induction and recovery) of eugenol and menthol (independent tests) on hematological and biochemical parameters of fish measured at two blood collection times (1 h post-induction and 24 h post-recovery). Sixty juveniles weighing  $16.92 \pm 3.34$  g and 60 juveniles weighing  $18.49 \pm 3.07$  g were used to evaluate eugenol and menthol, respectively. Survival was 100% at 24 h after the end of Experiment I. Eugenol concentrations between 50 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> were able to induce deep anesthesia for both juvenile size classes, while menthol was able to induce deep anesthesia at concentrations between 25 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juveniles I and between 50 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Juveniles II. The use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol was able to reduce VF during recovery and prevent an increase in plasma glucose while having little influence on hematological and biochemical parameters after handling. The use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol also reduced VF during recovery and did not cause changes in blood parameters that would be harmful to fish physiology.

Key words: Pirapitinga, Welfare, Handling, Essential oils

#### **1. Introduction**

Routine procedures performed in fish farms and handling for experimental sampling are necessary in aquaculture (Cunha et al., 2010; Oliveira et al., 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2019). These managements, if performed incorrectly, can damage animals (Gholipourkanani and Ahadizadeh, 2013; Bowker et al., 2019) and increase susceptibility to infectious diseases (Gimbo et al., 2008) and even cause death. Thus, anesthesia has been an effective management to minimize stress or physical damage during various aquaculture procedures (Velisek et al., 2011; Javahery et al., 2012; Teixeira et al., 2017; Bahi et al., 2018). Anesthetics are chemical or physical agents that first induce a calming effect in fish, which is followed by the loss of mobility, balance and consciousness and the occurrence of analgesia (Summerfelt and Smith, 1990; Ross and Ross, 2008).

Some essential oils extracted from plants have anesthetic and/or sedative effects on fish and, depending on the concentration, their chemical composition and chemotype have been shown to reduce biochemical, hematological and endocrine alterations, thus improving animal welfare status (Strange and Schreck, 1978; Souza et al., 2019a; Boaventura et al., 2020; Boaventura et al., 2021a). In this sense, eugenol is the most commonly used plant anesthetic in aquaculture (Vidal et al., 2008; Aydın and Barbas, 2020). Eugenol is one of the ingredients of clove oil, which is a distillate of parts of plants of the genus Eugenia (Eugenia caryophyllata and Eugenia aromatica) (Lee and Shibamoto, 2001). Its anesthetic effect was demonstrated for Piaractus brachypomus with an average weight of 256 g (Martins et al., 2014), and for other species, such as Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (Simões et al., 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2015); pacu, Piaractus mesopotamicus (Rotili et al., 2012); and pacamã, Lophiosilurus alexandri (Ribeiro et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2019). Another alternative agent that has been used in fish anesthesia is menthol, an essential oil extracted from plants of the genus Mentha (Matos, 2000; Patel et al., 2007). This compound demonstrated efficacy in the anesthesia of P. brachypomus with an average weight of 2 g (Zapata Guerra et al., 2020), and for other species, such as tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum* (Façanha and Gomes, 2005); pacu, P. mesopotamicus (Gonçalves et al., 2008); Nile tilapia, O. niloticus (Teixeira et al., 2011); curimba, Prochilodus lineatus (Medeiros et al., 2018); and lambari-bocarra, Oligosarcus argenteus (Uehara et al., 2019).

However, the ideal concentration of a given anesthetic can vary according to species and animal size (Ross and Ross, 2008; Teixeira et al., 2011; Ribeiro et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2015; Tarkhani et al., 2017). In addition, anesthetic efficiency for fish is associated with a short anesthesia induction time (<180 seconds) and a fast recovery time (<300 seconds), as suggested by Keene et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008). Thus, it is necessary to validate an anesthetic before its use (King, 2009).

Pirapitinga, *P. brachypomus*, is a freshwater species belonging to the order Characiformes, that is generally found naturally in the Orinoco, Amazonas and La Plata (Paraná-Paraguai) basins (Schultz, 1944). The species has commercial importance with prominence in Central America, Brazil, Colombia, Peru and Venezuela (Nascimento et al., 2010; Jorge et al., 2018). However, there is a lack of published studies on the effects of eugenol and menthol for this species, including on hematological and biochemical responses after handling stress.

Thus, the objective of this work was to evaluate different concentrations of eugenol and menthol for induction and recovery of two size classes of juvenile *P. brachypomus*, as well as their effects on ventilation frequency and hematological and biochemical parameters.

#### 2. Material and methods

The experiments were performed at Laboratório de Aquacultura (Laqua) of the Escola de Veterinária (EV), Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), and the methodology was approved by the Comitê de Ética no Uso de Animais, Process 159/2020.

#### 2.1 Animals and environmental acclimation

Juvenile *P. brachypomus* were previously acclimatized for two weeks in water basins with a useful volume of 32 L, in a water recirculation system (RAS) at a density of 10 fish basin<sup>-1</sup>. Smaller juveniles were fed commercial mash containing 460.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein, 80 g kg<sup>-1</sup> ether extract, 140 g kg<sup>-1</sup> mineral matter, 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> calcium, and 15 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phosphorus, as reported by the manufacturer, two times a day (09:00 and 15:00 h) until apparent satiety. Larger juveniles were fed 2.6-mm diameter commercial feed containing 360.0 g kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein, 70 g kg<sup>-1</sup> ether extract, 140 g kg<sup>-1</sup> mineral matter, 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> calcium and 6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> phosphorus, twice a day (09:00 and 15:00 h) until apparent satiety. The water of the RAS was renewed twice a week at 30% of its useful volume and water quality parameters

were measured three times a week, before the first feeding, and their values expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. For the culture system of younger juveniles, the temperature remained at 26.93  $\pm$  0.85 °C, pH between 7.38  $\pm$  0.25 (measured with a Hanna HI98130 multi-parameter probe), dissolved oxygen at 8.56  $\pm$  0.43 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, (EcoSense® DO200A oximeter), and total ammonia at 0.11  $\pm$  0.06 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Alfakit Labcon Test colorimetric kit). As for the culture system of the larger juveniles, the temperature remained around 26.41  $\pm$  0.97 °C, pH between 7.57  $\pm$  0.24, dissolved oxygen at 10.51  $\pm$  0.34 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and total ammonia at 0.17  $\pm$  0.09 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. The fish were fasted 24 h before the tests. The anesthetics used in the experiments were eugenol (99% purity, Escama Forte®) and menthol (99% purity, CRQ-1006310100). Anesthetic concentrations were prepared by dilution in 5 mL ethyl alcohol (98.1% purity), and the control consisted of ethyl alcohol without anesthetic (Ribeiro et al., 2015).

**Experiment 1.** Anesthetic effects of eugenol and menthol on juvenile *Piaractus* brachypomus

Two juvenile sizes classes were used in the eugenol experiment: Juveniles I - 60 fish weighing  $0.87 \pm 0.20$  g (36.48 ± 2.82 mm); and Juveniles II - 60 fish weighing  $17.14 \pm 3.27$  g (97.93 ± 6.77 mm). Two juvenile size classes were also used in the menthol experiment: Juveniles I - 60 fish weighing  $0.83 \pm 0.21$  g (36.61 ± 3.39 mm); and Juveniles II - 60 fish weighing  $16.83 \pm 2.78$  g (98.74 ± 5.76 mm). Six concentrations of each anesthetic (eugenol and menthol) were evaluated for each size class — 0 (control - ethyl alcohol only), 25, 50, 75, 100 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. The experiments were conducted independently for each size class and anesthetic, using a completely randomized design with 10 animals for each concentration, with each animal being considered a replicate.

Most anesthesia protocols in the literature have shown that deep anesthesia and sedation is suitable for the handling and transport of fish (Souza et al., 2019; Aydin and Barbas, 2020). Thus, for analysis of anesthesia induction and recovery, fish were fasted and then randomly captured one at a time and placed in a 1-L beaker containing the anesthetic and concentration to be evaluated. Fish in the control group were observed for 10 min (Ferreira et al., 2020). Anesthesia induction time was measured with a digital timer (Akson AK68) and the animals were considered anesthetized when they reached the stage of deep anesthesia,

which was basically characterized by the absence of swimming and loss of balance and consciousness (Small, 2003; Ross and Ross, 2008). The effect of analgesia was not evaluated in this study. The ventilation frequency (VF) of the fish was evaluated from the beginning of induction anesthesia by counting the number of opercular beats per minute (adapted from Alvarenga and Volpato 1995). After reaching deep anesthesia, the fish were weighed on an analytical balance (Marte AD5002) and measured with a digital caliper (Starret® 799), a procedure (biometric handling) that took about 40 seconds. The fish were then transferred individually to a 1-L beaker with clean water (from the RAS itself) for anesthetic recovery, during which VF was also evaluated. Fish were considered recovered when they showed movements and normal swimming balance (Small, 2003; Ross and Ross, 2008).

At the end of the experiment, the fish of each size class and anesthetic were allocated to their original experimental units to observe their return to feeding and survival after 48 h. During this period the animals were fed twice a day until apparent satiety.

**Experiment 2.** Hematological and biochemical responses after handling of juvenile *Piaractus brachypomus* anesthetized with eugenol and menthol

Based on the results of Experiment 1 for the larger juveniles (Juveniles II size classes), new tests were performed using the concentrations of 0 (control ethyl alcohol only), 25 and 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol and menthol. The concentrations of 25 and 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> were chosen because they were beyond and within, respectively, the induction and recovery times considered ideal for fish (Keene et al., 1998; Ross and Ross, 2008). In this experiment, 60 juveniles with an average weight of  $16.92 \pm 3.34$  g (99.98  $\pm$  7.52 mm) and 60 juveniles with an average weight of  $18.49 \pm 3.07$  g and ( $101.50 \pm 5.81$  mm) were used for the independent tests with eugenol and menthol, respectively. All fish were fasted for 24 h and tests were performed independently for each anesthetic (eugenol and menthol) using a completely randomized design with each fish being considered a replicate. The procedures were the same as those described for Experiment 1. However, in this experiment blood samples were collected from 10 fish for each concentration and anesthetic at 1 h post-induction and 24 h post-recovery, using a completely randomized design in a factorial arrangement ( $3 \times 2$ ). For blood collection, the fish were captured and restrained with a damp cloth while approximately 500 µL of blood was collected by caudal puncture using heparinized syringes.

Blood aliquots were used to measure hematocrit (%) and hemoglobin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>). Hematocrit was measured by centrifuging capillary tubes at 10,000-rpm (Microline-Laborline®) for 10 minutes, as described by Goldenfarb et al. (1971). Hemoglobin was analyzed by adding and homogenizing 10  $\mu$ L of blood in 2 mL of working reagent (Bioclin®), followed by reading on a UV/Vis spectrophotometer (Biochrom Libra S21 – S22). Biochemical analyses were performed by centrifuging blood at 4,000 rpm for 10 min. Plasma protein (g dL<sup>-1</sup>) was determined using a Goldberg manual refractometer, while plasma glucose (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), triglyceride (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) and cholesterol (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) were determined using commercial kits (Bioclin®), followed by reading on a UV/Vis spectrophotometer (Biochrom Libra S22).

#### 2.2 Statistical analysis

Data were tested for normality (Shapiro Wilk) and homoscedasticity of variances (Levene Test). Anesthesia induction and recovery times were submitted to ANOVA followed by applying regression analyses to better adjust the model (P < 0.05). Blood variables were submitted to two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test (P < 0.05). Data analyses were performed with R and SAS software.

#### 3. Results

#### **Experiment** I

## Eugenol

Induction time for the Juveniles I size class showed a linear response plateau effect (P <0.05) among eugenol concentrations (Fig. 1A), with an inflection point at 72.90 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, beyond which induction time was constant. Recovery time for Juveniles I showed a direct linear effect (P <0.05) among concentrations (Fig. 1B) and ranged 155-368 seconds.



**Figure 1.** Time required for anesthesia induction (A, C) and recovery (B, D) for juvenile *Piaractus brachypomus* using different concentrations eugenol.

Induction time for Juveniles II showed a linear response plateau effect (P < 0.05) among eugenol concentrations (Fig. 1C), with an inflection point at 72.10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, beyond which induction time was constant. The recovery time for Juveniles II also showed a linear response plateau effect (P < 0.05) among eugenol concentrations (Fig. 1D), with an inflection point at 66.70 mg L<sup>-1</sup>.

Eugenol concentrations had no effect on VF during induction of Juveniles I (P > 0.05) (Table 1). During recovery of Juveniles I, VF exhibited a quadratic effect among the evaluated concentrations (P < 0.05) with a maximum at 70.95 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (56.63 beats min<sup>-1</sup>). Eugenol concentrations had no effect on VF during induction of Juveniles II (P > 0.05) (Table 1). During recovery of Juveniles II, VF exhibited a quadratic effect among the evaluated concentrations (P < 0.05) with a maximum at 65.02 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (80.93 beats min<sup>-1</sup>).

	Juvenile I (0.87 ± 0.20 g)			
Concentration of Eugenol (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Induction ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )	Recovery ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )*		
25	$77.89 \pm 14.54$	$51.81 \pm 13.48$		
50	$90.48 \pm 19.07$	$49.10 \pm 13.20$		
75	$84.39 \pm 20.53$	$55.16 \pm 8.63$		
100	$96.17 \pm 24.91$	$61.39 \pm 11.88$ $42.02 \pm 12.16$		
125	$95.70\pm30.08$			
Equation	ns	$y = -0.0038x^2 + 0.5392x + 37.502$		
$R^2$	-	0.4063		
Inflection point	-	70.95		
	Juvenile II (17.14 ± 3.27 g)			
Concentration of Eugenol (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Induction ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )	Recovery ventilation frequency (beats $min^{-1}$ )*		
25	$74.37 \pm 10.49$	$67.70 \pm 6.59$		
50	$85.38 \pm 17.61$	$74.13 \pm 15.59$		
75	$89.06 \pm 16.41$	$68.44 \pm 11.23$		
100	$83.95 \pm 18.95$	$67.57 \pm 13.43$		
125	$87.98 \pm 18.17$	$48.16 \pm 17.35$		
Equation	ns	$y = -0.0092x^2 + 1.1964x + 42.037$		
$R^2$	-	0.9314		
Inflection point	-	65.02		

Table 1. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for ventilation frequency during anesthesia using different concentrations of eugenol and two size classes of *Piaractus brachypomus* 

ns: no significant. \*Significance denoted as (P < 0.05).

Survival for both classes of juveniles was 100% for all eugenol concentrations after 48 h of recovery, and all animals resumed feeding within 24 h after testing.

## Menthol

Induction time for the Juveniles I size class showed a linear response plateau effect (P <0.05) among concentrations (Fig. 2A), with an inflection point at 72.7 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, beyond which induction time was constant. Recovery time for Juveniles I showed a quadratic effect among concentrations (P <0.05) (Fig. 2B) with a minimum at 41 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (122 seconds).



**Figure 2.** Time required for anesthesia induction (A, C) and recovery (B, D) for juvenile *Piaractus brachypomus* using different concentrations menthol.

Induction time for Juveniles II showed a linear response plateau effect (P < 0.05) among menthol concentrations (Fig. 2C), with an inflection point at 72.2 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Recovery

time for Juveniles II showed a quadratic effect among concentrations (P < 0.05) (Fig. 2D) with a minimum at 59 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol (172 seconds).

Menthol concentrations had no effect on VF during induction of Juveniles I (P> 0.05) (Table 2). During recovery of Juveniles I, VF exhibited a quadratic effect among the evaluated concentrations (P < 0.05) with a maximum at 71.23 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (64.80 beats min<sup>-1</sup>). Menthol concentrations had no effect on VF during induction of Juveniles II (P> 0.05) (Table 2). During recovery of Juveniles II, VF exhibited a quadratic effect among the evaluated concentrations (P < 0.05) with a maximum at 59.86 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (66.46 beats min<sup>-1</sup>).

	Juvenile I $(0.83 \pm 0.21 \text{ g})$			
Concentration of Menthol (mg $L^{-1}$ )	Induction ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )	Recovery ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )*		
25	$71.60 \pm 13.35$	$63.20 \pm 13.17$		
50	$93.20 \pm 18.02$	$64.78 \pm 11.77$		
75	$83.80 \pm 18.95$	$68.20 \pm 10.48$		
100	$99.13 \pm 20.07$	$61.50 \pm 13.83$		
125	$97.78 \pm 21.63$	$46.40\pm9.85$		
Equation	ns	$y = -0.0037x^2 + 0.5271x + 46.032$		
$\mathbb{R}^2$	-	0.7536		
Inflection point	<u> </u>	71.23		
	Juvenile II (16.83 ± 2.78 g)			
Concentration of Menthol (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Induction ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )	Recovery ventilation frequency (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )*		
25	$57.49 \pm 12.71$	$55.24 \pm 10.22$		
50	$76.49 \pm 16.63$	$66.69 \pm 9.35$		
75	$74.73 \pm 20.68$	$64.32 \pm 14.00$		
100	$84.30 \pm 18.29$	$62.34 \pm 10.45$		
125	$81.83\pm24.07$	$59.39 \pm 10.43$		
Equation	ns	$y = -0.0046x^2 + 0.5507x + 49.976$		
$\mathbb{R}^2$	-	0.8276		
Inflection point	-	59.86		

**Table 2.** Values (mean ± standard deviation) for ventilation frequency during anesthesia using different concentrations of methanol and two size classes of *Piaractus brachypomus*.

ns: no significant. \*Significance denoted as (P < 0.05).

Survival for both classes of juveniles was 100% for all menthol concentrations after 48 h of recovery, and all animals resumed feeding within 24 h after testing.

## Experiment II

#### Hematology and blood biochemistry

#### Eugenol

There was no interaction between eugenol concentration and blood collection time (P> 0.05) (Table 3) for all evaluated variables. There were also no differences among concentrations and between collection times for hemoglobin, protein and cholesterol (P> 0.05). Hematocrit values did not differ significantly (P> 0.05) among eugenol concentrations. However, higher hematocrit values were observed 1 h post-anesthesia, which reduced after 24 h of recovery (P < 0.05). Glucose was highest for juveniles submitted to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol (control) (P < 0.05) and lowest for 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Glucose levels did not differ significantly between collection times (P> 0.05). Fish anesthetized with 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol had lower triglyceride values while higher values were observed for 25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P < 0.05). Triglyceride levels did not differ significantly between collection times (P> 0.05).

		Hemoglobin	Hematocrit	Protein	Glucose	Triglycerides	Cholesterol
		$(g dL^{-1})$	(%)	$(g dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$
Concentrations							
$(mg L^{-1})$	0 (Control)	$6.59\pm0.80$	$11.38 \pm 1.69$	$6.30 \pm 1.43$	$80.40 \pm 7.07 \; a$	$126.02 \pm 23.72 \text{ ab}$	$129.24\pm25.54$
	25	$6.57\pm0.78$	$11.39\pm5.18$	$6.26\ \pm 0.85$	$76.79\pm8.59\ ab$	$139.18 \pm 24.85$ a	$120.5\pm12.65$
	50	$6.67\pm0.67$	$9.75\pm2.25$	$5.63\pm0.38$	$70.64\pm8.59~b$	$111.69 \pm 20.52$ b	$120.49\pm17.98$
Collection time (h)	1	$6.81{\pm}0.73$	$12.5 \pm 3.85$ a	$5.73 \pm 0.29$	$77.32\pm9.68$	$128.14\pm30.45$	$127.63\pm20.95$
	24	$6.40\pm0.70$	$9.17\pm1.59~b$	$6.39 \pm 1.32$	$74.56\pm8.03$	$123.12\pm19.03$	$119.20\pm17.16$
Overall aver	rage	$6.61{\pm}0.75$	$10.84\pm3.04$	$6.06\pm0.81$	$75.94 \pm 8.85$	$125.63 \pm 24.74$	$123.42 \pm 29.53$
P-value Concentra	ations (A)	0.94	0.42	0.22	0.02	0.01	0.46
P-value Collection	n time (B)	0.11	0.009	0.07	0.32	0.50	0.21
P-value Interaction	on (A x B)	0.98	0.12	0.06	0.60	0.09	0.90
CV (%)		11.45	25.74	14.00	10.84	17.73	16.05

Table 3. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) of hematological and biochemistry parameters at two blood collection times for *Piaractus brachypomus* submitted to different concentrations of eugenol.

Means followed by different letters in a column differ by Tukey test (P < 0.05); CV = Coefficient of variation.

#### Menthol

There was no interaction between menthol concentration and blood collection time (P > 0.05) (Table 4) for all evaluated variables. There were also no differences among concentrations and between collection times for hemoglobin and triglycerides (P > 0.05). However, fish submitted to 25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol had higher hematocrit values than did those submitted to 0 and 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P < 0.05), but with no difference between collection times (P > 0.05). Plasma protein and cholesterol levels did not differ significantly (P > 0.05) among menthol concentrations. However, lower values for these variables were observed at 1 h postanesthesia, which increased after 24 h (P < 0.05). Plasma glucose levels were higher 1 h postanesthesia and reduced after 24 h (P < 0.05).

		Hemoglobin	Hematocrit	Protein	Glucose	Triglycerides	Cholesterol
		$(g dL^{-1})$	(%)	$(g dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$	$(mg dL^{-1})$
Concentrations							
(mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	0 (Control)	$7.27 \pm 1.01$	$10.13 \pm 1.81 \text{ b}$	$5.70\pm0.81$	$75.36\pm7.11$	$121.97\pm31.59$	$125.20\pm17.96$
	25	$7.43 \pm 0.90$	$15.25 \pm 4.41$ a	$5.60\pm0.38$	$78.11 \pm 8.15$	$109.99 \pm 18.61$	$123.48\pm11.12$
	50	$7.16\pm0.57$	$10.00\pm3.96~b$	$5.51\pm\ 0.30$	$74.74\pm8.75$	$129.54\pm15.97$	$128.22\pm15.86$
Collection time (h)	1	$7.22\pm0.69$	$12.83\pm3.42$	$5.23\pm0.29~b$	$81.20 \pm 6.83$ a	$120.64 \pm 26.20$	$120.61 \pm 13.26$ b
	24	$7.35\pm0.97$	$10.75\pm4.58$	$5.98 \pm 0.43$ a	$70.94\pm5.24~b$	$120.36\pm22.03$	130.67 ± 15.17 a
Overall ave	erage	$7.28 \pm 0.83$	$11.79 \pm 4.00$	$5.61 \pm 0.36$	$76.07\pm6.02$	$120.50\pm24.12$	$125.64 \pm 14.22$
P-value Concentr	ations (A)	0.75	0.0078	0.56	0.38	0.12	0.70
P-value Collection	on time (B)	0.64	0.14	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.97	0.03
P-value Interaction	on (A x B)	0.77	0.71	0.09	0.84	0.19	0.09
CV (%)	)	12.08	28.32	6.18	8.20	19.04	11.04

Table 4. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) of hematological and biochemistry parameters at two blood collection times for *Piaractus brachypomus* submitted to different concentrations of menthol.

Means followed by different letters in a column differ by Tukey test (P < 0.05); CV = Coefficient of variation.

#### 4. Discussion

Experiment I found the use of eugenol and menthol to be efficient and safe for the anesthesia of juvenile *P. brachypomus* of different sizes, with induction and recovery times within acceptable limits for fish and minimal effects on hematological and biochemical parameters. These substances were also shown to be effective anesthetics (for loss consciousness) for individuals of this same species weighing 2 g (Zapata Guerra et al., 2020) and 256 g (Martins et al., 2014), which demonstrates good effects of these drugs for this species.

As anesthetics, these substances require dilution in ethanol; nonetheless, in low concentrations this solvent has no inducing effect and does not cause mortality in fish (Ribeiro et al., 2013; Teta and Kaiser, 2019; Ferreira et al., 2020), as also observed for fish in the control group of the present study. The survival of juvenile P. brachypomus at 48 postanesthesia was 100% for both anesthetics and all tested concentrations and all animals resumed feeding. Working with P. brachypomus with an average weight of 256 g, Martins et al. (2014) also recorded 100% survival after anesthesia using eugenol in concentrations from 50 to 75 mg L-<sup>1</sup>. Eugenol also did not cause mortality when evaluated for Oreochromis niloticus (Ribeiro et al., 2015), Brycon amazonicus (Barbosa et al., 2007) and L. alexandri (Ribeiro et al., 2019), demonstrating efficiency for different species. However, high concentrations of eugenol, such as 250 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, can cause necrosis in the gills of fish (Abdel-Fattah et al., 2005). Zapata Guerra et al. (2020) found that menthol (50 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) was able to prevent the activation of the stress response in P. brachypomus, when compared to eugenol, and without mortality. Menthol has also shown anesthetic efficacy for other species, such as Prochilodus lineatus (Medeiros et al., 2018), Poecilia reticulata (Cunha et al., 2020) and Aulonocara nyassae (Ferreira et al., 2020). Eugenol and menthol also did not cause mortality when used as anesthetics for P. mesopotamicus (Gonçalves et al., 2008) and Oligosarcus argenteus (Uehara et al., 2019). However, continuous periods of exposure (> 6 min) to high concentrations of menthol above 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> can alter receptors and, consequently, cause mortality in fish (Pereira da Silva et al., 2014). In general, the use of natural plant-based anesthetics has shown benefits in mitigating the effects of stress caused by the handling and transport of fish (Souza et al., 2019; Boaventura et al., 2020; Boaventura et al., 2021a). However, anesthetic composition and, consequently, its effects may vary according to the variety of the plant and the climate, place of collection, plant part from which the EO was extracted and plant chemotype (Souza et al., 2019).

According to Marking and Meyer (1985) and Keene et al. (1998), an ideal anesthetic for fish should induce anesthesia within 180 seconds and promote recovery within 300 seconds. Based on these recommendations, the use of eugenol in the present study, for both size classes of juvenile *P. brachypomus*, indicates concentrations between 50 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Despite the size difference, these concentrations are close to those found for P. brachypomus weighing 256 g (50 to 75 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) (Martins et al., 2014). Variation found in the ideal eugenol concentration for L. alexandri weighing 171 g (80 to 160 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) (Ribeiro et al., 2019), O. niloticus weighing 5 g (75 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) (Vidal et al., 2008) and O. argenteus weighing 11 g (50 to 75 mg  $L^{-1}$ ) (Uehara et al., 2019) emphasizes the need for assessing each species at different stages of development. For the use of menthol, the concentrations indicated for the Juveniles I size class were between 25 and 100 mg  $L^{-1}$ , while for Juveniles II they were between 50 and 125 mg  $L^{-1}$ . Despite the size difference, these concentrations were close to that found for P. brachypomus weighing 2 g (50 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) (Zapata Guerra et al., 2020), and for other species such as P. mesopotamicus weighing 110 g (100 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) (Gonçalves et al., 2008), A. nyassae weighing 1 g (50 to 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) (Ferreira et al., 2020) and O. argenteus weighing 11 g (50 to  $100 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$ ) (Uehara et al., 2019).

Measuring VF is a non-evasive method that can be useful in understanding the physiology of fish when using anesthetics (Alvarenga and Volpato, 1995). The different concentrations of the evaluated anesthetics (eugenol and menthol) had no significant effects on VF during induction of juvenile *P. brachypomus*. During recovery, however, the concentration of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for both anesthetics caused a reduction in VF for the different classes of juvenile *P. brachypomus*, which corresponds to the minimum concentration that should be recommended for this species. Thus, it was possible to immobilize the animal in a safe and quiet manner (for the fish and the manipulator) for biometric handling. Hajek (2010) did not observe differences in ventilation disturbances for the common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L., during different periods of anesthesia with tea tree oil (0.5 mL L<sup>-1</sup>), however, weak, irregular ventilatory movements were observed during the first minutes of recovery, after which animals regained a continuous breathing pattern with increasing ventilation frequency.

Some researchers describe the behavior of VF responses of fishes with the use of anesthetics as potentially being related to the specific characteristics of each species. According to Silva et al. (2019), juvenile *C. macropomum* in deep anesthesia with the use of essential oil of *Lippia alba* EOLA-C (chemotype citral) presented the lowest VF at 50  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>, followed by 100 to 200  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>. However, sedation with essential oil of *L. alba* EOLA-L (chemotype linalool) did not change the VF of fish. Furthermore, we recently observed in another study of ours that the VF of the African cichlid *A. nyassae* in deep anesthesia showed different behavioral responses according to anesthetic (benzocaine and menthol) and animal size (1 and 4 g) (Ferreira et al., 2020), which helps to understand the results of the present study.

Experiment II found that the use of eugenol led to an increase in hematocrit for *P*. *brachypomus* 1 h post-induction. Menthol, on the other hand, led to lower hematocrit values for fish anesthetized with 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and the control group. These findings may be associated with acute or induced stress (McDonald and Milligan, 1997), hypoxia caused by anesthesia (Hill and Forster, 2004) and/or or hemoconcentration or hemodilution caused by osmoregulatory mechanisms (Houston et al., 1996). The anesthetic or sedative effects of eugenol and menthol also caused different changes to hematocrit values for other species (Navarro et al., 2016; Ribeiro et al., 2019), but returned to normal 24 h after handling in the present study.

The use of eugenol did not cause changes in hemoglobin values, which was also observed when menthol was used during handling of the same species. This finding was also observed during eugenol anesthesia of adult *P. brachypomus* (Sladky et al., 2001), as well as for other species (Velisek et al., 2005; Pádua et al., 2012).

The highest plasma glucose values observed at 1 h post-anesthesia with eugenol were for the fish of the control group. Fish in stressful situations release catecholamines and corticosteroids that activate the processes of gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, which mobilize and increase glucose in the bloodstream for the body to escape or adjust to the new physiological conditions imposed by the environment (Barton and Iwama, 1991; Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Iwama et al., 2004; Pankhurst, 2011). However, hyperglycemia was also observed at 1 h post-induction for fish anesthetized with 25 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol and may be related to increased agitation and hypoxia of the fish. However, glucose values tend to return to normal levels (Teixeira et al., 2017; Boaventura et al., 2020), as observed after 24 h of recovery in the present study. The 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> concentration of eugenol was able to reduce the effects of handling stress. As for menthol, plasma glucose showed lower values after 24 h of recovery. This finding can be understood as the result of triggering glycogenolysis and increasing plasma glucose during the first management with fish. It could also be explained as the result of the fasting time to which the fish were submitted, which may have reduced glycogen stock and caused glycemia, as also observed by Ribeiro et al. (2019).

The lowest concentration of triglycerides was at 1 h post-induction for fish anesthetized with 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of eugenol. This finding can be attributed to a change in the mobilization and circulation of lipids between the liver and other tissues related to the synthesis of cholesterol and phospholipids (Jun et al., 2015). However, these results are similar to those for the control group (unanesthetized fish), which helps to explain why blood cholesterol levels did not differ among the different concentrations and the assessed times. Thus, it can be inferred that the management of biometrics associated with anesthesia with eugenol had no effect on the metabolism of energy, carbohydrates and lipids, indicating that responses to stress were prevented, attenuated or unmodified in the juvenile *P. brachypomus* weighing approximately 17 g.

Plasma protein values were higher at 24 h of recovery from anesthesia with menthol. The main fractions of these proteins are albumin and globulins. In addition, the release of the hormone cortisol may increase albumin (Cunha et al., 2000). Therefore, the possible increase of this hormone may have caused changes in plasma protein concentrations since, according to Mommsen et al. (1999), glucorticoids, such as cortisol, stimulate gluconeogenesis (increases blood glucose) and the catabolic activity of proteins.

An increase in cholesterol was observed at 24 h post-recovery from anesthesia with menthol. This compound is a lipid steroid found in cell membranes of animals, is transported by blood plasma and acts as a precursor in the synthesis of cortisol (Saccol et al., 2017). As observed by Bolasina (2006), increased cholesterol, together with high levels of cortisol, in the Brazilian codling *Urophycis brasiliensis* exposed to benzocaine could be associated with an increase in cortisol synthesis. Thus, the management of biometrics with the use of menthol had minimal effects on the hemato-biochemical parameters of juvenile *P. brachypomus* weighing approximately 19 g.
# **5.** Conclusions

Eugenol concentrations between 50 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> can be used for both of the studied size classes of juvenile *P. brachypomus*, and menthol concentrations between 25 and 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for the Juveniles I size class and between 50 and 125 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for the Juvenile II size class, to cause anesthesia within induction (< 180 s) and recovery (< 300 s) time intervals considered ideal for fish. The use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> eugenol prevented higher levels of plasma glucose and with minimal influences on other biochemical and hematological variables after handling. Furthermore, the use of 50 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of menthol did not cause changes in blood parameters that would be harmful to the physiology of the fish. Additional studies analyzing the analgesic effect of these anesthetics will allow a better understanding of their efficiency for *P. brachypomus*.

### Acknowledgements

The present research was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-Brazil), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-Brazil) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG-Brazil). LUZ, R.K. received a research grant from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq No. 308547/2018-7).

# 6. References

- Abdel-Fattah, M.A.F., Dessouki, A.A., Ramadan, T., Ismail, M.M., 2005. Evaluation of eugenol as anesthetic in Cat-fish (*Clarias gariepinus*) with special reference to biochemical and histopathological alterations. J. Vet. Med. Res., 15, 116-122. https://doi.org/10.21608/JVMR.2005.77941.
- Alvarenga, C.M.D., Volpato, G.L., 1995. Agonistic profile and metabolism in alevins of the Nile tilapia. Physiol. Behav. 57, 75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)00206-K.
- Aydın, B., Barbas, L.A.L., 2020. Sedative and anesthetic properties of essential oils and their active compounds in fish: A review. Aquaculture 520, 734999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734999.

- Bahi, A., Guardiola, F. A., Esteban, M.A., 2018. A time course study of glucose levels and innate immune response in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.) after exposure to clove oil-eugenol derived anaesthetic. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 77, 280-285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.03.057.
- Barbosa, L.G., Moraes, G., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2007. Respostas metabólicas do matrinxã (*Brycon amazonicus*) submetido a banhos anestésicos de eugenol. Acta Sci. Biol. Sci. 29, 255-260. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascibiolsci.v29i3.474.
- Barton, B.A., Iwama, G.K., 1991. Physiological changes in fish from stress in aquaculture with emphasis on the response and effects of corticosteroids. Annu. Rev. Fish Dis. 1, 3-26. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-8030(91)90019-G.
- Boaventura, T.P., Souza, C.F., Ferreira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Baldissera, M.D., Heinzmann,
  B.M., Luz, R.K., 2020. Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753) as anesthetic for *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Induction, recovery, hematology, biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 529, 735676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735676.
- Boaventura, T.P., Souza, C.F., Fereira, A.L., Favero, G.C., Baldissera, M.D., Heinzmann,
  B.M., Luz, R.K., 2021. The use of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. essential oil during the transport of *Lophiosilurus alexandri:* Water quality, hematology, blood biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 531, 735964.
- Bolasina, S.N., 2006. Cortisol and hematological response in Brazilian codling, Urophycis brasiliensis (Pisces, Phycidae) subjected to anesthetic treatment. Aquac Intern 14, 569-575. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-006-9055-0.
- Bowker, J.D., Trushenski, J.T., Bowman, M., 2019. Efficacy of uugenol to lightly sedate freshwater salmonids for an extended time period. N. Am. J. of Aquac. 81, 40-46. https://doi.org/10.1002/naaq.10062.
- Cunha, D.F., Monteiro, J.P., Santos, V.M., Oliveira, F.A., Cunha, S.F., 2000. Hyponatremia in acute-phase response syndrome patients in general surgical wards. Am. J. Nephrol. 20, 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1159/000013553.

- Cunha, M.A.D., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Garcia, L.D.O., Loro, V.L., Fonseca, M.B.D., Emanuelli, T., Baldisserotto, B., 2010. Anesthesia of silver catfish with eugenol: time of induction, cortisol response and sensory analysis of fillet. Cienc. Rural 40, 2107-2114. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782010005000154.
- Façanha, M.F., Gomes, L.C., 2005. A eficácia do mentol como anestésico para Tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*, Characiformes: Characidae). Acta Amaz. 35, 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0044-59672005000100011.
- Ferreira, A.L., Silva, W.D.S., Carmo, N.L., Ferreira, N.S., Takata, R., Luz, R.K., 2020. Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae*. Aquac. Int. 28, 1837-1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-020-00561-w.
- GholipourKanani, H., Ahadizadeh, S., 2013. Use of propofol as an anesthetic and its efficacy on some hematological values of ornamental fish *Carassius auratus*. SpringerPlus, 2, 76-81. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-1801-2-76.
- Gimbo, R.Y., Saita, M.V., Gonçalves, A.F.N., Takahashi, L.S., 2008. Different benzocaine concentrations on anesthetic induction in lambari (*Astyanax altiparanae*). Rev. Bras Saúde Prod. Anim. 9, 350-357.
- Goldenfarb, P.B., Bowyer, F.P., Hall, E., Brosius, E., 1971. Reproducibility in the hematology laboratory: the microhematocrit determinations. Amer. J. Clin. Pathol. 56, 35-39. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcp/56.1.35.
- Gonçalves, A.F.N., Santos, E.C.C., Fernandes, J.B.K., Takahashi, L.S., 2008. Mentol e eugenol como substitutos da benzocaína na indução anestésica de juvenis de pacu. Acta Sci. Anim. Sci. 30, 339-344. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascianimsci.v30i3.1081.
- Hajek, G.J., 2011. The anaesthetic-like effect of tea tree oil in common carp *Cyprinus carpio*L. Aquac. Res., 42, 296-300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02625.x
- Hill, J.V., Forster, M.E., 2004. Cardiovascular responses of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) during rapid anaesthetic induction and recovery. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C Toxicol. Pharmacol. 137, 167-177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2004.01.002.

- Houston, AH, Dobric, N, Kahurananga, R., 1996. The nature of hematological response in fish. Studies on rainbow trout *Oncorhyncus mykiss* exposed to stimulated winter, spring and summer conditions. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 15, 339-347. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02112561.
- Iwama, G.K., Afonso, L.O., Todgham, A., Ackerman, P., Nakano, K., 2004. Are hsps suitable for indicating stressed states in fish? J. Exp. Biol. 207, 15-19. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.00707.
- Javahery, S., Nekoubin, H., Moradlu, A.H., 2012. Effect of anaesthesia with clove oil in fish. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 1545-1552. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-012-9682-5.
- Jorge P.H., Mastrochirico-Filho V.A., Hata M.E., Mendes N.J., Ariede R.B., Freitas M. V.D., Hashimoto D.T., 2018. Genetic characterization of the fish *Piaractus brachypomus* by microsatellites derived from transcriptome sequencing. Front. Genet., 9, 46. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2018.00046.
- Jun, Q., Hong, Y., Hui, W., Didlyn, K. M., Jie, H., Pao, X., 2015. Physiological responses and HSP70 mRNA expression in GIFT tilapia juveniles, *Oreochromis niloticus* under short-term crowding. Aquac. Res. 46, 335-345. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12189.
- Keene, J.I., Noakes, D.I.G., Moccia, R.D., Soto, G.C., 1998. The efficacy of clove oil as an anesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquac Res 29, 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.1998.00927.x.
- King, H.R., 2009. Fish transport in the aquaculture sector: an overview of the road transport of Atlantic salmon in Tasmania. J. Vet. Behav. Clinical Applications and Research 4, 163-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.09.034.
- Lee, K.G., Shibamoto, T., 2001. Antioxidant property of aroma extract isolated from clove buds [*Syzygium aromaticum* (L.) Merr. et Perry]. Food Chem. 74, 443-448. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(01)00161-3.
- Marking, L.L., Meyer, F.P., 1985. Are better anesthetics needed in fisheries? Fisheries 10, 2-5. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(1985)010<0002:ABANIF>2.0.CO;2.

- Martins, G.H., Mazoti, J.I., Bercini, V.M., Honorato, C.A., 2014. Tempo de indução e recuperação à anestesia do eugenol para patinga (*Piaractus brachypomus*). Arq. Cienc. Vet. Zool. 17, 243-247. https://doi.org/10.25110/arqvet.v17i4.5024.
- Matos, F.J.A., 2000. Plantas medicinais: guia de selec~ao e emprego de plantas usadas em fitoterapia no Nordeste do Brasil, 2nd edition. Imprensa Universitaria-Universidade Federal do Ceara, Fortaleza, Brazil.
- McDonald, G., Milligan, L., 1997. Ionic, osmotic and acid-base regulation in stress. In: Iwana GW, Pickering AD, Sumpter JP, Schreck CB (eds) Fish stress and health in aquaculture. University Press, Cambridge, pp 119-144.
- Medeiros, J.M.E.F.D., Uehara, S.A., Rodrigues, E.C., Palheta, G.D.A., Melo, N.F.A.C.D., Freire, L.D.S., Takata, R., 2018. Menthol and eugenol as natural anesthetics for early juveniles of curimba. R. Bras. Zootec. 47, e20170266, https://doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170266.
- Mommsen, T., Vijayan, M.M., Moon, T.W., 1999. Cortisol in teleosts: dynamics, mechanisms of actions, and metabolic regulation. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 9, 211-268. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008924418720.
- Nascimento, A.F., Maria A.N., Pessoa, N.O., Carvalho, M.A.M., Viveiros, A.T.M., 2010. Out-of-season sperm cryopreserved in different media of the Amazonian freshwater fish pirapitinga (*Piaractus brachypomus*). Anim. Reprod. Sci., 118, 324-329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2009.07.002.
- Navarro, R.D., França, R.P., Paludo, G.R., Bizarro, Y.W.S., Silva, R.F., Navarro, F.K.S.P. (2016). Physiological and hematological responses of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) to different anesthetics during simulated transport conditions. Acta Sci. Technol., 38, 301-306. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascitechnol.v38i3.28377.
- Oliveira, C.P.B., Paixão Lemos, C.H., Vidal, L.V.O., Couto, R.D., Pereira, D.S.P., Copatti, C.E., 2019. Anaesthesia with eugenol in hybrid Amazon catfish (*Pseudoplatystoma reticulatum × Leiarius marmoratus*) handling: Biochemical and haematological responses. Aquaculture 501, 255-259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.046.

- Pádua, S.B., Ventura, A.S., Satake, F., Ishikawa, M.M., Hisano, H., Rotta, M.A., Arantes, F.C., 2012. Respostas hematológicas em tuvira após anestesia com diferentes concentrações de óleo de cravo. Bol. Inst. Pesca 38, 181-188.
- Pankhurst, N.W., 2011. The endocrinology of stress in fish: an environmental perspective. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol., 170, 265-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.07.017.
- Patel, T., Ishiuji, Y., Yosipovitch, G., 2007. Menthol: a refreshing look at this ancient compound.
  J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. 57, 873-878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2007.04.008.
- Pereira da Silva, E.M., Oliveira, R.H.F., Nero, B.D., 2014. Menthol as anaesthetic for lambari Astyanax altiparanae (Garutti & Britski 2000): attenuation of stress responses. Aquac. Res. 47, 1413-1420. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12599.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Miranda Filho, K.C., Melillo Filho, R., Santos, A.E.H., Souza, W.S.,
  Rodrigues, L.A., Luz, R.K., 2013. Efeito anestésico do eugenol em juvenis de pacamã.
  Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras. 48, 1136-1139. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800048.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Miranda Filho, K.C., Melo, D.C.D., Luz, R.K., 2015. Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early lifestages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 87, 529-535. https://doi.org/10.1590/00013765201520140024.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Melo, H.D.C., Oliveira, C.G., Della, F.M.A.L., Luz, R.K., 2019. Eugenol and benzocaine as anesthetics for *Lophiosilurus alexandri* juvenile, a freshwater carnivorous catfish. Aquac. Int. 27, 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-018-0326-3.
- Ross, L.G., Ross, B., 2008. Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Blackwell Science, Oxford
- Rotili, D.A., Devens, M.A., Diemer, O., Lorenz, E.K., Lazzari, R., Boscolo, W.R., 2012. Uso de eugenol como anestésico em pacu. Pesqui. Agropecu. Trop. 42, 288-294. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1983-40632012000300013
- Saccol, E.M., Toni, C., Pês, T.S., Ourique, G.M., Gressler, L.T., Silva, L.V., Pavanato, M.A., 2017. Anaesthetic and antioxidant effects of *Myrcia sylvatica* (G. Mey.) DC. and

*Curcuma longa* L. essential oils on tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Aquac. Res. 48, 2012-2031. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13034.

- Schultz, L.P., 1944. The fishes of the family characinidae from Venezuela, with descriptions of seventeen new forms. Proc. U. S. Natl. Mus., 95, 235-367.
- Silva, H.N.P.D., Carvalho, B.C.F.D., Maia, J.L.D.S., Becker, A.G., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Silva, L.V.F.D., 2019. Anesthetic potential of the essential oils of *Lippia alba* and *Lippia origanoides* in Tambaqui juveniles. Cienc. Rural 49, e20181059. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20181059.
- Simões, L.N., Lombardi, D.C., Gomide, A., Gomes, L.C., 2011. Efficacy of clove oil as anesthetic in handling and transportation of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (Actinopterygii: Cichlidae) juveniles. Zoologia 28, 285-290. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702011000300001.
- Sladky, K.K., Swanson, C.R., Stoskopf, M.K., Loomis, M.R., Lewbart, G.A., 2001. Comparative efficacy of tricaine methanesulfonate and clove oil for use as anesthetics in red pacu (*Piaractus brachypomus*). Am. J. Vet. Res. 62, 337-342. https://doi.org/10.2460/ajvr.2001.62.337.
- Small, B.C., 2003. Anesthetic efficacy of metomidate and comparison of plasma cortisol responses to tricaine methanesulfonate, quinaldine and clove oil anesthetized channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus*. Aquaculture 218, 177-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00302-2.
- Souza, C., Baldissera, M., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B., Martos-Sitcha, J.A., Mancera, J.M., 2019. Essential oils as stress-reducing agents for fish aquaculture: A *Review*. Front. Physiol. 10, 785. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00785.
- Strange, R.J., Schreck, C.B., 1978. Anesthetic and handling stress on survival and cortisol concentration in yearling chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 35, 345-349. https://doi.org/10.1139/f78-061.
- Summerfelt R.C., Smith L.S., 1990. Anesthesia, surgery, and related techniques. In: Methods for Fish Biology (Ed. by C.B. Schreck, P.B. Moyle), pp. 213-272. American

Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

- Tarkhani, R., Imani, A., Jamali, H., Farsani, H.G., 2017. Anaesthetic efficacy of eugenol on various size classes of angelfish (*Pterophyllum scalare* Schultze, 1823). Aquac. Res. 48, 5263-5270. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13339.
- Teixeira, E.G., Moreira, A.G.L., Moreira, R.L., Santos, L.F.R., 2011. Mentol como anestésico para diferentes classes de tamanho de tilápia do Nilo. Arch. Vet. Sci. 16, 75-83. http://dx.doi.org/10.5380/avs.v16i2.18657.
- Teixeira, R.R., Souza, R.C., Sena, A.C., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B.M., Couto, R. D., Copatti, C.E., 2017. Essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* in Nile tilapia: anaesthesia, stress parameters and sensory evaluation of fillets. Aquac. Res. 48, 3383-3392. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13165.
- Teta, C., Kaiser, H., 2019. Menthol as an alternative anaesthetic and sedative for rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Afr. J. Aquat. Sci. 44, 71-76. https://doi.org/10.2989/16085914.2018.1548342.
- Uehara, S.A., Andrade, D.R., Takata, R., Júnior, A.G., Vidal, M.V., 2019. The effectiveness of tricaine, benzocaine, clove oil, and menthol as anesthetics for lambari-bocarra *Oligosarcus argenteus*. Aquaculture 502, 326-331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.054.
- Velisek, J.; Svobodova, Z.; Piackova, V.; Groch, L.; Nepejchalova, L., 2005. Effects of clove oil on aesthesia on common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Vet. Med. 50, 269-275.
- Velisek, J., Stara, A., Li, Z.H., Silovska, S., Turek, J., 2011. Comparison of the effects of four anaesthetics on blood biochemical profiles and oxidative stress biomarkers in rainbow trout. Aquaculture 310, 369-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.11.010.
- Vidal, L.V.O., Albinati, R.C.B., Albinati, A.C.L., Lira, A.D.D., Almeida, T.R.D., Santos, G.B., 2008. Eugenol as an anesthetic for Nile tilapia. Pesqui. Agropecu. Bras. 43, 1069-1074. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2008000800017.
- Zapata Guerra, N.A., Rueda-Gómez, D.S., Lozano-Villegas, K.J., Herrera-Sánchez, M.P., Uribe-García, H.F., Rondón-Barragán, I.S., 2020. Menthol as anaesthetic for red-bellied

pacu (*Piaractus brachypomus*) and its effect on HIF1a and GlucoR gene expression. Aquac. Res. 00, 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.14784.

Wendelaar Bonga, S.E., 1997. The stress response in fish. Physiol. Rev. 77, 591-625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591.

# 7. ARTIGO 3

# Chitosan-coated zein nanopoarticles containing eugenol potentiates anesthesia in Nile tilapia

Artigo publicado na revista Aquaculture https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735659

# Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the physical and chemical properties of mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles containing eugenol (NPZMA) and to evaluate their anesthetic effect in immersion baths, their stability in water and their effects on hemogasometric parameters of juvenile Oreochromis niloticus. Four experiments were performed: Experiment 1 characterized the nanoparticles. Experiment 2 evaluated the stability of NPZMA in water using an *in vitro* test with the following treatments: eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; NPZMA–80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, water in natura and control (ethyl alcohol was added to the water at a proportion of 1:10 V/V). Experiment 3 tested the same treatments for time of anesthesia induction and recovery. Experiment 4 tested basal (group of nonanesthetized fish), eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for hemogasometric variables after two minutes of exposure. The new method for applying eugenol through mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles presented here exhibited positive loads and successful adherence to fish mucus. The method led to changes in water quality during the 60-minute observation period, although it remained within the ideal range for O. niloticus. Experiment 3 revealed similar induction times for eugenol-80 mg  $L^{-1}$ , NPZMA-80 mg  $L^{-1}$  and NPZMA-40 mg  $L^{-1}$  (P>0.05). Recovery time was shortest for NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and longest for NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P<0.05). Experiment 4 found the concentrations tested to have no effects on hemogasometric variables (P>0.05). The results demonstrate that mucoadhesive nanoparticles reduced the use of eugenol by 50 %, as observed for NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Furthermore, this new form of eugenol application based on mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles showed good stability in water and did not alter hemogasometric parameters of juvenile O. niloticus.

**Key words:** Clove oil, Handling stress, Hemogasometric, Induction and recovery, *Oreochromis niloticus* 

### **1. Introduction**

Several procedures adopted in fish farming require anesthesia, such as vaccination, collection of biological material, tag implantation, classification and reproduction (Ross and Ross, 2008; Romaneli et al., 2018; Durhack et al., 2020). The use of anesthetics in fish farming provides benefits to both fish and handlers due to the immobilization of the animal, and thus can reduce possible suffering of fish (Waterstrat and Pinkham, 2005; Javahery et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2015). Commercially available chemicals have been used for such anesthetic procedures; however, these products are often administered in incorrect concentrations, resulting in animal toxicity and product waste (Roubach and Gomes, 2001). The use of plant extracts as pharmacological alternatives offers positive effects such as lower cost, faster degradation in the environment and lower levels of residues (Inoue et al., 2003). Several studies based on plant extracts as sustainable alternatives for fish farming have been carried out in recent years, such as with essential oil of Aniba rosaeodora and Aniba parviflora (Baldisserotto et al., 2018), of Aloysia triphylla (Becker et al., 2017) and of Ocimum gratissimum (Boijink et al., 2016), among others. Special attention has been given to the use of clove extract, which contains eugenol as an active ingredient, as an anesthesia for fish (Cunha et al., 2010; Mirghaed et al., 2018; Ribeiro et al., 2013, Ribeiro et al., 2019). Clove oil is obtained from the distillation of the plant Eugenia caryophyllata, which represents about 95 % of all the clove essential oil in India (Hoseini et al., 2015) and is assured in the list of materials listed by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (Ross and Ross, 2008). Despite its effectiveness, its use is still limited due to low bioavailability; eugenol has low water solubility, which results in poor and erratic absorption after administration (Yostawonkul et al., 2019).

Anesthetics can be applied in different ways. The use of injectable anesthetics in fish farming is effective but requires qualified labor, making it an onerous method (Ross and Ross, 2008). With a bath/immersion anesthesia system, the most adopted type of system, drug absorption occurs through the gills, skin and intestine (Rombout et al., 2014). However, the biggest obstacle of these two methods of anesthesia is the form of exposure to the drug and is absorption, which varies with concentration, and thus can lead to decreased bioavailability of the drug (Charlie-Silva et al., 2018). A recent study with nanoparticles containing clove oil

revealed potent anesthetic and antibacterial effects for Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (Yostawonkul et al., 2019).

The administration of drugs using nanoparticles involves the optimization and bioavailability of drugs, in addition to reducing their toxic effects (Irache and González-Navarro, 2017; Wang et al., 2017), relative to conventional formulations (Torchilin, 2014). Zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan are mucoadhesive and thus have the ability to adhere to the external mucosa by interacting with the fish's mucus through its different through its different loads (Bernkop-Schnürch et al., 2004; Jiménez-Fernández et al., 2014; El-Naby et al. 2019). This property increases drug permeability due to reorganization of mucosal intercellular junctions and interference with lipid deposition (Sosnik and Raskin, 2015), which in turn improves the solubility of drugs that are poorly soluble in water (Tang et al., 2011) and modulates their release slowly.

Thus, the objective of the present work was to investigate the physical and chemical properties of zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan containing eugenol, as well as to evaluate their anesthetic effect in immersion baths, their stability in water and their effects on hemogasometric parameters of juvenile Nile tilapia, *O. niloticus*.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

# Animals and environmental acclimatization

The experiments were conducted at Laboratório de Aquacultura of Escola de Veterinária, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, and received approval under protocol number 56/2020 of Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais (CEUA).

Juvenile *O. niloticus* were maintained in six rectangular tanks, with a useful volume of 100 L each and a density of 4.12 g per liter, in a water recirculation system. Temperature was maintained at  $27.84 \pm 0.56$  °C (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) and pH at around  $7.15 \pm 0.14$ , both measured with a multiparameter probe (Hanna HI98130), while dissolved oxygen was maintained at  $6.80 \pm 0.26$  mg L<sup>-1</sup>, measured with an oximeter (EcoSense® DO200A) (mean values  $\pm$  standard deviation). The photoperiod was 12 h of light and 12 h hours of dark. Fish were fed twice a day (09:00 and 15:00 h) for two weeks with commercial feed (4 mm) containing 3200 kcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of digestible energy, 320 g kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein, 70 g kg<sup>-1</sup> ether

extract, 130 g kg<sup>-1</sup> mineral matter and 350 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> vitamin C, as informed by the manufacturer (Supra).

**Experiment I:** Preparation, characterization and stability of mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles

Mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles containing eugenol (NPZMA) were prepared using the antisolvent precipitation method described by Luo et al. (2011), with some modifications. The main differences from Lou et al. (2011) were: the use of a zein solution (2 % W/V) prepared in an ethanolic solution (85 % V/V) under stirring overnight; submisison of the zein solution to a hot water bath at 75 °C for 15 min; cooling the solution at room temperature and filtering through a 0.45  $\mu$ m membrane (Millipore); and injecting the resulting zein nanoparticle suspension into a stirred chitosan solution (0.5 % W/V) for 24 h for polysaccharide coating.

# Nanoparticle morphology

The surface morphology of the nanoparticles was analyzed by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) using suspensions diluted by a factor of 2,000 and with samples mounted on aluminum stubs and sputtered with gold. Micrographs were obtained at an accelerating voltage of 10 kV with a JEOL J SEM-6340 field-emission scanning electron microscope.

# Colloidal parameters of nanoparticles, mean diameter, polydispersity index (PDI) and zeta potential

Mean diameter and PDI of the nanoparticles were determined using the dynamic light scattering technique, while zeta potential was determined by microelectrophoresis. These measurements were performed at 25 °C by diluting nanoparticle suspensions with purified water using a Zetasizer Nano ZS 90 particle analyzer (Malvern) with a fixed angle of 90 degrees. The size distribution was given by the PDI. Results are expressed as the average of three determinations (Melo et al., 2016; Melo et al., 2018). The physico-chemical characteristics were evaluated over time at 0, 20, 40 and 60 days.

# Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)

Nanoparticle concentration and size distribution were determined by employing the NTA technique. Suspensions were diluted by a factor of 10,000 and run in triplicate for each

sample in a NanoSight LM10 instrument (Malvern) using a volumetric cell and a 532 nm laser wavelength CMOS camera for image acquisition. Videos of Brownian motion were analyzed with NanoSight 2.3 software. Each replicate consisted of five measurements with about 2,000 particles counted in each analysis (Melo et al., 2016).

# Experiment II: Effects of NPZMA on the physico-chemical parameters of water

An *in vitro* test was carried out to characterize the stability of NPZMA in water. Five beakers (1 L) were distributed to each of the following treatments: eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Ribeiro et al., 2015); NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, water *in natura* and control (ethyl alcohol was added to the water at a proportion of 1:10 V/V). Physico-chemical parameters of the water were measured at 0, 3, 5, 15, 30, 45 and 60 minutes using a mutiparameter probe (Hanna HI98130) for temperature (°C) and pH and an oximeter (EcoSense® DO200A) for dissolved oxygen (mg L<sup>-1</sup>).

# Experiment III: Anesthetic effect of NPZMA on juvenile O. niloticus

Anesthesia induction was analyzed using 32 juvenile *O. niloticus*, with a mean biomass of  $42.23 \pm 6.69$  g and a mean total length of  $12.90 \pm 1.10$  cm. The animals were fasted for 24 hours prior to the experiment. The fish were then transferred individually to beakers containing 1,000 mL of water (n=8 for each concentration) and exposed the following treatments: eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (control) (Ribeiro et al., 2015); NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>; NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> in a completely randomized design. For the control group (eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>), ethyl alcohol (1:10) was added to dilute the clove oil. Anesthetic induction time was measured using a digital stopwatch. The fish were considered anesthetized when opercular beats slowed and there was no reflex to external stimuli (Ross and Ross, 2008). For the process of recovery, each animal was relocated in 1,000 mL beakers containing clean water. Recovery time was considered from the moment of transfer to total recovery of the fish. The animals were considered recovered when they presented normal balance and reactions to external stimuli (Ross and Ross, 2008). At the end of the experiment, the fish

from each treatment were relocated to their experimental units to observe survival for 24 hours.

**Experiment IV:** Hemogasometric analysis of juvenile *O. niloticus* submitted to different forms of eugenol application

Based on the results of Experiment III, 15 juvenile *O. niloticus* with a mean biomass of  $103.37 \pm 18.51$  g and a mean total length of  $17.93 \pm 1.13$  cm were submitted to the following treatments: basal (group of non-anesthetized fish), eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. For the basal and eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> treatments, ethyl alcohol was added to the water at a proportion of 1:10 (V/V).

The fish were transferred to 1,000 mL beakers (n=5 for each treatment) and after two minutes of being exposed to the appropriate concentrations had blood samples collected by caudal puncture using 3-ml heparinized syringes. The studied variables were: sodium (Na<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), potassium (K<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), carbon dioxide rate (TCO<sub>2</sub> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), glucose (Glu – mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), hematocrit (Hct % PCT), hydrogen potential (pH), partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PCO<sub>2</sub> - mmHg), bicarbonate ion (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), base deficit (Beecf - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and hemoglobin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>). The blood samples were evaluated immediately after collection using an i-STAT EC8<sup>+</sup> kit and an i-STAT-EC8<sup>+</sup> analyzer (*i-STAT*®).

# Statistical analysis

Homogeneity of variances and normality of the data were tested by the Levene-test and the Shapiro-Wilk test, respectively. Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test (P<0.05) were performed for water quality variables. One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test (P<0.05) were performed for time of induction and recovery and hemogasometry (P<0.05). Data analysis was performed using R version 3.5.2 - "Eggshell Igloo" Copyright©.

#### 3. Results

# **Experiment** I

The NPZMA were found to be spherical with no apparent clusters, and with a mean diameter of 190 nm, a PDI of  $0.24 \pm 0.01$  and a zeta potential of 42 mV (Table 1, Fig. 1).

**Table 1.** Physico-chemical characteristics of mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles containing

 eugenol: polydispersion index (PDI), particle size and zeta potential

	Times (days)						
	0	20	40	60			
PDI index	$0.24\pm0.01$	$0.23\pm0.01$	$0.20\pm0.01$	$0.28\pm0.02$			
Size (nm)	100	110	140	190			
Zeta potential (mV)	40	38	36	42			



**Figure 1.** Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to analyze the morphology of NPZMA. The nanoparticles were diluted 1:5000, mounted on plastic coverslips (Thermanox), metalized with carbon in an evaporator (Modelo Hitachi HUS4G) and analyzed by SEM with secondary electrons in a backscattered electronic image.

# **Experiment II**

An interaction (P<0.05) was observed among different treatments over time for the water quality variables of temperature and pH (Table 2).

		Water quality parameters			
		Temperature (°C)	рН	Dissolved oxygen (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	
Treatments	Eugenol-80 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	$26.56 \pm 1.22$	$7.39\pm0.12$	$6.38\pm0.22b$	
	NPZMA-80 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	$26.03\pm0.99$	$6.84\pm0.15$	$6.43\pm0.31b$	
	NPZMA-40 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	$25.78 \pm 1.03$	$6.85\pm0.09$	$6.35 \pm 0.15 \text{ b}$	
	NPZMA-20 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	$25.8 \pm 1.02$	$6.94\pm0.06$	$6.49\pm0.26ab$	
	Water "in natura"	$27.04\pm0.71$	$7.21\pm0.05$	$6.67 \pm 0.2a$	
	Control	$27.18\pm0.55$	$6.99\pm0.10$	$6.56\pm0.07ab$	
Time (minutes)	0	$27.52\pm0.34$	$7.14\pm0.23$	$6.51\pm0.37$	
	3	$27.33 \pm 0.51$	$6.99\pm0.23$	$6.54\pm0.23$	
	5	$27.11 \pm 0.51$	$7.00\pm0.20$	$6.43\pm0.20$	
	15	$26.41\pm0.70$	$6.97\pm0.24$	$6.48\pm0.25$	
	30	$25.87\pm0.71$	$7.04\pm0.21$	$6.49\pm0.20$	
	45	$25.36\pm0.78$	$7.08\pm0.23$	$6.49\pm0.22$	
	60	$25.18\pm0.82$	$7.06\pm0.21$	$6.41\pm0.27$	
Overall average		$26.39\pm0.62$	$7.04\pm0.23$	$6.47\pm0.25$	
<i>P-value</i> Treatments (A)		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.0002	
<i>P-value</i> Time (B)		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.7017	
<i>P-value</i> Interaction (A x B)		< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.7270	
CV (%)		0.56	0.86	3.69	

**Table 2.** Means and standard deviations for the physical parameters of water quality over time after in vitro testing among the different forms of eugenol application.

The *P-values* refers to Tukey's test (P<0.05); Means followed by different letters differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05); CV (%) = Coefficient of variation.

The water temperature of the different treatments differed (P<0.05) and decreased over time (Table 3).

**Table 3.** Breakdown of the interaction (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) between different forms of eugenol application over time and temperature

(°C).

	Treatments							
<b>T</b> . ( , , , )	Eugenol- 80		NPZMA-40		Water "in natura"	Control		
Time (minutes)	mg L-1	NPZMA-80 mg L <sup>+</sup>	mg L <sup>1</sup>	NPZMA-20 mg L <sup>+</sup>				
0	$27.77\pm0.21^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$27.33\pm0.21^{bA}$	$27.17\pm0.12^{bA}$	$27.17\pm0.12^{bA}$	$27.80\pm0.10^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$27.90\pm0.10^{aA}$		
3	$27.87\pm0.15^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$26.97\pm0.15^{bB}$	$26.80\pm0.17^{bB}$	$26.80\pm0.17^{\text{bB}}$	$27.83\pm0.06^{aA}$	$27.70\pm0.10^{aAB}$		
5	$27.63\pm0.38^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$26.80\pm0.10^{bB}$	$26.57\pm0.12^{bB}$	$26.57\pm0.12^{bB}$	$27.60\pm0.10^{\mathrm{aA}}$	$27.50\pm0.10^{aBC}$		
15	$26.77\pm0.32^{bB}$	$25.90\pm0.26^{\mathrm{cC}}$	$25.67\pm0.06^{\mathrm{cC}}$	$25.73\pm0.06^{\mathrm{cC}}$	$27.13\pm0.06^{\mathrm{aB}}$	$27.27\pm0.15a^{\rm C}$		
30	$25.90\pm0.26^{bC}$	$25.57\pm0.06^{bC}$	$25.13\pm0.06^{\text{cD}}$	$25.13\pm0.06^{\text{cD}}$	$26.63\pm0.06^{\mathrm{aC}}$	$26.87\pm0.15^{aD}$		
45	$25.13\pm0.21^{\text{cD}}$	$24.90\pm0.10^{cdD}$	$24.67\pm0.06^{\text{dE}}$	$24.70\pm0.00^{\text{dE}}$	$26.17\pm0.06^{\text{bD}}$	$26.60\pm0.10^{aDE}$		
60	$24.87\pm0.15^{\text{bD}}$	$24.73\pm0.15^{bcD}$	$24.47\pm0.06^{cE}$	$24.47\pm0.06^{cE}$	$26.13\pm0.15^{\text{aD}}$	$26.40\pm0.10^{aE}$		

Means followed by different lowercase letters in the same row differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05). Means followed by different capital letters in the same column differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05).

Decreases in pH were observed over time (P<0.05) for eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and control, and among the evaluated treatments. However, the water of the *in natura* and NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> treatments also had different pH values compared to the other treatments, but the values remained stable over time (Table 4).

	Treatments					
Time (minutes)	Eugenol-80 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	NPZMA-80 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	NPZMA-40 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	NPZMA-20 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	Water "in natura"	Control
0	$7.56\pm0.17^{aA}$	$7.11\pm0.16^{bcA}$	$6.96\pm0.03^{dA}$	$6.96\pm0.03^{dA}$	$7.24\pm0.04^{bA}$	$7.01\pm0.01^{cdA}$
3	$7.33\pm0.06^{aCD}$	$6.73\pm0.07^{cBC}$	$6.89\pm0.06^{bA}$	$6.89\pm0.06^{bA}$	$7.24\pm0.04^{aA}$	$6.84\pm0.06^{bcB}$
5	$7.25\pm0.01^{aD}$	$6.78\pm0.08^{bBC}$	$6.92\pm0.05^{bA}$	$6.92\pm0.05^{bA}$	$7.27\pm0.03^{aA}$	$6.85\pm0.05^{bB}$
15	$7.32\pm0.04^{aCD}$	$6.72\pm0.09^{cdC}$	$6.69\pm0.06^{dB}$	$6.86\pm0.06^{cA}$	$7.17\pm0.05^{bA}$	$7.06\pm0.01^{bA}$
30	$7.39\pm0.04^{aBCD}$	$6.85\pm0.11^{deBC}$	$6.81\pm0.04^{eAB}$	$6.96\pm0.03^{cdA}$	$7.16\pm0.06^{bA}$	$7.06\pm~0.03^{bcA}$
45	$7.49\pm0.06^{aAB}$	$6.87\pm0.08^{deB}$	$6.84\pm0.05^{eA}$	$7.00\pm0.05^{cdA}$	$7.21\pm0.06^{bA}$	$7.07 \pm 0.01^{bcA}$
60	$7.41\pm0.03^{aBC}$	$6.83\pm0.06^{dBC}$	$6.85\pm0.04^{dA}$	$7.01\pm0.05^{cA}$	$7.20\pm0.06^{bA}$	$7.06\pm0.02^{bcA}$

Table 4. Breakdown of the interaction (mean ± standard deviation) between the different forms of eugenol application over time and pH

Means followed by different lowercase letters in the same row differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05). Means followed by different capital letters in the same column differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05).

# **Experiment III**

The time for the eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> treatment to induce deep anesthesia was similar to that for NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P>0.05) (Fig. 2A). It should be noted that when the nanoparticles were associated with eugenol, the inducing effect and induction time were greater for the NPZMA-20 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P<0.05). In addition, fish subjected to the test with mucoadhesive nanoparticles were less responsive, compared to the eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, and without movements.



**Figure 2.** Time for anesthesia induction (A) and recovery (B) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) of juvenile *O*. *niloticus* submitted to different forms of eugenol application. Means followed by different letters differ significantly according to Tukey's test (P<0.05).

The time period for anesthetic recovery was shortest for the NPZMA-20 mg  $L^{-1}$  treatment and longest for NPZMA-80 mg  $L^{-1}$  (Fig. 2B) (P<0.05).

# **Experiment IV**

There were no differences in hemogasometric variables (Na<sup>+</sup> mmol L<sup>-1</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> mmol L<sup>-1</sup>, TCO<sub>2</sub> mmol L<sup>-1</sup>, glucose mg dL<sup>-1</sup>, hematocrit % PCT, pH, PCO<sub>2</sub>, HCO<sup>-</sup><sub>3</sub>, Beecf mmol L<sup>-1</sup>,

AnGap mmol L<sup>-1</sup> and hemoglobine g dL<sup>-1</sup>), after exposure to eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and basal (P>0.05) (Table 5).

Table 5. Hemogasometric values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for sodium (Na<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), potassium (K<sup>+</sup> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), carbon dioxide rate (TCO<sub>2</sub> - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), glucose (Glu – mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), hematocrit (Hct % PCT), hydrogen potential (pH), partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PCO<sub>2</sub> - mmHg), bicarbonate ion (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> mmol L<sup>-1</sup>), base deficit (Beecf - mmol L<sup>-1</sup>) and hemoglobin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>) for blood samples of *O. niloticus* submitted to different forms of eugenol application

		Treatments				
Parameters	Pagal	Eugenol-80	NPZMA-40	Overall average	CV (%)	P-value
	Dasai	mg L <sup>-1</sup>	mg L <sup>-1</sup>			
Na (mmol L <sup>-1</sup> )	$153.75\pm6.55$	$155.60\pm2.07$	$157.60\pm4.16$	$155.79\pm4.37$	2.84	0.4541
K (mmol L <sup>-1</sup> )	$5.03 \pm 1.87$	$4.04\pm0.15$	$4.30\pm0.37$	$4.41 \pm 1.02$	22.80	0.3624
$TCO_2 \pmod{L^{-1}}$	$6.00\pm0.00$	$5.60 \pm 1.14$	$6.00\pm0.71$	$5.86 \pm 0.77$	13.81	0.6842
Glu (mg dL <sup>-1</sup> )	$30.00{\pm}7.87$	$35.60\pm8.02$	$42.20\pm20.64$	$36.36 \pm 13.82$	38.44	0.4504
Hct (% PCT)	$16.00\pm0.82$	$18.80\pm2.39$	$19.80 \pm 4.44$	$18.36\pm3.25$	16.72	0.2132
pН	$7.18\pm0.06$	$7.15\pm0.06$	$7.12\pm0.08$	$7.15\pm0.07$	0.97	0.4502
PCO <sub>2</sub> (mmHg)	$15.48\pm2.80$	$16.06 \pm 1.60$	$17.32\pm3.38$	$16.34\pm2.60$	16.46	0.5838
$HCO^{-3} \pmod{L^{-1}}$	$5.70\pm0.28$	$5.52\pm0.56$	$5.58\pm0.68$	$5.59\pm0.51$	9.88	0.8880
Beecf (mmol L <sup>-1</sup> )	$-22.75\pm0.96$	$-23.40 \pm 1.67$	$-24.00\pm1.58$	$-23.43 \pm 1.45$	6.30	0.4743
Hb (g dL <sup>-1</sup> )	$5.53\pm0.23$	$6.70\pm0.42$	$7.15 \pm 1.40$	$6.55 \pm 1.05$	13.77	0.1162

\*The *P-value* refers to test F (P>0.05); CV (%) = Coefficient of variation.

# 4. Discussion

This study evaluated for the first time the anesthetic effects of chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles containing eugenol on juvenile *O. niloticus* and obtained positive results. The produced zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan had the ability to adhere to the mucus of fish and had physico-chemical characteristics that differed from those published thus far, thus demonstrating the originality and relevance of this work.

The adjustment made to the pH of the solution to form zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan containing eugenol was expected to affect water quality. This indeed was the case, however, the exposure time for anesthesia was short and the pH was within acceptable limits for the cultivation of *O. niloticus* during the entire 60-minute evaluation period (Shoko et al., 2014).

The results presented here show that the zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan containing eugenol remained stable, well dispersed and had positive loads and particle size distribution for a long period of time (up to 60 days). Yostawonkul et al. (2019) also produced

nanoparticles containing eugenol, however, their zeta potential was negative, which presents other physiological functions, such as improved tissue penetration. The nanoparticles of the resent study had positive zeta potential, which improves adherence to fish mucus, as verified by Charlie-Silva et al. (2018). Recent studies have evaluated the interaction between nanoparticles with positive loads and adherence to mucus membranes and found that this interaction can help to decrease the amount of drug being absorbed and enhance anesthetic effects, as observed in the present study (Costa et al., 2015; Charlie-Silva et al., 2018).

The anesthetic induction time for fish of the control group (eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) was similar to that for NPZMA-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (116 s), which was less than three minutes to complete anesthesia and less than five minutes for recovery, as recommended by Kenne et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008). This demonstrates the efficiency of using eugenol in both forms of use. Eugenol has a proven effect on the anesthesia of fish (Cunha et al., 2010; Ribeiro et al., 2015; He et al., 2020). In addition, the present study found that using mucoadhesive nanoparticles reduced the use of eugenol by 50%, as observed for the treatment of NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, which showed the same anesthetic induction time as eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. A recent study also demonstrated the effects of lipid nanoparticles containing eugenol on anesthesia of *O. niloticus* (mean biomass 10 g), with a concentration of 40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> having an induction time of 40 s and a recovery time of 193 s (Yostawonkul et al., 2019), but with 25% yield in relation to the use of eugenol.

The present study found variation in fish behavior, with fish submitted to the test with mucoadhesive nanoparticles being less responsive and without movement, in contrast to other treatments. As far as is known, this is the first report of the effects of nanoparticles on fish behavior. On the other hand, using a mammal animal model, Lima et al. (2019) reported depression, anxiety-like behavior and memory impairment in mice exposed to mucoadhesive zein nanoparticles.

Fish submitted to control, eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup> did not exhibit changes in hemogasometric variables, indicating that nanoparticles can be used to help reduce the concentration of drug used. Clove oil has been shown to have limited solubility in water and is generally used in higher concentrations for the induction and/or sedation of fish (Yostawonkul et al. 2019) and is thus able to modulate physiological and hemogasometric variables. In addition, alcohols or detergents are used as solvents to dissolve clove oil (Yostawonkul et al. (2019). In this sense, Luis et al. (2019) reviewed the possible uses of different nanoparticle systems, highlighting essential oils and new nanotechnology strategies to improve the solubility and efficacy of drugs in aquaculture, and the use of eugenol in immersion baths for juvenile matrinxã, *Brycon amazonicus*, also without changes in the hydroelectric balance of the animals (Barbosa et al., 2007). Honorato et al. (2014) evaluated different concentrations of eugenol for juvenile Amazonian jundiá, *Leiarius marmoratus*, and also did not observe such changes in variables including pH, Glu, PCO<sub>2</sub>, Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup>, which corroborates the results of the present study. Thus, the use of eugenol directly in water (eugenol-80 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) or through zein nanoparticles coated with chitosan containing eugenol (NPZMA-40 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) proved to be safe ways of maintaining animal welfare while being efficient at inducing anesthesia.

# 5. Conclusion

Chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles containing eugenol at a concentration of 40 mg  $L^{-1}$  enhance the use of eugenol as an anesthetic by reducing the required concentration without affecting hemogasometric variables of juvenile *O. niloticus*.

# Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-Brasil), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-Brasil), and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG). R. K. Luz received a research grant and a research fellowship from Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq n°. 308547/2018-7).

#### 6. References

Baldisserotto, B., Barata, L.E., Silva, A.S., Lobato, W.F., Silva, L.L., Toni, C., Silva, L.V., 2018. Anesthesia of tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum* (Characiformes: Serrasalmidae) with the essential oils of *Aniba rosaeodora* and *Aniba parviflora* and their major compound, linalool. Neotrop. Ichthyol. 16, 170128. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0224-20170128.

- Barbosa, L.M., Moraes, G., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2007. Metabolic responses of matrinxa to eugenol in anesthetic baths. Acta Sci. Biol. Sci. 29, 255-260.
- Becker, A.G., Luz, R.K., Mattioli, C.C., Nakayama, C.L., Silva, W.S., Leme, F.D.O.P., Baldisserotto, B., 2017. Can the essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* have anesthetic effect and improve the physiological parameters of the carnivorous freshwater catfish *Lophiosilurus alexandri* after transport? Aquaculture 481, 184-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.09.007.
- Bernkop-Schnürch, A., Guggi, D., Pinter, Y., 2004. Thiolated chitosans: development and in vitro evaluation of a mucoadhesive, permeation enhancing oral drug delivery system. J. Control. Release 94, 177-186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2003.10.005.
- Boijink, L.C., Queiroz, C.A., Chagas, E.C., Chaves, F.C.M., Inoue, L.A.K.A., 2016. Anesthetic and anthelminthic effects of clove basil (*Ocimum gratissimum*) essential oil for tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*). Aquaculture 457, 24-28. https://doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.02.010.
- Charlie-Silva, I., Melo, N.F.S., Gomes, J.M.M., Fraceto, L.F., Melo, D.C., Oliveira, S.J., Barros, A.L.B., Corrêa, J.J.D., 2018. Nanoparticle mucoadhesive system as a new tool for fish immune system modulation. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 80, 651-654. https://doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2018.05.057.
- Costa, A.D.S., Brandao, H.D.M., Silva, S.R., Bentes-Sousa, A.R., Diniz, J.J.A.P., Pinheiro, J., Ribeiro-Costa, R.M., 2015. Mucoadhesive nanoparticles: a new perspective for fish drug application. J. Fish Dis. 39, 503-506. https:// doi:10.1111/jfd.12373.
- Cunha, M.A.D., Zeppenfeld, C.C., Garcia, L.D.O., Loro, V.L., Fonseca, M.B.D., Emanuelli, T., Baldisserotto, B., 2010. Anesthesia of silver catfish with eugenol: time of induction, cortisol response and sensory analysis of fillet. Cienc. Rural 40, 2107-2114. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782010005000154.
- Durhack, T.C., Jeffrey, J.D., Enders, E.C., 2020. In search of an anaesthesia alternative for field-based research. Aquaculture 525, 735285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735285.
- El-Naby, F.S.A., Naiel, M.A., Al-Sagheer, A.A., Negm, S.S., 2019. Dietary chitosan nanoparticles enhance the growth, production performance, and immunity in

Oreochromisniloticus.Aquaculture501,82-89.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.11.014.

- He, R., Lei, B., Su, Y., Wang, A., Cui, K., Shi, X., Chen, X., 2020. Effectiveness of eugenol as an anesthetic for adult spotted sea bass (*Lateolabrax maculatus*). Aquaculture 523, 735180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735180.
- Honorato, C.A., Dambros, A., Marcondes, V.M., Nascimento, C.A., 2014. Utilização do eugenol em jundiá da Amazônia (*Leiarius marmoratus*): implicações na sedação e avaliação hemogasométrica. Semina 35, 2759-2767. https://doi.org/10.5433/1679-0359.2014v35n5p2759.
- Hoseini, S.M., Rajabiesterabadi, H., Tarkhani, R., 2015. Anaesthetic efficacy of eugenol on iridescent shark, *Pangasius hypophthalmus* (Sauvage, 1878) in different size classes. Aquac. Res. 46, 405-412. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12188.
- Inoue, L.A.K.A., Santos, N.C.D., Moraes, G., 2003. Clove oil as anesthetic for juveniles of matrinxã *Brycon cephalus* (Gunther, 1869). Cienc. Rural 33, 943-947. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782003000500023.
- Irache, J.M., González-Navarro, C.J., 2017. Zein nanoparticles as vehicles for oral delivery purposes. Nanomedicine (Lond.), 12, 1209–1211. https://doi.org/10.2217/nnm-2017-0075.
- Javahery, S., Nekoubin, H., Moradlu, A.H., 2012. Effect of anaesthesia with clove oil in fish. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 38, 1545-1552. https://doi:10.1007/s10695-012-9682-5.
- Jiménez-Fernández, E., Ruyra, A., Roher, N., Zuasti, E., Infante, C., Fernández-Díaz, C., 2014. Nanoparticles as a novel delivery system for vitamin C administration in aquaculture. Aquaculture 432, 426-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2014.03.006.
- Keene, J.L., Noakes, D.L.G., Moccia, R.D., Soto, C.G., 1998. The efficacy of clove oil as an anaesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquac. Res. 29, 89-101. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.1998.00927.x.
- Lima, V.S., Guimarães, A.T.B., Costa, A.A.P., Estrela, F.N., Silva, I.C., Melo, N.F.S., Malafaia, G., 2019. Depression, anxiety-like behavior, and memory impairment in mice

exposed to chitosan-coated zein nanoparticles. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26, 10641-10650. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-04536-0.

- Luo, Y., Zhang, B., Whent, M., Yu, L., Wang, Q., 2011. Preparation and characterization of zein/chitosan complex for encapsulation of α-tocopherol, and its in vitro controlled release study. Colloids Surf. B 85, 145-152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2011.02.020.
- Luis, A.I.S; Campos, E.V., Oliveira, J.L., Fraceto, L.F., 2019. Trends in aquaculture sciences: from now to use of nanotechnology for disease control. Rev. Aquacult. 11, 119–132. https://doi.org/10.1111/raq.12229.
- Melo, N.F., Macedo, C.G., Bonfante, R., Abdalla, H.B., Silva, C.M., Pasquoto, T., Lima, R., Fraceto, L.F., Clemente-Napimoga, J.T., Napimoga, M.H., 2016. 15d-PGJ2-loaded solid lipid nanoparticles: physicochemical characterization and evaluation of pharmacological effects on inflammation. PLoS One 11, 0161796. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161796.
- Melo, N.F.S., Campos, E.V.R., Franz-Montan, M., Paula, E., Silva, C.M.G.D., Maruyama, C.R., Stigliani, T.P., Lima, R., Araújo, D.R., Fraceto, L.F., 2018. Characterization of Articaine-loaded poly(ɛcaprolactone) nanocapsules and solid lipid nanoparticles in hydrogels for topical formulations. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. 18, 4428-4438. https://doi.org/10.1166/jnn.2018.15235.
- Mirghaed, A.T., Yasari, M., Mirzargar, S.S., Hoseini, S.M., 2018. Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) anesthesia with myrcene: efficacy and physiological responses in comparison with eugenol. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 44, 919-926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-018-0481-5.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Miranda-Filho, K.C., Melillo-Filho, R., Santos, A.E.H., Silva, W.S,
  Rodrigues, L.A., Luz, R.K., 2013. Efeito anestésico do eugenol em juvenis de pacamã.
  Pesq. Agropec. Bras. 48, 1136-1139. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800048.
- Ribeiro, P.A.P, Miranda-Filho, K.C., Melo, D.C.D., Luz, R.K., 2015. Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early life stages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). An. Acad. Bras. Cienc. 87, 529-535. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201520140024.

- Ribeiro, P.A.P., Melo, H.D.C., Oliveira, C.G., Della, F.M.A.L., Luz, R.K., 2019. Eugenol and benzocaine as anesthetics for *Lophiosilurus alexandri* juvenile, a freshwater carnivorous catfish. Aquac. Int. 27, 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-018-0326-3.
- Romaneli, R.D.S., Boaratti, A.Z., Rodrigues, A.T., Queiroz, D.M.D.A., Khan, K.U., Nascimento, T.M.T., Mansano, C.F.M., 2018. Efficacy of Benzocaine, Eugenol, and Menthol as Anesthetics for Freshwater Angelfish. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 30, 210-216. https://doi.org/10.1002/aah.10030.
- Rombout, J.H., Yang, G., Kiron, V., 2014. Adaptive immune responses at mucosal surfaces of teleost fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 40, 634–643. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2014.08.020.
- Ross, L.G., Ross, B., 2008. Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Blackwell Science, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Roubach R., Gomes L., 2001. Uso de anestésicos durante o manejo de peixes. Revista Panorama da Aquicultura 11, 37-40.
- Shoko, A.P., Limbu, S.M., Mrosso, H.D., Mgaya, Y.D., 2014. A comparison of diurnal dynamics of water quality parameters in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*, Linnaeus, 1758) monoculture and polyculture with African sharp tooth catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*, Burchell, 1822) in earthen ponds. Int. Aquatic. Res. 6, 56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40071-014-0056-8.
- Sosnik, A., Raskin, M.M., 2015. Polymeric micelles in mucosal drug delivery: challenges towards clinical translation. Biotechnol. Adv. 33, 1380–1392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.01.003.
- Tang, J., Xu, N., Ji, H., Liu, H., Wang, Z., Wu, L., 2011. Eudragit nanoparticles containing genistein: formulation, development, and bioavailability assessment. Int. J. Nanomed. 6, 2429–2435. https://doi:10.2147/IJN.S24185.
- Torchilin, V.P., 2014. Multifunctional, stimuli-sensitive nanoparticulate systems for drug delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 13(11), 813-827. https://doi.org.10.1038/nrd4333.
- Wang, Y.F., Liu, L., Xue, X., Liang, X.J., 2017. Nanoparticle-based drug delivery systems: What can they really do in vivo? F1000Research 6, 681-685. https:// doi:10.12688/f1000research.9690.1.

- Waterstrat, P.R., Pinkham, L., 2005. Evaluation of eugenol as an anesthetic for the American lobster *Homarus americanus*. J. World Aquacult. Soc. 36, 420-424. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2005.tb00347.x.
- Yostawonkul, J., Kitiyodom, S., Kaewmalun, S., Suktham, K., Nittayasut, N., Khongkow, M., Surassmo, S., 2019. Bifunctional clove oil nanoparticles for anesthesia and anti-bacterial activity in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture 503, 589-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.12.058.

# **ARTIGO 4**

# Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753): efficacy for anesthesia and transport of *Oreochromis niloticus*

# **Running Head**

O. gratissimum for anesthesia and transport of tilapia

Artigo publicado no periódico Fish Physiology and Biochemistry https://org.br/ 10.1007/s10695-020-00900-x

### Abstract

This study aimed to evaluate the essential oil of Ocimum gratissimum L. (EOOG) for anesthesia and in the transport of Oreochromis niloticus. Experiment I determined the time of anesthesia induction and recovery during anesthesia of O. niloticus exposed to different concentrations of EOOG (0, 30, 90, 150 and 300 mg L<sup>-1</sup>). Based on data from Experiment I, Experiment II evaluated the effect of 0, 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG on blood parameters and oxidative stress immediately after anesthesia induction and one hour after recovery. Experiment III evaluated the effect of 0, 5 and 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG on blood variables immediately after 4.5 hours of transport of juveniles. Concentrations between 90 and 150 mg  $L^{-1}$  EOOG were efficient for anesthesia and recovery. The use of 90 mg  $L^{-1}$  of EOOG prevented an increase in plasma glucose. Others changes in blood parameters and oxidative stress are discussed. The use of 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG in transport increased plasma glucose and decreased hematocrit values immediately after transport. It is concluded that the use of 90 and 150 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG causes anesthesia and recovery in *O. niloticus* within the time intervals considered ideal. The use of 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG favored stable plasma glucose soon after anesthesia induction and one hour after recovery, but caused changes in the antioxidant defense system by increasing hepatic and kidney ROS. The transport of 12 g O. niloticus for 4.5 hours can be performed with concentration of 5 mg  $L^{-1}$  of EOOG.

Key words: Anesthesia, Handling stress, Metabolism, Nile tilapia, Tissue damage

#### **1. Introduction**

The usual handling procedures employed in fish farms trigger stress to animals, which can compromise their productive and reproductive performances (Barton, 2002; Gressler et al., 2012). Among the adopted handling procedures, biometry and transport of fish are routine in fish farms. These practices can harm fish, increasing their susceptibility to infectious and pathogenic diseases, besides demanding a greater amount of energy (Gimbo et al., 2008; Goes et al., 2017), which is provided through gluconeogenesis, glycogenolysis and increased protein turnover (Barton and Iwama, 1991; Wendellar Bonga, 1997; Mommsen et al., 1999; Ribeiro et al., 2019). In addition, these handling practices can cause changes in fish metabolism, with oxidative damage through the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which often leads to lipid peroxidation (Matés, 2000; Veliske et al., 2011; Souza et al., 2018; Baldissera et al., 2020).

In this sense, the use of anesthetics has provided better control for the handling procedures used in fish production (Cunha et al., 2010; Becker et al., 2012; Becker et al., 2017; Rotili et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2013; Ribeiro et al., 2015), by reducing swimming activity and stress of the animals (Ross and Ross, 2008; Zahl et al., 2010; Salbego et al., 2017). Anesthetics (at sedative concentrations) also showed positive effects during transport, including reduced waterborne ammonia and greater survival (Becker et al., 2012; Gil et al., 2016; Navarro et al., 2016; Boaventura et al., 2021a). However, responses to a given anesthetic may differ among species, and so prior characterization of efficacy is necessary (King et al., 2009).

The plant *Ocimum gratissimum* L. (Lamiaceae), popularly known as "alfavaca" or basil, is a native species of Africa that is being used in different countries as a condiment, sedative and stress reducer and to treat headaches in humans (Albuquerque et al., 2007). The essential oil of the leaves of this plant showed safety and efficacy as anesthesia for some species of fish, such as the Brazilian flounder *Paralichthys orbignyanus* (Benovit et al., 2012), silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen* (Silva et al., 2012; Silva et al., 2015; Bandeira et al., 2017), matrinxã *Brycon amazonicus* (Ribeiro et al., 2016), Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Adewale et al., 2017), cachara *Pseudoplatystoma reticulatum* (Silva et al., 2020) and pacamã *Lophiosilurus alexandri* (Boaventura et al., 2020).

*Oreochromis niloticus* is the fourth most produced fish species worldwide, contributing approximately 4.5 million tons/year (FAO, 2018). This high production is attributed to its excellent characteristics that make it favorable to commercial cultivation, as well as its white meat with good organoleptic characteristics and lack of "Y" shaped spines, which facilitates fillet processing (Simões et al., 2007). Therefore, the evaluation of the anesthetic and sedative effects of this essential oil and its benefits in the transport of juveniles of this species has become important.

Thus, the objective of this study was to evaluate different concentrations of the essential oil of *O. gratissimum* L. (EOOG) for induction and recovery times of anesthesia, blood and oxidative stress parameters and its use in the transport of *O. niloticus* juveniles. Based on previous studies with the extract of this plant in *O. niloticus* (Adewale et al., 2017) and of the EOOG in other species (Silva et al., 2012; Silva et al., 2015; Ribeiro et al., 2016; Silva et al., 2020; Boaventura et al., 2020; Boaventura et al., 2021a), we suppose that this essential oil is effective for anesthesia, reduces the stress of transport and improves the oxidative status of *O. niloticus*.

### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Compliance with Ethical Standards

Three experiments were carried out at the Laboratório de Aquacultura (LAQUA) of the Escola de Veterinária (EV) of the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), with approval of the Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais (CEUA) of this institution (registration numbers 324/2018 and 42/2020).

#### 2.2 Animals and environmental acclimation

Juveniles of *O. niloticus* were grown in rectangular tanks, with a useful volume of 100 L, in a water recirculation system with mechanical and biological filtration. Temperature was maintained at 27.69  $\pm$  0.35 °C and pH at 7.09  $\pm$  0.14 (both measured with a Hanna HI98130 multiparameter probe), dissolved oxygen levels at 6.65  $\pm$  0.28 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (measured with an EcoSense® DO200A oximeter) and total ammonia at 0.59  $\pm$  0.03 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (determined with a Alfakit Labcon Test colorimetric kit). The photoperiod was 12L:12D (controlled by Loud Advanced Technology TL63A digital timer). During the lights-on period, the average luminous flux incident on the water surface was 140 lux (measured with Instrutemp ITLD260

luximeter) and 0 lux after lights were turned off. The fish were fed with commercial feed (5 mm in diameter) containing 320 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of crude protein, 3200 kcal kg<sup>-1</sup> of digestible energy, 70 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of ether extract, 130 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of mineral matter, 25 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of calcium and 10 g kg<sup>-1</sup> of phosphorus, twice a day (8:00 am and 4:00 pm) until apparent satiety. The animals were fasted for 24 hours before use; thus, the food was provided until the first meal of the day before each test. A water renewal of 50% of the system volume was performed twice a week.

The essential oil of the leaves of *O. gratissimum* (EOOG) (73.6% eugenol) was obtained according to Silva et al. (2012). Ethyl alcohol (98.1%) was used in a 1:10 (V / V) proportion in all concentrations to homogenize the EOOG in water. The volume of ethyl alcohol equivalent to the highest concentration of the EOOG was used for the ethanol treatment (0 mg  $L^{-1}$ ).

# Experiment I – Anesthetic effect of EOOG for juvenile O. niloticus

Seventy-two O. niloticus juveniles (weight  $45.36 \pm 10.70$  g; total length  $13.16 \pm 1.12$ cm) were fasted for 24 hours prior to use. The animals were distributed in a completely randomized design (n = 12 for each concentration) and exposed to the following EOOG concentrations: 0 (ethanol), 10, 30, 90, 150 or 300 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. The fish were transferred individually to a 1 L aquarium and exposed to the different concentrations (each fish was used only once). The ethanol group was observed for 10 min (Ferreira et al., 2020), while a digital chronometer (Taksun Ts1809) was used to assess the time of anesthesia induction and recovery for the other concentrations. Fish were considered to have reached deep anesthesia when they completely lost swimming balance and did not respond to external stimuli (Keene et al., 1998; Ross and Ross, 2008), at which point they were weighed on an analytical balance (Mars AD5002) and measured with the aid of a ruler. After biometrics, the fish were transferred to 1 L aquaria with clean water (from the culture system itself), for anesthesia recovery. The ventilatory frequency (VF) of the fish was evaluated during anesthesia induction and recovery by counting opercular movements per minute (adapted from Alvarenga and Volpato, 1995). The animals were considered recovered when they responded to external stimuli and showed normal swimming balance (Keene et al., 1998; Ross and Ross, 2008).

After the experiment, fish of each anesthetic concentration were pooled and kept in 100 L tanks in a recirculating aquaculture system to observe the return to appetite and record their survival after 24 h. During this period the fish were fed two times a day until apparent satiety.

**Experiment II** – Hematological, biochemical and oxidative stress responses of juvenile *O. niloticus* submitted to different EOOG concentrations

Based on the results of Experiment I, a subsequent test was performed using the concentrations of 0 (ethanol), 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG, considering a control and concentrations below the ideal and at the ideal, respectively, for fish anesthesia according to the criteria of Keene et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008). For this test, 72 *O. niloticus* juveniles (weight 41.36  $\pm$  9.80 g; total length 12.70  $\pm$  1.15 cm, n = 24 per treatment) were fasted for 24 h and then distributed in a completely randomized factorial design. The same procedures as described in Experiment I were adopted. However, in this experiment blood samples were collected immediately after anesthesia induction and one hour after anesthesia recovery (n= 12 fish for each concentration after anesthesia and 12 fish for each concentration after recovery). Fish were restrained with a damp cloth and blood (500 µL) was collected by caudal puncture using heparinized syringes (0.2% mg mL<sup>-1</sup>). The fish were then euthanized through immersion in ice slurry and spinal cord sectioning so that gills, liver, kidney and brain could be removed and immediately stored in a -80°C freezer for further analysis.

#### Hematological and biochemical analysis

Blood aliquots were used to quantify hematocrit. Capillary tubes were centrifuged at 10,000-rpm (Microline-Laborline®) for 10 minutes as described by Goldenfarb et al. (1971). Plasma protein was determined using a Goldberg manual refractometer. Blood was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes for biochemical analysis. Plasma glucose was determined using a monoreagent glucose commercial kit (K082 Bioclin), followed by reading with a spectrophotometer (Biochrom Libra S21 – S22).

#### Oxidative stress analysis

Liver, gills, kidney and brain were sampled for evaluation of levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), superoxide dismutase (SOD), thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), non-protein thiols (NPSH) and protein.

Levels of ROS were determined by the DCFH oxidation method described by LeBel et al. (1992). Fluorescence was measured using excitation and emission wavelengths of 485 and 538 nm, respectively. A calibration curve was established with 2',7'-dichlorofluorescein (DCF) (0.1 nM-1  $\mu$ M) as the standard, and results were expressed as U DFC per mg of protein.

The activity of SOD was determined according to the auto-oxidation principle of pyrogallol, inhibited in the presence of SOD. The optical density change was determined kinetically for two minutes at ten second intervals at 420 nm, according to methodology described by Beutler (1984). Activity was expressed as U mg per of protein.

As an index of lipid peroxidation, TBARS formation during an acid-heating reaction was determined as previously described by Ohkawa et al. (1979). A malondialdehyde (MDA) solution was used as a reference standard. TBARS levels were determined by absorbance at 532 nm and were expressed as MDA equivalent nmol MDA per g of tissue.

NPSH levels were determined colorimetrically at 412 nm as previously described by Ellman (1959) and published in detail by Souza et al. (2018). A cysteine solution was used as a reference standard. NPSH levels were expressed as µmol SH per g of tissue.

Protein concentration was determined by the Coomassie Blue method following the methodology described by Read and Northcote (1981) using bovine serum albumin as a standard.

**Experiment III** – Effect of EOOG on survival rate, feed return, water quality and blood parameters after transport of juvenile *O. niloticus* 

One hundred and sixty *O. niloticus* juveniles (weight  $12.2 \pm 3.4$  g; total length  $9.5 \pm 2.1$  cm) were used for Experiment III. The water in the culture system had a temperature of 27.49  $\pm 0.35$  °C, pH of  $7.65 \pm 1.28$  (Hanna HI98130 multiparameter probe), and dissolved oxygen levels of  $7.09 \pm 1.14$  mg L<sup>-1</sup> (measured by the EcoSense® DO200A oximeter). Animals were fasted for 24 h before transport. After fasting, blood was collected as previously described from a group of 10 fish (basal group). The fish were distributed in a completely random design in 15 plastic bags of 59.5 x 80.5 cm, with 8 L water, 2/3 dissolved oxygen and 10 fish
bag<sup>-1</sup>. Three concentrations of EOOG were tested: 0 (ethanol 90  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>), 5 and 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. The animals were transported in a car for 4.5 h and this time was chosen based in an average duration of *O. niloticus* transport from other studies (Navarro et al., 2016, Hohlenwerger et al., 2017; Ventura et al., 2020); after which the bags were opened and temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH and total ammonia were measured and two fish from each bag (n = 10 fish per treatment) were selected for blood collection for the analysis of plasma glucose, hematocrit and plasma protein, as described in the Experiment II. The remaining fish of each treatment were then placed in three rectangular tanks, with a useful volume of 100 L, in a water recirculation system under a controlled environment, as previously described, to evaluate survival rate and return to feeding up to 96 h after transport.

# 2.3 Statistical analysis

Homogeneity of variances and normality of the data were tested with the Brown-Forsythe and Shapiro-Wilk tests, respectively. The results of anesthesia induction and recovery times and ventilatory frequencies were submitted to one-way ANOVA, followed by regression analyses to better adjust the model (P < 0.05). Two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's post-test was used for biochemical, hematological and oxidative stress variables (P < 0.05). The results of water quality variables were analyzed using the Kruskal-Wallis test (P < 0.05). All analyses were performed using the SigmaPlot program version 12.0.

# 3. Results

#### **Experiment** I

No mortality was observed after 24 hours of testing and all fish resumed feeding. Ethanol and 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG did not induce deep anesthesia. Anesthesia induction time had a quadratic effect (P < 0.05), with a minimum value at 215 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (38.79 s) (Fig. 1A). Anesthesia recovery time was directly related to EOOG concentration (P < 0.05) and varied from 149.55 to 568.1 s (Fig. 1B).

The VF showed a quadratic effect during anesthesia induction (P < 0.05), with a minimum value at 208.33 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (11.27 beats minute<sup>-1</sup>) (Fig. 1C). During anesthesia recovery, VF showed an inverse relationship with EOOG concentration (P < 0.05) (Fig. 1D).



Fig 1 - Anesthesia induction time (A), anesthesia recovery time (B), ventilatory frequency during induction (C) and ventilatory frequency during recovery (D) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) of *Oreochromis niloticus* subjected to different concentrations of the essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (stars represent the minimum value of the equations).

# **Experiment II**

#### **Biochemistry and blood hematology**

After anesthesia induction, *O. niloticus* juveniles submitted to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had higher plasma glucose values (P < 0.05) compared to those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 2A). One hour after recovery, plasma glucose values were equal among the concentrations evaluated (P > 0.05). However, there was a reduction in plasma glucose levels for the concentration of 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG after 1 h recovery compared to after anesthesia induction (P < 0.05).

*O. niloticus* juveniles exposed to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had higher hematocrit values after anesthesia induction compared to treatments of 0 and 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (P < 0.05), which were similar to each other (P > 0.05) (Fig 2B). One hour after recovery, hematocrit was similar between all concentrations evaluated (P > 0.05). There was no significant difference in plasma protein for the tested concentrations between the two evaluated times (P > 0.05). There was also no significant difference among the concentrations assessed during induction and one hour after recovery, nor between times (Fig. 2C).



Fig 2 - Biochemical and hematological parameters of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthesia induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. (A) plasma glucose, (B) hematocrit and (C) plasma protein. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant differences between times for a given concentration.

#### **Oxidative stress variables**

After induction, higher levels of hepatic ROS were observed for fish anesthetized with 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 3A). These values remained higher than those for fish exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG one hour after recovery, when fish that were submitted to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG presented higher levels of hepatic ROS than those recovering from 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There were no differences in gill ROS between times (P < 0.05) for the three EOOG concentrations assessed. The EOOG concentrations evaluated did not influence the levels of ROS in the gills after anesthesia induction and 1 h after recovery (P > 0.05) (Fig. 3B).

There were no significant differences among the tested EOOG concentrations for ROS levels in the kidney after anesthesia induction (P > 0.05) (Fig. 3C). However, there was a decrease in the level of ROS in the kidney for fish of the 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG treatment 1 h after recovery and an increase in those of the 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG treatment (P < 0.05). The highest kidney ROS levels after recovery were for fish anesthetized with 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG, followed by those anesthetized with 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05).

After anesthesia induction, the highest levels of brain ROS were observed in fish anesthetized with 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 3D). One hour after recovery, the highest level of brain ROS was found in fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG, with this value being higher than that observed immediately after anesthesia induction (P < 0.05). The other EOOG concentrations evaluated did not differ significantly between times (P > 0.05).



Fig 3 - Reactive oxygen species (ROS) of liver (A), gills (B), kidney (C) and brain (D) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthesia induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

The highest hepatic SOD activity after anesthetic induction was for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). One hour after recovery, this group showed the lowest hepatic SOD activity, followed by the group submitted to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There was an increase in hepatic SOD activity from induction to one hour after recovery for fish exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG and a decrease in those exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 4A).

The lowest SOD activity in the gills after anesthesia induction was for fish anesthetized with 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). One hour after recovery there were no

significant differences among the assessed EOOG concentrations (P > 0.05). However, there was a reduction in SOD activity in the gills in fish exposed to 0 and 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG one hour after recovery and an increase in those exposed to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 4B).

No significant differences were observed for kidney SOD activity after anesthesia induction (P > 0.05). One hour after recovery, the lowest SOD activity was for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG and the highest activity for those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There were no significant differences in kidney SOD activity between times for the tested concentrations (P > 0.05) (Fig. 4C).

After anesthesia induction, brain SOD activity was significantly lower for fish exposed to both 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG compared those exposed to ethanol (0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG) (P < 0.05). One hour after recovery, the lowest SOD activity was observed in fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There was a reduction in brain SOD activity between times in fish submitted to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG and an increase in those exposed to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 4D).



Fig 4 - Superoxide dismutase (SOD) of liver (A), gills (B), kidney (C) and brain (D) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

After anesthesia induction and 1 h after recovery from EOOG exposure there were no significant differences in hepatic TBARS levels among the assessed concentrations (P > 0.05). Between times, there was an increase in hepatic TBARS levels in fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 5A).

After anesthesia induction, fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had significantly lower TBARS levels in the gills than those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). One hour after

recovery there were no significant differences in gill TBARS levels among EOOG concentrations (P > 0.05). Between times there was a reduction in gill TBARS levels for fish submitted to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG and an increase in those exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> f EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 5B).

After anesthetic induction, no significant differences were observed among the assessed concentrations of EOOG for kidney TBARS levels (P > 0.05). One hour after recovery, higher kidney TBARS levels were observed for fish exposed to 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG compared to those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There was an increase in kidney TBARS levels for fish exposed to 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG one hour after recovery compared to after induction (P < 0.05) (Fig. 5C).

Fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of EOOG had higher brain TBARS levels both after anesthesia induction and one hour after recovery than those submitted to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). There were no differences in brain TBARS levels between times for all concentrations of EOOG (P > 0.05) (Fig. 5D).



Fig 5 - Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) of liver (A), gills (B), kidney (C) and brain (D) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by the Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

There were no significant differences in liver NPSH activity among EOOG concentrations after anesthesia induction and one hour after recovery, and no differences between times for any of the concentrations (P > 0.05) (Fig. 6A). Fish exposed to 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of EOOG had significantly lower gill NPSH activity after anesthetic induction compared to in those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). However, 1 h after recovery, fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had significantly lower gill NPSH activity than did fish exposed

to 0 mg <sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). Between times, gill NPSH activity increased for fish exposed to  $30 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$  of EOOG and decreased for those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (Fig. 6B).

No significant differences were observed in kidney NPSH activity after anesthesia induction for all concentrations tested (P > 0.05). However, 1 h after recovery, fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had the highest kidney NPSH activity, followed by those exposed to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Between times there was only a significant increase in kidney NPSH activity for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 6C). There were no significant differences in brain NPSH activity among EOOG concentrations assessed after anesthesia induction or between times for any of the concentrations (P > 0.05). However, 1 h after recovery, the highest brain NPSH activity was for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 6D).



Fig 6 - Non-protein thiols (NPSH) of liver (A), gills (B), kidney (C) and brain (D) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after

recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

After anesthesia induction, significantly lower and higher hepatic protein levels were observed in fish exposed to 30 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG, respectively, compared to those exposed to 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). One hour after recovery, the highest and lowest hepatic protein levels were for fish exposed to 30 and 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG, respectively (P < 0.05). Between times, there was an increase in hepatic protein levels for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7A).

The highest gill protein levels after anesthesia induction was for in fish exposed to 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05). One hour after recovery, there were no significant differences in gill protein levels among EOOG concentrations (P > 0.05). Between the times, there was an increase in gill protein levels for fish exposed to 0 and 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7B).

There were no significant differences among the three EOOG concentrations for kidney protein levels after anesthetic induction (P > 0.05). However, 1 h after recovery, fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had the highest kidney protein levels (P < 0.05). Between the times there was an increase and a decrease in kidney protein levels for 30 and 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of EOOG, respectively (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7C). Fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had the highest brain protein levels, both after anesthesia induction and 1 h after recovery (P < 0.05). Between the times, there was an increase in brain protein level for fish exposed to 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG (P < 0.05) (Fig. 7D).



Fig 7 - Protein levels of liver (A), gills (B), kidney (C) and brain (D) of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured immediately after anesthetic induction with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) and 1 h after recovery. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration.

## **Experiment III**

#### Water quality

There were no significant differences (P > 0.05) in water quality variables immediately after the transport of *O. niloticus* juveniles exposed to different EOOG concentrations (Table 1).

Table 1. Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) after 4.5 hours of transport of juvenile *O. niloticus* in plastic bags containing water with different concentrations of essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L.

	Temperature	Dissolved oxygen		Total ammonia
EOOG concentrations	(° C) <sup>ns</sup>	$(mg L^{-1})^{ns}$	pH <sup>ns</sup>	$(mg L^{-1})^{ns}$
$0 \text{ mg } L^{-1}$ (ethanol)	$25.74\pm0.11$	$15.14 \pm 1.58$	$6.49\pm0.13$	$0.54\pm0.41$
$5 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$	$27.70\pm0.21$	$14.10\pm1.09$	$6.61\pm0.13$	$0.59\pm0.38$
10 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	$25.68\pm0.16$	$13.53 \pm 1.38$	$6.64\pm0.07$	$0.68\pm0.43$
P - values	0.7881	0.357	0.1506	0.9702
ns				

ns not significant

# Blood biochemical and hematological parameters

Survival was 100% at 96 h post-transport and all animals resumed feeding within 24 h. After transport, fish transported with 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG had significantly higher plasma glucose levels and lower hematocrit than the basal group and the other treatments (P < 0.05) (Fig. 8A, B). Plasma protein was not affected by transport for any of the EOOG concentrations (P > 0.05) (Fig. 8C).



Fig 8. Biochemical and hematological parameters of *Oreochromis niloticus* measured after transport with essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG). Basal group: fish not transported. Ethanol group: 0 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Plasma glucose (A), hematocrit (B) and plasma protein (C). Values (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) (N = 12 animals per treatment). The data were analyzed by two-way Anova, followed by Tukey post-test (P < 0.05). Different lowercase letters indicate a significant difference between concentrations at the same time (after induction or 1 h after recovery). Different capital letters indicate a significant difference between times for a given concentration. Asterisk indicates a significant difference from the basal group.

## 4. Discussion

EOOG proved to be efficient and safe as anesthesia and for transport of *O. niloticus*, with induction and recovery times within acceptable limits for fish and minimal influence on biochemical, hematological and water quality variables. However, the use of EOOG favored lipid peroxidation in the kidney, which indicates the possible development of oxidative stress.

No mortality was observed during anesthesia and sedation of juvenile *O. niloticus*. Netto et al. (2017) also did not observe mortality rates for this species after being subjected different concentrations of the essential oils of *O. basilicum* and *Cymbopogum flexuosus* for anesthesia and sedation. EOOG also proved to be safe for *R. quelen* (Silva et al., 2015), *Colossoma macropomum* (Boijink et al., 2016), *B. amazonicus* (Ribeiro et al., 2016) and *O. niloticus* (Adewale et al., 2017). According to Keene et al. (1998) and Ross and Ross (2008), the ideal concentration of an anesthetic should induce anesthesia in fish in less than 180 seconds and have a recovery time of less than 300 seconds. Thus, 90 and 150 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG would be the most suitable concentrations for juvenile *O. niloticus* with an average weight of 45 g. Adewale et al. (2017) indicated EOOG concentrations between 60 to 100 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for anesthesia of *O. niloticus* with an average weight of 20 g.

Ventilation frequency is a useful parameter for understanding the physiology of fish when using anesthetics (Alvarenga and Volpato, 1995). The juvenile of *O. niloticus* in the present study had a higher VF during anesthesia induction and recovery with 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. Increased fish VF during induction may be related to the disturbance caused by a stressor in the water (anesthetic) (Matthews and Varga, 2012). However, after the first minutes of contact with an anesthetic, VF decreases considerably (Becker et al., 2012). Silva et al. (2019) did not establish a direct relationship between anesthetic concentration of the essential oils of *L. alba* and *L. origanoides* and VF for *C. macropomum*, with the exception of the anesthesia stage at 200  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> *L. origanoides* EO, which led to a lower VF than did 25  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>, suggesting that this relationship may be species-specific.

Plasma glucose was higher in fish anesthetized with 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG immediately after induction. Fish in stressful situations, such as biometry and transport, for example, release catecholamines and corticosteroids that activate the processes of gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis, which mobilize and increase glucose in the bloodstream to deal with the increased energy demand (Barton and Iwama, 1991; Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Pankhust et al., 2011). However, the hyperglycemia observed with 30 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG after induction may be related to increased fish agitation and hypoxia caused during this step. A similar phenomenon was described by Hohlenwerger et al. (2016) during anesthesia of *O. niloticus* with the essential oil of *L. alba*, with the glycemia tending to gradually return to normal levels (Teixeira et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2020), as observed after 1 h of recovery in the present study.

The elevation of hematocrit in *O. niloticus* juveniles anesthetized with 90 mg  $L^{-1}$  EOOG characterizes hemoconcentration caused by osmoregulatory adjustments (Houston et

al., 1996; McDonald and Milligan et al., 1997); however, all treatments showed similar values at 1 h post-recovery. Increased hematocrit has also been observed for other species during anesthesia with eugenol (Hill and Foster, 2004; Pádua et al., 2012; Ribeiro et al., 2019).

Tissue cells maintain a balance between prooxidant and antioxidant agents in situations that do not cause discomfort to animals (Poli et al., 2012). When an imbalance occurs between these agents, the oxidative stress process begins, characterized by the formation of ROS, which cause lipid and protein oxidation (Esterbauer, 1996; Baldissera et al., 2020). At the time of anesthesia induction, fish may experience a situation similar to hypoxia due to decreased VF. During recovery from anesthesia, tissue reoxygenation occurs and may affect the synthesis of ROS in tissues (Gressler et al., 2014; Velisek et al., 2011). The handling of fish in water and water with low concentrations of ethanol can affect the prooxidant and antioxidant balance and cause tissue damage (Souza et al., 2018). In the current study, ROS was produced in the liver and kidney 1 h after recovery in *O. niloticus* anesthetized with EOOG. This increase can be understood as an aversive response of the organism to EOOG. The main compound of EOOG used in this study was eugenol (Silva et al., 2012). Despite its analgesic and antioxidant properties, the concentration of eugenol used can cause cytotoxic effects and increase ROS in tissues (Atsumi, 2015; Bezerra et al., 2017).

The increase of antioxidant enzymes in tissues is related to oxidative substances that stimulate the antioxidant defense system (Yu, 1994; Luczaj et al., 2017). SOD is one of the main enzymes involved in the clearance of ROS produced in cells (Cheeseman and Slater, 1994). This enzyme functions by converting ROS to  $H_2O_2$  and  $H_2O$ , and then convert  $H_2O_2$  and  $O_2$  by the enzymatic action of catalases (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPx) (Li et al., 2009; Velisek et al., 2011). The highest values for hepatic, kidney and brain SOD were observed 1 h after recovery for *O. niloticus* juveniles exposed to 0 and 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. This increase suggests an attempt by the organism to revert to the synthesis of ROS in tissues after anesthesia with EOOG.

TBARS analysis is commonly used to assess oxidative damage, with lipid peroxidation being responsible for the loss of cell function under oxidative stress (Huang et al., 2003). Higher levels of TBARS in the kidney were observed 1 h after recovery of fish exposed to EOOG. Increased levels of TBARS in the kidney characterize the synthesis of lipid peroxidation, which indicates the possible development of oxidative stress when using EOOG to anesthetize *O. niloticus*. Recently, Souza et al. (2018) observed higher levels of

TBARS in the kidney of *R. quelen* immediately after anesthesia with *L. alba* essential oil of the linalool chemotype. However, these authors found that these values were reduced after eight hours of recovery. In addition, the levels of gill, kidney and brain NPSH and hepatic, kidney and brain protein remained elevated 1 h after the recovery of *O. niloticus* exposed to EOOG. This observation demonstrates the protection of cellular proteins against oxidation through the NPSH redox cycle or by directly detoxifying ROS caused by exposure to stressors (Ruas et al., 2008). When evaluating the effects of different chemotypes of the essential oil of *L. alba* in *R. quelen*, Souza et al. (2018) observed that the linalool chemotype was able to reduce damage to lipids and proteins in the liver and kidney; however, the same did not occur after 8 h of recovery of fish anesthetized with the citral chemotype, demonstrating that oxidative defenses were not completely capable of reducing ROS synthesis or preventing tissue damage.

The EOOG concentrations used in the present study did not lead to changes in water quality or plasma protein levels of *O. niloticus* juveniles at the end of transport. Favero et al. (2019) also did not find any differences in water quality parameters and plasma protein values for juvenile *Lophiosilurus alexandri* transported in water containing eugenol. In addition, the water quality parameters were within acceptable levels for *O. niloticus* at the end of transport (Shoko et al., 2014).

There was an increase of plasma glucose of *O. niloticus* immediately after transport with 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG. This hyperglycemia may be due to the increased energy demand and metabolic responses of fish during stressful situations (Barton and Iwama, 1991; Wendelaar Bonga, 1997; Velisek et al., 2011). Juveniles of *C. macropomum* transported with eugenol also showed an increase in plasma glucose shortly after transport and a reduction to basal levels after 96 h of recovery (Santos et al., 2020). The lower hematocrit of *O. niloticus* transported with 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG may also be associated with acute and induced stress (McDonald and Milligan, 1997; Navarro et al., 2016) or hemodilution through osmoregulatory mechanisms (Houston et al., 1996). The use of eugenol as a sedative and anesthetic for juvenile *L. alexandri* also decreased hematocrit values (Favero et al., 2019; Ribeiro et al., 2019). However, despite these differences in glucose and hematocrit, survival after 96 hours was 100%, and the animals started to feed again within 24 hours after the end of the test.

# 5. Conclusions

Concentrations of 90 and 150 mg L<sup>-1</sup> of essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (EOOG) are considered ideal for anesthetizing *O. niloticus* juveniles with an average weight of 41 g. In spite of the use of 90 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG prevented elevated plasma glucose, it may have caused lipid damage to the kidneys and changes to the antioxidant defense system by increasing hepatic and brain ROS concentration and reducing brain TBARS activity. Additional studies analyzing the effect of these concentrations on different times of anesthesia and recovery will allow a better understanding of the efficacy of EOOG for *O. niloticus*. The concentration of 5 mg L<sup>-1</sup> EOOG can be indicated for the transport of *O. niloticus* with an average weight of 12 g for 4.5 hours.

# **Declarations**

#### Funding

The present research was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-Brazil), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-Brazil) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG-Brazil). R.K. Luz and B. Baldisserotto received research fellowships from CNPq (CNPq No. 308547/2018-7 and 301225/2017-6, respectively).

# **Conflict of Interest**

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

# **Ethics approval**

Three experiments were carried out at the Laboratório de Aquacultura (LAQUA) of the Escola de Veterinária (EV) of the Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), with approval of the Comissão de Ética no Uso de Animais (CEUA) of this institution (registration numbers 324/2018 and 42/2020).

#### **Consent to participle**

All names in author list have been involved in various stages of experimentation or writing.

#### **Consent to publication**

All authors agree with submit the paper for publication in the Journal of Fish Physiology and Biochemistry.

#### Availability of data and material

The data and material that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

#### **Code availability**

Not applicable.

## 6. References

- Adewale AY, Adeshina I, Yusuf OY (2017) Anaesthetic effect of Ocimum gratissimum extract on Oreochromis niloticus juveniles. Eur Exp Biol 7:2-7. https://doi.org/10.21767/2248-9215.100007.
- Alvarenga CMD, Volpato GL (1995) Agonistic profile and metabolism in alevins of the Nile tilapia. Physiol Behav 57:75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)00206-K.
- Albuquerque UP, Medeiros PM, Almeida ALS, Monteiro JM, Neto LEMF, Melo JG, Santos JP (2007) Medicinal plants of the caatinga (semi-arid) vegetation of NE Brazil: a quantitative approach. J Ethnopharmacol 114:325–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2007.08.017.
- Atsumi T, Fujisawa S, Tonosaki K (2005) A comparative study of the antioxidant/prooxidant activities of eugenol and isoeugenol with various concentrations and oxidation conditions 19:1025–1033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2005.04.012.

- Baldissera MD, Souza CF, Boaventura TP, Nakayama CL, Baldisserotto B, Luz RK (2019) Involvement of the phosphoryl transfer network in gill bioenergetic imbalance of pacamã (*Lophiosilurus alexandri*) subjected to hypoxia: notable participation of creatine kinase. Fish Physiol Biochem 46:405-416. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-019-00728-0.
- Bandeira JG, Pês TS, Saccol EM, Sutili FJ, Rossi JW, Murari AL, Baldisserotto B (2017) Potential uses of *Ocimum gratissimum* and *Hesperozygis ringens* essential oils in aquaculture. Ind Crops Prod 97:484-491. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.12.040.
- Barton BA (2002) Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integr Comp Biol 42:517-525. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.3.517.
- Becker AG, Parodi TV, Heldwein CG, Zeppenfeld CC, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2012) Transportation of silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*, in water with eugenol and the essential oil of *Lippia alba*. Fish Physiol Biochem 38:789-796. https://doi: 10.1007/s10695-011-9562-4.
- Becker AG, Luz RK, Mattioli CC, Nakayama CL, Silva WDS, Leme FDOP, Baldisserotto B (2017) Can the essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* have anesthetic effect and improve the physiological parameters of the carnivorous freshwater catfish *Lophiosilurus alexandri* after transport? Aquaculture 481:184-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.09.007.
- Benovit SC, Gressler LT, Lima SL, Oliveira GL, Okamoto MH, Santos PJ, Baldisserotto B (2012) Anesthesia and transport of Brazilian flounder, *Paralichthys orbignyanus*, with essential oils of *Aloysia gratissima* and *Ocimum gratissimum*. J World Aquac Soc 43:896-900. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-7345.2012.00604.x.
- Beutler E (1984) Superoxide dismutase. In: Beutler E (Editor), Red Cell Metabolism. A manual of biochemical methods. Grune & Stratton, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, pp 83-85.
- Bezerra DP, Militão GCG, Morais MC, Sousa DP (2017) The dual antioxidant/prooxidant effect of eugenol and its action in cancer development and treatment. Nutrients 9:1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu9121367.
- Boaventura TP, Souza CF, Ferreira AL, Favero GC, Baldissera MD, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B, Luz RK (2020) Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753)

as anesthetic for *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Induction, recovery, hematology, biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 529:735676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735676.

- Boaventura TP, Souza CF, Ferreira AL, Favero GC, Baldissera MD, Heinzmann BM, Luz RK (2021) The use of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. essential oil during the transport of *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: Water quality, hematology, blood biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 531:735964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735964.
- Cheeseman KH, Slater TF (1994) An introduction to free radicals. Choice Reviews Online 31:31-2692. https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.31-2692.
- Cunha MA, Barros FMC, Garcia LO, Veeck APL, Heinzmann BM, Loro VL, Emanuelli T, Baldisserotto B (2010) Essential oil of *Lippia alba*: a new anesthetic for silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*. Aquaculture 306:403-406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.06.014.

Ellman GL (1959) Tissue sulfhydryl groups. Arch Biochem Biophys 82:70-77.

- Esterbauer H (1996) Estimation of peroxidative damage. A critical review. Pathol Biol 44:25-28.
- FAO (2018) The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2018 Meeting the sustainable development goals. Rome.
- Favero GC, Silva WDS, Boaventura TP, Leme FDOP, Luz RK (2019) Eugenol or salt to mitigate stress during the transport of juvenile *Lophiosilurus alexandri*, a Neotropical carnivorous freshwater catfish. Aquaculture 512:734321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734321.
- Ferreira AL, Silva WDS, Neves CL, Ferreira NS, Takata R, Luz RK (2020) Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae*. Aquac Int 28:1837-1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-020-00561-w.
- Gil HW, Ko MG, Lee TH, Park IS, Kim DS (2016) Anesthetic effect and physiological response in olive flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) to clove oil in a simulated transport experiment. Dev Reprod 20:255-266. https://doi.org/10.12717/DR.2016.20.3.255.

- Gimbo RY, Saita MV, Gonçalves AFN, Takahashi LS (2008) Diferentes concentrações de benzocaína na indução anestésica do lambari-do-rabo- amarelo (*Astyanax altiparanae*). Rev Bras Saúde Prod Anim 9:350-357.
- Goes GA, Oliva RA, Ronqui RG, Queiroz TR, Satolo EG (2017) Descrição do sistema logístico de transporte: uma análise conceitual envolvendo piscicultura. S Am Dev Soc J 1:100-115.
- Goldenfarb PB, Bowyer FP, Hall E, Brosius E (1971) Reproducibility in the hematology laboratory: the microhematocrit determinations. Amer J Clin Pathol 56:35–39. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcp/56.1.35.
- Gressler LT, Parodi TV, Riffel APK, Costa ST, Baldisserotto B (2012) Immersion anaesthesia with tricaine methanesulphonate or propofol on different sizes and strains of silver cat fish *Rhamdia quelen*. J Fish Biol 81:1436-1445. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2012.03409.x.
- Gressler LT, Riffel APK, Parodi TV, Saccol EMH, Koakoski G, Costa ST, Pavanato MA, Heinzmann BM, Caron B, Schmidt D, Llesuy SF, Barcellos LJG, Baldisserotto B (2014) Silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen* immersion anaesthesia with essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* (L'Hérit) Britton or tricaine methanesulfonate: Effect on stress response and antioxidant status. Aquac Res 45:1061–1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12043.
- Hill JV, Forster ME (2004) Cardiovascular responses of Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) during rapid anaesthetic induction and recovery. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 137:167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2004.01.002.
- Hohlenwerger JC, Copatti EC, Sena CA, Couto DR, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Schmidt D (2016) Could the essential oil of *Lippia albaprovide* a readily available and cost-effective anaesthetic for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*)? Mar Freshw Behav Phy 49:119–126. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236244.2015.1123869.
- Hohlenwerger JC, Baldisserotto B, Couto RD, Heinzmann BM, Silva DTD, Caron BO, Copatti CE (2017) Essential oil of *Lippia alba* in the transport of Nile tilapia. Cienc. Rural, 47:e20160040. https://dx.doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20160040.
- Houston AH, Dobric N, Kahurananga R (1996) The nature of hematological response in fish. Studies on rainbow trout *Oncorhyncus myki*ss exposed to stimulated winter, spring and

summer conditions. Fish Physiol Biochem 15:339–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02112561.

- Huang CH, Chang RJ, Huang SL, Chen WL (2003) Dietary vitamin E supplementation affects tissue lipid peroxidation of hybrid tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* × *Oreochromis aureus*. Comp Biochem Physiol B 134:265–270. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-4959(02)00256-7.
- Iwama GK, Afonso LOB, Vijayan MM (2006) Stress in fishes. In: Evans D.H., Claiborne J.B. (Eds.), The Physiology of Fishes. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. 319-342.
- Keene JI, Noakes DIG, Moccia RD, Soto GC (1998) The efficacy of clove oil as an anesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquac Res 29:89-101. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2109.1998.00927.x.
- King HR (2009) Fish transport in the aquaculture sector: an overview of the road transport of Atlantic salmon in Tasmania. J Vet Behav 4:163–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.09.034
- LeBel CP, Ischiropoulos H, Bondy SC (1992) Evaluation of the probe 2',7'-dichlorofluorescin as an indicator of reactive oxygen species formation and oxidative stress. Chem Res Toxicol 5:227–231. https://doi.org/10.1021/tx00026a012.
- Li ZH, Xie S, Wang JX, Sales J, Li P, Chen DQ (2009) Effect of intermittent starvation on growth and some antioxidant indexes of *Macrobrachium nipponense* (De Haan). Aquac Res 40:526–532. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2008.02123.x.
- Luczaj W, Gęgotek A, Skrzydlewska E (2017) Antioxidants and HNE in redox homeostasis. Free Radic Biol Med 111:87–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2016.11.033
- Mcdonald G, Milligan L (1997) Ionic, osmotic and acid-base regulation in stress. In: Iwana GW, Pickering AD, Sumpter JP, Schreck CB (eds) Fish stress and health in aquaculture. University Press, Cambridge, pp 119–144.
- Matés JM (2000) Effects of antioxidant enzymes in the molecular control of reactive oxygen species toxicology. Toxicology 153:83-104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(00)00306-1.

- Matthews M, Varga ZM (2012) Anesthesia and euthanasia in zebrafish. ILAR Journal 53:192–204. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.53.2.192
- Mommsen TP, Vijayan MM, Moon TW (1999) Cortisol in teleosts: dynamics, mechanisms of action, and metabolic regulation. Rev Fish Biol Fish 9:211-268.
- Navarro RD, França PR, Paludo GR, Bizarro SYW, Silva FR, Pereira S, Navarro FK (2016) Physiological and hematological responses of Nile tilápia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) to different anesthesics during simulated transport conditions. Acta Sci 38:301-306. https://doi.org/ 10.4025/actascitechnol.v38i3.28377.
- Netto JDL, Oliveira RS, Copatti CE (2017) Efficiency of essential oils of *Ocimum basilicum* and *Cymbopogum flexuosus* in the sedation and anaesthesia of Nile tilapia juveniles. An Acad Bras Cienc 89:2971-2974. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201720170001.
- Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K (1979) Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. Anal Biochem 95:351-358.
- Pádua SB, Ventura AS, Satake F, Ishikawa MM, Hisano H, Rotta MA, Arantes FC (2012) Hematological responses in tuvira after clove oil anesthesia at different concentrations. Bol Inst Pesca 38:181–188.
- Pankhurst NW (2011) The endocrinology of stress in fish: an environmental perspective. Gen Comp Endocrinol 170:265-275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.07.017
- Poli G, Leonarduzzi G, Biasi F, Chiarpotto E (2012) Oxidative stress and cell signalling. Curr Med Chem 11:1163–1182. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867043365323
- Read SM, Northcote DH (1981) Minimization of variation in the response to different proteins of the Coomassie blue G dye-binding assay for protein. Anal Biochem 116:53-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/0003-2697(81)90321-3.
- Ribeiro PAP, Miranda Filho KC, Melillo Filho R, Santos AEH, Souza WDS, Rodrigues LA, Luz RK (2013) Efeito anestésico do eugenol em juvenis de pacamã. Pesq Agropec Bras 48:1136-1139. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X2013000800048.
- Ribeiro PA, Miranda Filho KC, Melo DCD, Luz RK (2015) Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early life stages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). An Acad Bras Cienc 87:529-535. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201520140024.

- ibeiro AS, Batista EDS, Dairiki JK, Chaves FCM, Inoue LAKA (2016) Anesthetic properties of *Ocimum gratissimum* essential oil for juvenile matrinxã. Acta Sci Anim Sci 38:1-7. https://doi.org/10.4025/actascianimsci.v38i1.28787.
- Ribeiro PAP, Hoyos MDC, Oliveira CG, Flora DMAL, Luz RK (2019) Eugenol and benzocaine as anesthetics for *Lophiosilurus alexandri* juvenile, a freshwater carnivorous catfish. Aquacult Int 27:313-321. https://doi.org/doi:10.1007/s10499-018-0326-3.
- Ross LG, Ross B (2008) Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Science, United Kingdom.
- Rotili DA, Devens AM, Diemer O, Lorenz KE, Lazzari R, Boscolo RW (2012) Uso de eugenol como anestésico em pacu. Pesqui Agropecu Trop 42:288-294. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1983-40632012000300013.
- Ruas CBG, Carvalho CS, Araújo HSS, Espíndola ELG, Fernandes MN (2008) Oxidative stress biomarkers of exposure in the blood of cichlid species from a metal contaminated river. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 71:86-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2007.08.018.
- Salbego J, Toni C, Becker AG, Zeppenfeld CC, Menezes CC, Loro VL, Baldisserotto B (2017) Biochemical parameters of silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*) after transport with eugenol or essential oil of *Lippia alba* added to the water. Braz J Biol 77:696-702. https://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.16515.
- Santos ELR, Rezende FP, Moron SE (2020) Stress-related physiological and histological responses of tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) to transportation in water with tea tree and clove essential oil anesthetics. Aquaculture 523:735164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735164.
- Shoko AP, Limbu SM, Mrosso HD, Mgaya YD (2014) A comparison of diurnal dynamics of water quality parameters in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*, Linnaeus, 1758) monoculture and polyculture with African sharp tooth catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*, Burchell, 1822) in earthen ponds. Int Aquatic Res 6:56-63. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40071-014-0056-8.
- Silva LL, Parodi TV, Reckziegel P, Oliveira GV, Bürger ME, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM (2012) Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L.: Anesthetic effects, mechanism of

action and tolerance in silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*. Aquaculture 350:91-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2012.04.012.

- Silva LL, Garlet QI, Koakoski G, Oliveira TA, Barcellos LJG, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM (2015) Effects of anesthesia with the essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. in parameters of fish stress. Rev Bras Plantas Med 17:215-223. https://doi.org/10.1590/1983-084X/13\_034.
- Silva HNPD, Carvalho BCFD, Maia JLDS, Becker AG, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Silva LVFD (2019) Anesthetic potential of the essential oils of *Lippia alba* and *Lippia* origanoides in Tambaqui juveniles. Cien Rural 49:e20181059. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20181059.
- Silva LA, Martins MA, Santo FE, Oliveira FC, Chaves FCM, Chagas EC, Martins LM, Campos CM (2020) Essential oils of *Ocimum gratissimum* and *Zingiber officinale* as anesthetics of the South American catfish *Pseudoplatystoma reticulatum*. Aquaculture 528:735595.
- Simões RM, Ribeiro AFC, Ribeiro ACS, Park JK, Murr XEF (2007) Composição físicoquímica, microbiológica e rendimento do filé de tilápia tailandesa (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Cienc Tecnol Aliment 27:608-613 https://doi.org/10.1590/s0101-20612007000300028.
- Souza CF, Baldissera MD, Bianchini AE, Silva EG, Mourão RHV, Silva LVF, Baldisserotto B (2018) Citral and linalool chemotypes of *Lippia alba* essential oil as anesthetics for fish: a detailed physiological analysis of side effects during anesthetic recovery in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Fish Physiol Biochem 44:21-34. https://doi.org/ doi:10.1007/s10695-017-0410-z.
- Teixeira RR, Souza RC, Sena AC, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Couto RD, Copatti CE (2017) Essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* in Nile tilapia: anaesthesia, stress parameters and sensory evaluation of fillets. Aquac Res 48:3383-3392. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13165.
- Velisek J, Stara A, Li ZH, Silovska S, Turek J (2011) Comparison of the effects of four anaesthetics on blood biochemical profiles and oxidative stress biomarkers in rainbow trout. Aquaculture 310:369-375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2010.11.010.

- Ventura AS, Jerônimo GT, Oliveira SN, Araújo GAM, Cardoso CAL, Teodoro GC, Povh JA (2020) Natural anesthetics in the transport of Nile tilapia: Hematological and biochemical responses and residual concentration in the fillet. Aquaculture 526:735365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735365.
- Wendelaar Bonga SE (1997) The stress response in fish. Physiol Rev 77:591-625. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1997.77.3.591
- Winston GW (1991) Oxidants and antioxidants in aquatic animals. Comp Biochem Physiol. C 100:173-176.
- Yu BP (1994) Cellular defenses against damage from reactive oxygen species. Physiol Rev 74:139-162. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.1994.74.1.139
- Zahl IH, Kiessling A, Samuelsen OB, Olsen RE (2010) Anesthesia induces stress in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*), Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*) and Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*). Fish Physiol Biochem 36:719-730. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-009-9346-2

# **ARTIGO 5**

# Efficacy of *Hesperozygis ringens* essential oil as an anesthetic and for sedation of juvenile tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) during simulated transport

# **Running Head**

# H. ringens for anesthesia/transport of tambaqui

Artigo publicado no periódico Aquaculture International https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-022-00868-w

#### Abstract

This study evaluated the anesthetic and sedative effects of the essential oil of Hesperozygis ringens (EOHR) on juveniles Colossoma macropomum. Experiment 1 exposed juveniles  $(3.35 \pm 0.73 \text{ g})$  to 0 (control), 75, 150, 300 and 450 µL L<sup>-1</sup> of EOHR, with 10 replications each. Induction time showed a quadratic effect ( $R^2 = 0.8628$ ), while recovery time showed a direct linear effect ( $R^2 = 0.7527$ ). Concentrations between 150 and 450 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR are therefore recommended for use as anesthetic for C. macropomum. Experiment 2 evaluated 0, 5, 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> of EOHR for two periods of transport (4 and 24 h) of juveniles (1.46 ± 0.58 g) in 32 plastic bags (30 x 40 cm) containing 1 L of water, 2/3 of pure oxygen with 10 fish per bag. All EOHR treatments had lower dissolved oxygen (DO) after 24 h, while 15 and 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower non-ionized ammonia after 4 and 24 h. Experiment 3 used the same procedures as Experiment 2 for 24 h of transport with juveniles  $(1.77 \pm 0.58 \text{ g})$  in 16 plastic bags at the same density (10 fish  $L^{-1}$ ). Concentrations of 15 and 30  $\mu$ L  $L^{-1}$  EOHR had lower pH after 24 h and all EOHR treatments had lower DO. No mortality was observed. Experiment 4 tested the same concentrations of EOHR evaluated in Experiment 2 but using 16 plastic bags without fish. The concentrations of 15 and 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower DO and pH after 24 h.

Key words: Anesthetic and sedative, Dissolved oxygen, Handling stress, Tambaqui, Water quality

# **1. Introduction**

Procedures adopted in aquaculture, such as confinement, stripping of eggs and milt from brood-stock, sampling and transport, can trigger acute or chronic stress in fish (Barton 2002).

Anesthesia promotes safety for fish and handlers during different stressful management practices adopted in fish farms (Ross and Ross 2008). The effective concentrations of an anesthetic are associated with fish species and size (Ross and Ross 2008), thus prior characterization of anesthetic effectiveness is necessary (King 2009). Anesthesia induction and recovery times considered ideal for fish are up to 180 s and 300 s, respectively (Keene et al. 1998; Ross and Ross 2008).

Some essential oils, and their isolated compounds, extracted from plants are advantageous as anesthetics and/or sedatives over synthetic compounds. This is because these natural substances can mitigate the effects of stress caused by biometric handling and transport of live fish (Gressler et al. al. 2014; Braz et al. 2018; Souza et al. 2019; Brandão et al. 2021; Sousa et al. 2021), yet have the potential to be safer and more economical and environmentally friendly (Mirghaed et al. 2018; Aydın et al. 2019; Aydın and Barbas 2020). Espanta pulga, *Hesperozygis ringens*, is a native plant of South Brazil (Dolwitsch et al. 2020) whose essential oil (EOHR; pulegone 95.18% and limonene 1.28%) (Toni et al. 2014) demonstrated anesthetic properties for the silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen* (Silva et al. 2013; Toni et al. 2015).

Tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum* is a migratory fish species native to the Amazon and Orinoco river basins (Araújo-Lima and Goulding 1998; Reis 2003). Its consumption is appreciated in Brazil, Colombia, Venezuela and Peru (Woynárovich and Anrooy 2019), with production in Brazilian being second only to that of Nile tilapia, *O. niloticus* (Peixe BR 2020). *Colossoma macropomum* is considered a rustic animal with fast growth (Araújo-Dairiki et al. 2018) and easy management (Araújo-Lima and Goulding 1998), which has made it popular for aquaculture (Gomes and Baldisserotto 2019). Given that alternative natural anesthetics are needed to promote greater safety and welfare during the various handlings of fish of commercial interest, this work aimed to analyze the effects of EOHR on anesthesia induction and recovery times and ventilatory frequency of small juveniles of *C. macropomum* and its use as a sedative in their simulated transport.

## 2. Material and Methods

The experiments were approved by the Ethics Committee on the Use of Animals of the Federal University of Minas Gerais (registration number 35/2021).

# Anesthetic

The anesthetic used was extracted from fresh *H. ringens* leaves through a 3 h hydrodistillation using a Clevenger-type apparatus, as described by Toni et al. (2014). According to the same authors, the main components of the essential oil of *H. ringens* (EOHR) are pulegone (95.18 %) and limonene (1.28 %).

# Fish maintenance

Juveniles of *C. macropomum* (with homogeneous weights, weighed during each experiment) were kept in 42-L tanks, at stocking density of 10 juvenile per tank, in a recirculating aquaculture system (RAS) for two weeks prior to all experiments. The fish were fed commercial feed (Supra, Brazil; size 1.7 mm) with 460 g kg<sup>-1</sup> crude protein, 140 g kg<sup>-1</sup> mineral matter and 80 g kg<sup>-1</sup> ether extract (according to the manufacturer), up to apparent satiety twice a day (08:00 and 16:00 h). Drilling water was used and maintained at a temperature of 28.53  $\pm$  0.34 °C, with a pH of 7.23  $\pm$  0.22 (Hanna HI98130 multiparameter probe), dissolved oxygen level of 4.71  $\pm$  0.15 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (EcoSense® DO200A oximeter) and non-ionized ammonia of 0.0028  $\pm$  0.0015 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Alfakit Labcon Test colorimetric kit). Two water changes (50% of the RAS useful volume) were made each week. The fish were fasted for 24 h prior the start of each of the three experiments.

#### **Experiment 1** – Anesthetic effect of EOHR for *C. macropomum* juveniles

Fifty juveniles of *C. macropomum* (total length  $5.83 \pm 0.54$  cm, weight  $3.35 \pm 0.73$  g) allocated in five tanks at a density of 10 fish per tank were submitted to the following concentrations of EOHR: 0 (control - only alcohol at the concentration used as diluent), 75, 150, 300 and 450 µL L<sup>-1</sup>, according to Toni et al. (2014). The EOHR was previously diluted in 5 mL of ethyl alcohol (99.8% purity) (Ferreira et al. 2021). The fish were distributed in a completely randomized design (n = 10 fish for each concentration), and the control group was exposed to the same volume of ethyl alcohol (Ribeiro et al. 2015; Ferreira et al., 2021). Each fish was considered a replicate (n = 10 for each concentration). For induction, each fish (one

at a time) was allocated to a continuously aerated 1-L beaker containing water from the RAS and pre-established EOHR concentrations. Control-treated fish were observed for 10 min during anesthesia induction and for another 5 min during recovery. Anesthesia induction and recovery times were measured with a digital chronometer (Taksun Ts1809). The behavioral characteristics of deep anesthesia used in this test consisted of total loss of consciousness and absence of swimming (Small 2003; Ross and Ross 2008). Ventilatory frequency (VF) was directly counted during anesthesia induction (starting at the first contact with the anesthetic solution) through visualization and use of a manual counter, following Alvarenga and Volpato (1995) with modifications. After deep anesthesia, the animals underwent biometry (duration of 30 s), during which weight was measured using a Mars AD5002 analytical balance and total length with a ruler. Each fish was then placed in another 1-L beaker, containing water from the RAS without anesthetic, to assess anesthesia recovery time and count VF during recovery. Fish behavior indicating recovery consisted of the return of complete swimming balance (Small 2003; Ross and Ross 2008). The VF of fish of the control group was also measured during the observation of anesthesia recovery.

After the tests, fish of each anesthetic concentration were grouped and relocated in their respective original tanks (42-L) in the RAS to observe the return of feeding and record survival up to 96 h post-recovery. During this period, the animals were fed twice a day until apparent satiety and were observed for a period of 30 min (small amount of fish) to visualize the search and ingestion of food.

**Experiment 2** – Effects of EOHR added to transport water for *C. macropomum* juveniles

Twenty-four hours before simulated transport, the temperature of the RAS (fish maintenance) was gradually reduced over four hours and then kept at  $26.32 \pm 0.07$  °C, with a pH of 7.47  $\pm$  0.08, dissolved oxygen of 4.49  $\pm$  0.32 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, and non-ionized ammonia of 0.003  $\pm$  0.0009 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. Clean water, with a temperature of  $26.47 \pm 0.09$  °C, dissolved oxygen of 4.68  $\pm$  0.24 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, pH of 6.72  $\pm$  0.12 and non-ionized ammonia of 0.0002  $\pm$  0.0004 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, was used to fill the plastic bags for transport.

A total of 320 juveniles of *C. macropomum* (total length  $4.29 \pm 0.44$  cm, weight 1.46  $\pm 0.58$  g) allocated in 32 tanks of the RAS at a density of 10 fish per tank were transferred to

32 plastic bags (30 x 40 cm) containing 1 L of water, 2/3 of pure oxygen and respective concentration of EOHR. The bags contained EOHR concentrations of 0 (control - only water), 5, 15 or 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>, and were subjected to simulated transport for two independent time periods (4 and 24 h) in a completely randomized design, with four replicates (bags) each. The EOHR was previously diluted in 5 mL of ethyl alcohol (99.8% purity). The plastic bags were inflated with pure oxygen and sealed with elastic material at 12:00 pm. For the transport simulation, the closed plastic bags were randomly allocated among polystyrene boxes and shaken every 30 min during the day (until 6 pm on the same day and from 8 am on the following day) to simulate the disturbance that occurs during the transport of live fish. After the simulated transport time periods, the respective plastic bags were opened and the water quality parameters (temperature, dissolved oxygen, pH and non-ionized ammonia) were immediately measured and animal survival determined. Ammonia excretion during transport was calculated following Garcia et al. (2015).

After the experiments, fish of each anesthetic concentration (EOHR) and time-period of simulated transport were grouped and relocated in their respective original tanks in the RAS (identified) to observe the return of feeding and record survival up to 96 h post-simulated transport. Assessment of appetite return and survival was performed as described in Experiment 1.

**Experiment 3** – New simulated 24-hour transport of *C. macropomum* juveniles with different concentrations of EOHR

Based on the results of Experiment 2, in which low levels of dissolved oxygen were observed after 24 hours of transport with EOHR (see results), another 24-hour simulated transport was performed. Clean water with a temperature of  $26.25 \pm 0.07$  °C, dissolved oxygen of  $4.68 \pm 0.24$  mg L<sup>-1</sup>, pH of  $6.84 \pm 0.09$  and non-ionized ammonia of  $0.0002 \pm 0.0008$  mg L<sup>-1</sup> was used to fill the plastic bags for transport. A total of 160 juveniles of *C*. *macropomum* (total length  $4.67 \pm 0.38$  cm, weight  $1.77 \pm 0.58$  g) distributed in 16 tanks at a density of 10 fish per tank were transferred to 16 plastic bags (30 x 40 cm), containing 1 L of water, 2/3 of pure oxygen and respective concentration of EOHR, at the same density (10 fish L<sup>-1</sup>). The fish were randomly distributed among the plastic bags containing the EOHR concentrations of 0 (control - only water), 5, 15 and 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup>, in a completely randomized

design with four replicates (bags). The same procedures described in Experiment 2 were adopted.

**Experiment 4** – Effects of EOHR on water physicochemical parameters after 24 hours of simulated transport without fish

Based on the low dissolved oxygen levels observed in the treatments with EOHR at the end of experiments 2 and 3 (see results), a new test was performed without the use of fish to verify whether the EOHR itself has any effect on dissolved oxygen levels. This experiment evaluated the same EOHR concentrations: 0 (control - only water), 5, 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> in simulated transport water after 24 h. Clean water, with a temperature of 26.20 ± 0.08 °C, dissolved oxygen of 4.21 ± 0.42 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, pH of 7.04 ± 0.07 and non-ionized ammonia of 0.0001 ± 0.0006 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, was used to fill the plastic bags for transport; 16 plastic bags (30 x 40 cm) containing 1 L of water and 2/3 of dissolved oxygen. Four concentrations of EOHR with four replicates (bags) each were distributed in a completely randomized design. The same procedures were adopted for the plastic bags as described in Experiment 2 (closing and opening, disturbance caused by simulated transport and analysis of water quality).

# Statistical analysis

The data were subjected to the Shapiro-Wilk test for normality and Levene's test for homoscedasticity of variances. Parametric results (Experiment 1) were analyzed using one-way ANOVA and regression models (p < 0.05). Nonparametric results (Experiment 2, 3 and 4) were investigated by the Kruskal-Wallis test (p < 0.05). Infostat (version 2020) and R software (version 3.5.2) were used for data analysis.

# 3. Results

**Experiment 1** – Anesthetic effect of EOHR for *C. macropomum* juveniles

No mortality was observed 96 h after the EOHR anesthesia test and all fish resumed feeding within 24 h.

Anesthesia induction time showed a quadratic effect ( $R^2 = 0.8628$ ), with a minimum concentration at 333.0 µL L<sup>-1</sup> (108 s) (Fig. 1a). Recovery time showed a direct linear effect

( $R^2 = 0.7527$ ) among EOHR concentrations and varied from 87 to 158 s (Fig. 1b). The different concentrations of EOHR did not affect VF (p > 0.05) during anesthesia induction (Fig. 1c). VF showed an inversely proportional relationship among EOHR concentrations throughout recovery (p < 0.05) and ranged from 81 to 173 opercular beats per minute (Fig. 1d).



**Fig 1.** Anesthesia induction time (a) and recovery time (b) and ventilatory frequency during anesthesia induction (c) and recovery (d) (mean  $\pm$  standard deviations) of juveniles of *Colossoma macropomum* subjected to different concentrations of essential oil of *Hesperozygis ringens* (star represents the minimum value of the equation). The equations were adjusted to the data: induction y = 551.89 - 3.33x + 0.006x<sup>2</sup>, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.8628, recovery y = 8.97 + 0.16x, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.7527, induction ventilatory frequency (non significant), recovery ventilatory frequency y = 148.39 - 0.15x, R<sup>2</sup> = 0.5090.

Experiment 2 – Effects of EOHR added to transport water for C. macropomum juveniles

No mortality was observed 96 h after simulated transport with EOHR and all fish resumed feeding within 30 h.

After 4 h of simulated transport, the treatment with 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had a lower water temperature than the treatments with 0 (control) and 5  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR (p < 0.05). Also

after 4 h of simulated transport, treatments with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower pH and non-ionized ammonia values than the control (p < 0.05). The treatments did not differ significantly for dissolved oxygen level after 4 h of simulated transport (p > 0.05) (Table 1), while all treatments with EOHR had lower ammonia excretion than the control (Fig. 2).
**Table 1.** Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) at the end of 4 and 24 h of simulated transport of juveniles *Colossomamacropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR.

	After 4 h of simulated transport							
Treatments	Temperature (°C)	pH	Dissolved oxygen (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Non-ionized ammonia (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )				
0 (control)	$27.30 \pm 0.08$ a	$7.39 \pm 0.10 \text{ a}$	$14.95 \pm 1.37$	$0.010 \pm 0.0033$ a				
5 μL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$27.30 \pm 0.14$ a	$7.21 \pm 0.02 \text{ ab}$	$12.12\pm2.02$	$0.010 \pm 0.0014 \text{ ab}$				
$15 \mu L L^{-1} EOHR$	$27.25 \pm 0.17$ ab	$7.18\pm0.03~bc$	$13.78 \pm 1.44$	$0.004 \pm 0.0010 \text{ b}$				
$30 \mu L  L^{-1} EOHR$	$27.08\pm0.05~b$	$7.15 \pm 0.01 \text{ c}$	$12.97 \pm 1.62$	$0.002 \pm 0.0006 \text{ b}$				
<i>P</i> values	0.0348	0.0053	0.1127	0.0074				
		After 24 h of simulated transport						
0 (control)	$27.10 \pm 0.08$ ab	$7.20 \pm 0.08$ a	14.15 ± 1.15 a	$0.030 \pm 0.0100$ a				
5 µL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$27.15 \pm 0.06$ a	$7.09 \pm 0.09 \text{ ab}$	$2.29 \pm 1.46 \text{ b}$	$0.001 \pm 0.0009$ ab				
15 μL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$26.95 \pm 0.13$ bc	$6.87\pm0.06\ bc$	$2.18\pm0.51~b$	$0.001 \pm 0.000 \text{ b}$				
30 µL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$26.85 \pm 0.17$ c	$6.81 \pm 0.02$ c	$1.77\pm0.41~\mathrm{b}$	$0.001 \pm 0.000 \text{ b}$				
P values	0.0220	0.0048	0.0301	0.0055				

Means followed by different letters in a column differ by Kruskal-Wallis test (P < 0.05).



**Fig 2.** Ammonia excretion levels (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) for the different time periods of simulated transport of juveniles of *Colossoma macropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR. (1) Experiment 2 and (2) Experiment 3. Means for the same time followed by different letters differ by the Kruskal-Wallis test (p < 0.05).

After 24 h of transport, the treatment with 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower water temperature and pH values than the treatments with 0 (control) and 5  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR, and the treatment with 15  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR also had a lower pH than the control (p < 0.05). All treatments with EOHR had much lower dissolved oxygen levels than the control after 24 h of transport (p < 0.05). Also after 24 h, treatments with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower nonionized ammonia levels than the control (p < 0.05) (Table 1), while all treatments with EOHR had lower ammonia excretion than the control (Fig. 2).

**Experiment 3** – New simulated 24-hour transport of *C. macropomum* juveniles with different concentrations of EOHR

No mortality was observed 96 h after simulated transport with EOHR and all fish resumed feeding within 30 h.

After 24 h of transport, the treatment with 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had higher water temperature than the treatments with 0 and 5  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR (p < 0.05), and treatments with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower pH than in the control (p < 0.05). As observed in Experiment

2, all treatments with EOHR had much lower dissolved oxygen levels than the control after 24 h of transport (p < 0.05). Also after 24 h, treatments with 15 and 30 µL L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower non-ionized ammonia levels than the control (p < 0.05) (Table 2), while treatments with EOHR had lower ammonia excretion than the control (Fig. 2).

**Table 2.** Water quality parameters (mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) after the second simulated transport (24 h) of juveniles *Colossoma macropomum* in plastic bags containing only water (control) and different concentrations of EOHR

Treatments	Temperature (°C)	pН	Dissolved oxygen (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Non-ionized ammonia (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )
-				
0 (control)	$27.28\pm0.05~b$	$7.36 \pm 0.15$ a	$14.38 \pm 0.93$ a	$0.040 \pm 0.0100$ a
5 μL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$27.33\pm0.05~b$	$7.18 \pm 0.08 \text{ ab}$	$2.16\pm0.12\ b$	$0.003 \pm 0.0005$ ab
$15 \mu L L^{-1} EOHR$	$27.38 \pm 0.05$ ab	$7.08 \pm 0.04 \text{ bc}$	$2.23\pm0.27~b$	$0.002 \pm 0.0005 \text{ b}$
$30 \mu L  L^{-1}  EOHR$	$27.58 \pm 0.05$ a	$6.92\pm0.05~c$	$2.16\pm0.09~b$	$0.001 \pm 0.0005 \text{ b}$
P values	0.0073	0.0049	0.0301	0.0051

Means followed by different letters in a column differ by Kruskal-Wallis test (P < 0.05).

**Experiment 4** – Effects of EOHR on water physicochemical parameters after 24 hours of simulated transport without fish

After 24 h of transport, the bags without fish were opened, and the treatments with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had higher water temperatures than the control treatment (p < 0.05). As observed in Experiment 3, treatments with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR had lower pH than did the control after 24 h of transport (p < 0.05), and all treatments with EOHR had lower dissolved oxygen levels than the control (p < 0.05). The treatments did not differ significantly for non-ionized ammonia after 24 h of transport (p > 0.05) (Table 3).

Tab	le 3.	Wate	r quality	y parame	ters (mea	$n \pm s$	tandard	deviation)	after	simulated	transport	(24
h) w	ithou	ıt fish	contain	ing water	and diffe	erent	concent	rations of E	EOHR			

	Temperature		Dissolved	Non-ionized
Treatments	(°C)	pН	oxygen (mg $L^{-1}$ )	ammonia (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )
0 (control)	$26.47\pm0.05~b$	$7.52 \pm 0.09$ a	$14.41 \pm 1.27$ a	$0.003 \pm 0.0009$
5 μL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$26.57 \pm 0.05 \text{ ab}$	$7.23 \pm 0.08$ ab	$7.82\pm0.19~b$	$0.001 \pm 0.0005$
15 µL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$26.63 \pm 0.05$ a	$7.18\pm0.01~b$	$7.67\pm0.40~b$	$0.001 \pm 0.0005$
30 µL L <sup>-1</sup> EOHR	$26.63 \pm 0.05$ a	$7.12\pm0.04~b$	$7.85\pm0.43~b$	$0.001 \pm 0.0005$
P values	0.0111	0.0076	0.0281	0.0587

Means followed by different letters in a column differ by Kruskal-Wallis test (P < 0.05).

### 4. Discussion

The EOHR promoted anesthesia and sedation of small juveniles of *C. macropomum*, with induction and recovery times considered ideal for fish. It also reduced ammonia excretion during transport, although it caused changes in water quality parameters.

No mortality was observed for *C. macropomum* juveniles during anesthesia and sedation with EOHR. Toni et al. (2014) and Toni et al. (2015) also did not observe mortality for *R. quelen* after being anesthetized and sedated with different concentrations of EOHR. Thus, EOHR concentrations between 150 and 450  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> can be recommended for individuals of *C. macropomum* with an average weight of 3 g; according to recommended induction and recovery times for fish anesthesia (Keene et al. 1998; Ross and Ross 2008). Toni et al. (2014) indicated 300 or 450  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR for *R. quelen* anesthesia with an average weight of 32 g, which indicates that the ideal concentration vary depending on the species and weight of the animals.

Evaluating the VF of fish is a non-invasive method that can be useful for understanding their physiology (Alvarenga and Volpato 1995; Becker et al. 2017; Aydin and Barbas 2020). Hyperventilation and increased oxygen consumption usually occur in fish at the beginning of anesthesia, and can be due to the detection of anesthetics in the water (Summerfelt and Smith 1990). Nevertheless, hypoventilation and, consequently, reduced oxygen consumption by fish may result from anesthesia (Houston et al. 1971). The VF of *C. macropomum* during recovery decreased with increasing EOHR concentration. Toni et al. (2014) also observed a reduction in VF for *R. quelen* when anesthetized with 300 or 450  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR. However, Hajek (2010) did not observe a difference in the VF of the common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* L., during anesthesia with 0.5 mL L<sup>-1</sup> tea tree oil but found a decrease in VF during the first minutes of recovery. There are reports in the literature that different VF responses of fish in relation to the use of anesthetics may be related to the specific characteristics of the species (Becker et al. 2012; Cunha et al. 2017; Becker et al. 2018; Boaventura et al. 2020; Silva et al. 2019; Ferreira et al. 2020).

Fish survival was 100% during and 96 h after transport and the evaluated EOHR concentrations did not cause deep anesthesia in the fish, which is desirable during transport. When evaluating the effect of the EO of *O. gratissimum* (0, 5 and 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) on *L. alexandri*, Boaventura et al. (2021) also did not observe mortality during and after 24 h of transport in

plastic bags. The use of the EOs of *Nectandra grandiflora* (30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup>) and *Protium heptaphylum* (50 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) contributed to the well-being of *C. macropomum* during 6 and 22 h of transport, respectively, and did not cause mortality (Barbas et al. 2020; Silva et al. 2020), results that suggest the possibility of using different EOs for transporting fish.

Water quality parameters are extremely important for the successful transport of live fish (Sampaio and Freire 2016). The present study found changes in water temperature after both evaluated transport periods, but the changes were very small (1 °C or less), and values were within the acceptable limits for the cultivation of *C. macropomum* (Silva and Fujimoto 2015). These changes were not related to the presence of EOHR in the water, as the results differed between experiments.

The reduced pH of the water at the end of transport with or without fish indicates that at least part of the variation in pH was due to the addition of EOHR to the water. However, the pH of the water only ranged from 6.8 to 7.3 at the end of the transport, which are appropriate levels for raising *C. macropomum* (Silva and Fujimoto 2015).

Dissolved oxygen levels of water containing EOHR after 24 h of simulated transport of C. macropomum demonstrated, in both experiments, higher oxygen consumption when using this EO. Furthermore, the simulated transport without fish showed that EOHR actually consumes oxygen, which was enhanced with the presence of fish (experiments 2 and 3). Oxygen consumption by fish during long periods of transport was already expected (Silva et al. 2020). However, what may have contributed to the oxygen consumption by EOHR could have been a reaction between the major compound of this EO (pulegone) and oxygen, resulting in the production of pulegone epoxide (Elgendy and Khayyat 2008). Nonetheless, despite the low dissolved oxygen levels in the water after 24 h of transport (approximately 2 mg L<sup>-1</sup>), mortality was not observed during and after 96 h, and all animals resumed feeding after the end of the tests. Colossoma macropomum is known for its resistance to hypoxic conditions due to its region of origin (Saint Paul 1984; Weber 1996; Affonso et al. 2002). Neves et al. (2020) recently reported that C. macropomum was able to survive for three days at dissolved oxygen levels close to 0.92 mg  $L^{-1}$  and subsequently resume homeostasis. Thus, attention should be paid to long transports with the use of EOHR, as it can reduce the dissolved oxygen of water in plastic transport bags. The current study also indicated that, before using an EO for the transport of aquatic animals, it is important to determine whether the EO itself changes dissolved oxygen levels.

The transport of live fish in plastic bags tends to result in increased waterborne ammonia levels due to excretion by the fish (Sampaio and Freire 2016). In the present study, non-ionized ammonia levels were lower in the bags of fish transported for 4 and 24 h with 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR than in the control, and fish from all treatments with EOHR had lower ammonia excretion. This result indicates a possible reduction in animal metabolism. Likewise, a mixture of tea tree and clove EOs (10.4 mg L<sup>-1</sup>) decreased ammonia levels in the water of *C. macropomum* transported for 36 h in plastic bags (Santos et al. 2020), while the use of 12.5 and 25  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EO of *A. tryphilla* in the transport water of *L. alexandri* for 3 h also reduced ammonia excretion (Becker et al. 2017). These results indicate the efficiency of the use of these EOs to reduce animal metabolism during transport.

# **5.** Conclusions

EOHR proved to be effective for anesthesia and sedation for short periods of transport (4 h) of juveniles of *C. macropomum*. Concentrations between 150 and 450  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR are recommended for *C. macropomum* at 3 g, as they promote anesthesia with induction and recovery times considered ideal for fish. Concentrations of 15 and 30  $\mu$ L L<sup>-1</sup> EOHR were able to reduce non-ionized ammonia levels during transport of *C. macropomum* at 2 g; however, its use in a closed system (i.e., plastic bag) for long periods should be avoided (24 h) as it reduces dissolved oxygen levels.

### Funding

This research was funded by Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq-Brazil), Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais (FAPEMIG-Brazil), Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES-Brazil) and INCT ADAPTA II funded by CNPq (465540/2014-7) and FAPEAM, Amazonas State Research Foundation (062.1187/2017). R.K. Luz and B. Baldisserotto received research fellowships from CNPq (CNPq No. 308547/2018-7 and 301225/2017-6, respectively), Carlos G. Pinheiro received a fellowship from CAPES (finance code 001).

### Availability of data and material

The data and material that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

### **Code availability**

Not applicable.

### **Declarations**

#### **Ethical approval**

All applicable international, national, and/or institutional guidelines for the care and use of animals were followed by the authors.

# **Consent to participle**

All names in the author list have been involved in various stages of experimentation and/or writing.

# **Consent for publication**

All authors agree to submit the paper for publication in the journal Aquaculture International.

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare no competing interests.

# 6. References

- Affonso EG, Polez VLP, Correa CF, Mazon AF, Araujo MRR, Moraes G, Rantin FT (2002) Blood parameters and metabolites in the teleost fish *Colossoma macropomum* exposed to sulfide or hypoxia. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol 133:375-382. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1532- 0456(02)00127-8
- Alvarenga CMD, Volpato GL (1995) Agonistic profile and metabolism in alevins of the Nile tilapia. Physiol Behav 57:75-80. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)00206-K

- Araújo-Dairiki TB, Chaves FCM, Dairiki JK (2018) Seeds of sacha inchi (*Plukenetia volubilis*, Euphorbiaceae) as a feed ingredient for juvenile tambaqui, *Colossoma macropomum*, and matrinxã, *Brycon amazonicus* (Characidae). Acta Amaz 48:32-37. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201700753
- Araújo-Lima CARM, Goulding M (1998) So fruitful fish: ecology, conservation, and aquaculture of the Amazon's tambaqui. New York: Columbia University Press, pp 157
- Aydın B, Akhan S, Gümüş E, Özbaş M (2019) Anesthetic efficacy of clove oil and 2phenoxyethanol on doctor fish, *Garra rufa* (Heckel, 1843). Bol Inst Pesca 45:e506. https://doi.org/ 10.20950/1678-2305.2019.45.4.506
- Aydın B, Barbas LAL (2020) Sedative and anesthetic properties of essential oils and their active compounds in fish: A review. Aquaculture 520:734999. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.734999
- Barbas LAL, Araújo ERL, Torres MF, Maltez LC, Oliveira GL, Heinzmann BM, Sampaio LA (2020) Stress relieving potential of two plant-based sedatives in the transport of juvenile tambaqui *Colossoma macropomum*. Aquaculture, 520:734681. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734681
- Barton BA (2002) Stress in fishes: a diversity of responses with particular reference to changes in circulating corticosteroids. Integr Comp Biol 42:517-525. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/42.3.517
- Becker AG, Parodi TV, Heldwein CG, Zeppenfeld CC, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2012) Transportation of silver catfish, *Rhamdia quelen*, in water with eugenol and the essential oil of *Lippia alba*. Fish Physiol Biochem 38:789-796. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-011-9562-4
- Becker AG, Luz RK, Mattioli CC, Nakayama CL, Silva WDS, Leme FDOP, Mendonça HCP, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2017) Can the essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* have anesthetic effect and improve the physiological parameters of the carnivorous freshwater catfish *Lophiosilurus alexandri* after transport? Aquaculture 481:184-190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2017.09.007
- Becker AJ, Fogliarini CDO, Souza CDF, Becker AG, Mourão RHV, Silva LVFD, Baldisserotto B (2018) Ventilatory frequency and anesthetic efficacy in silver catfish,

*Rhamdia quelen*: a comparative approach between different essential oils. Rev Bras Zootec 47:e20170185. https://doi.org/10.1590/rbz4720170185

- Boaventura TP, Souza CF, Ferreira AL, Favero GC, Baldissera MD, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B., Luz RK (2020) Essential oil of *Ocimum gratissimum* (Linnaeus, 1753) as anesthetic for *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: induction, recovery, hematology, biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 529:735676. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735676
- Boaventura TP, Souza CF, Ferreira AL, Favero GC, Baldissera MD, Heinzmann BM,
  Baldisserotto B, Luz RK (2021) The use of *Ocimum gratissimum* L. essential oil during the transport of *Lophiosilurus alexandri*: water quality, hematology, blood biochemistry and oxidative stress. Aquaculture 531:735964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735964
- Brandão RF, Souza DCM, Sebastião FA, Chaves FCM, Bizzo HR, O'Sullivan FLA, Chagas EC (2021) Essential oils as anaesthetics and sedatives in native Brazilian fish, with a special emphasis on *Colossoma macropomum*: A review. Aquac Res 53:767-781. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.15650
- Braz RS, Silva OI, Tesser MB, Sampaio LA, Rodrigues RV (2018) Benzocaína, MS-222, eugenol e mentol como anestésicos para juvenis de tainha *Mugil liza*. Bol Inst Pesca 43:605-613. https://doi.org/10.20950/1678-2305.2017v43n4p605
- Cunha JAD, Scheeren CÁ, Salbego J, Gressler LT, Madaloz, LM, Bandeira Junior G, Bianchini AE, Pinheiro CG, Bordignon SAL, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2017) Essential oils of *Cunila galioides* and *Origanum majorana* as anesthetics for *Rhamdia quelen*: efficacy and effects on ventilation and ionoregulation. Neotrop Ichthyol 15:e160076. https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-0224-20160076
- Dolwitsch CB, Pires FB, Frescura LM, Prá VD, Rieffel RC, Sagrillo MR., Carvalho AC, Mazutti M, Pizzutti IR, Rosa MB (2020) *Hesperozygis ringens* (Benth.) Epling: a study involving extraction, chemical profiling, antioxidant and biological activity. Nat Prod Res 1:1-6. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.2019.1710703
- Elgendy EM, Khayyat SA (2008) Oxidation studies on some natural monoterpenes: citral, pulegone, and camphene. Russ J Org Chem 44:814-822. https://doi:10.1134/s1070428008060067

- Ferreira AL, Souza SW, Neves LDC, Ferreira NS, Takata R, Luz RK (2020) Benzocaine and menthol as anesthetics for the African cichlid *Aulonocara nyassae*. Aquac Int 28:1837-1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-020-00561-w
- Ferreira AL, Bonifácio CT, Souza Silva W, Favero GC, Takata R, Luz RK (2021) Anesthesia with eugenol and menthol for juveniles of *Piaractus brachypomus* (Cuvier, 1818): Induction and recovery times, ventilation frequency and hematologial and biochemical responses. Aquaculture 544:737076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.737076
- Garcia LDO, Barcellos LJG, Baldisserotto B (2015) Net ion fluxes and ammonia excretion during transport of *Rhamdia quelen* juveniles. Cienc Rural 45:1854-1858. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20141420
- Gomes LC, Baldisserotto B (2019) Espécies nativas para piscicultura no Brasil: Org Baldisserotto B (3ed) Tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*), Santa Maria, UFSM, pp 147-168
- Gressler LT, Riffel APK, Parodi TV, Saccol EMH, Koakoski G, Costa ST, Pavanato MA, Heinzmann BM, Caron B, Schmidt D, Llesuy SF, Barcellos LJG, Baldisserotto B (2014) Silver catfish *Rhamdia quelen* immersion anaesthesia with essential oil of *Aloysia triphylla* (L'Hérit) Britton or tricaine methanesulfonate: effect on stress response and antioxidant status. Aquac Res 45:1061-1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.12043.
- Hajek GJ (2010) The anaesthetic-like effect of tea tree oil in common carp *Cyprinus carpio* L. Aquac Res 42:296-300. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02625.x
- Houston AH, Madden JA, Woods RJ, Miles HM (1971) Some physiological effects of handling and tricaine methanesulphonate anesthetization upon the brook trout, *Salvelinus fontinalis*. J Fish Res Board Can 28:625-633. https://doi.org/10.1139/f71-093
- Keene JI, Noakes DIG, Moccia RD, Soto GC (1998) The efficacy of clove oil as an anesthetic for rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum). Aquac Res 29:89-101. https://doi.org/10.1111/are.13671
- King HR (2009) Fish transport in the aquaculture sector: an overview of the road transport of Atlantic salmon in Tasmania. J Vet Behav 4:163-168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jveb.2008.09.034
- Mirghaed AT, Yasari M, Mirzargar SS, Hoseini SM (2018) Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) anesthesia with myrcene: Efficacy and physiological responses in comparison

with eugenol. Fish Physiol Biochem 44:919-926. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10695-018-0481-5

- Neves LC, Favero GC, Beier SL, Ferreira NS, Palheta GDA, Melo NFAC, Luz RK (2020) Physiological and metabolic responses in juvenile *Colossoma macropomum* exposed to hypoxia. Fish Physiol Biochem 46:2157-2167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-020-00868-8
- Peixe BR (2020) Anuário da Piscicultura. São Paulo: Associação Brasileira da Piscicultura 2020. Disponível em: https://www.peixebr.com.br/Anuario2020/AnuarioPeixeBR2020.pdf accessed 16 March 2021
- Reis RE (2003) Check list of the freshwater fishes of South and Central America. Porto Alegre, Edipucrs, pp 183
- Ribeiro PA, Miranda Filho KC, Melo DCD, Luz RK (2015) Efficiency of eugenol as anesthetic for the early life stages of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). An Acad Bras Cienc 87:529-535. https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765201520140024
- Ross LG, Ross B (2008) Anaesthetic and sedative techniques for aquatic animals. Blackwell Science, Oxford
- Saint Paul U (1984) Physiological adaptation to hypoxia of a neotropical characoid fish Colossoma macropomum, Serrasalmidae. Environ Biol Fishes 11:53-62. https://doi. org/10.1007/BF00001845
- Sampaio FD, Freire CA (2016) An overview of stress physiology of fish transport: changes in water quality as a function of transport duration. Fish Fish 17:1055-1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12158
- Santos ELR, Rezende FP, Moron SE (2020) Stress-related physiological and histological responses of tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*) to transportation in water with tea tree and clove essential oil anesthetics. Aquaculture 523:735164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735164
- Silva LDL, Silva DTD, Garlet QI, Cunha MA, Mallmann CA, Baldisserotto B, Longhi SJ, Pereira AMS, Heinzmann BM (2013) Anesthetic activity of Brazilian native plants in silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Neotrop Ichthyol 11:443-451. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252013000200014

- Silva CAD, Fujimoto RY (2015) Tambaqui growth in response to stocking density in cages. Acta Amaz 45:323-332. https://doi.org/10.1590/1809-4392201402205
- Silva HNPD, Carvalho BCFD, Maia JLDS, Becker AG, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Silva LVFD (2019) Anesthetic potential of the essential oils of *Lippia alba* and *Lippia* origanoides in tambaqui juveniles. Cienc Rural 49:e20181059. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20181059
- Silva HNP, Machado SDS, Siqueira AMA, Silva ECC, Canto MAO, Jensen L, Silva LVF, Fugimura MMS, Barroso AS, Mourão RHV, Baldisserotto B (2020) Sedative and anesthetic potential of the essential oil and hydrolate from the fruit of *Protium heptaphyllum* and their isolated compounds in *Colossoma macropomum* juveniles. Aquaculture 529:735629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2020.735629
- Small BC (2003) Anesthetic efficacy of metomidate and comparison of plasma cortisol responses to tricaine methanesulfonate, quinaldine and clove oil anesthetized channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus*. Aquaculture 18:177-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(02)00302-2
- Sousa AG, Pacheco AH, Siqueira-Pinto GA, Reis GT, Fugimura M, Vaz LJ, Marcusso PF, Ramos-Espinoza FC, Claudiano GS (2021) Comparative study of hematological parameters of *Colossoma macropomum* anesthetized with benzocaine and eugenol by using different anticoagulants. Aquac Int 29:977-988. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10499-021-00668-8
- Souza CDF, Baldissera MD, Baldisserotto B, Heinzmann BM, Martos Sitcha JA, Mancera JM (2019) Essential oils as stress-reducing agents for fish aquaculture: a review. Front Physiol 10:785. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2019.00785
- Summerfelt RC, Smith LS (1990) Anesthesia, surgery, and related techniques. In: Schreck CB, Moyle PB (eds) Methods for Fish Biology, Bethesda, pp 213-272
- Toni C, Becker AG, Simões LN, Pinheiro CG, Silva LL, Heinzmann BM, Caron BO, Baldisserotto B (2014) Fish anesthesia: effects of the essential oils of *Hesperozygis ringens* and *Lippia alba* on the biochemistry and physiology of silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*). Fish Physiol Biochem 40:701-714. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-013-9877-4
- Toni C, Martos Sitcha JA, Ruiz Jarabo I, Mancera JM, Martínez Rodríguez G, Pinheiro CG, Heinzmann BM, Baldisserotto B (2015). Stress response in silver catfish (*Rhamdia*

quelen) exposed to the essential oil of *Hesperozygis ringens*. Fish Physiol Biochem 41:129-138. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10695-014-0011-z

- Weber RE (1996) Hemoglobin adaptations in Amazonian and temperate fish with special reference to hypoxia, allosteric effectors and functional heterogeneity. Val AL, Almeida-Val VMF, Randall DJ (Eds.) Physiology and Biochemistry of the fishes of the Amazon, INPA, pp 5-90
- Woynárovich A, Van Anrooy R (2019) Field guide to the culture of tambaqui (*Colossoma macropomum*, Cuvier, 1816). FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper (ed) pp 624.

# **CONSIDERAÇÕES FINAIS**

Os resultados obtidos proporcionaram informações importantes sobre a concentração ideal de diferentes anestésicos para peixes de água doce em situações de manipulação, como biometria e transporte. Os anestésicos avaliados foram eficazes e seguros para as espécies estudadas de acordo com os parâmetros analisados. Contudo, para alguns dos anestésicos testados são necessárias análises eletroencefalográficas ou relacionadas à ativação/expressão de receptores de neurotransmissores para comprovação efetiva do seu efeito anestésico. Além disso, a utilização de novas tecnologias, como a nanotecnologia, é de suma importância para o desenvolvimento de uma piscicultura sustentável. Esta forma de aplicação de anestésico na aquicultura (nanoemulsão), pode contribuir na maior estabilidade dos compostos bioativos dos fármacos, melhorar sua solubilidade e disponibilidade, bem como aprimorar sua eficiência; garantindo assim maior segurança e bem-estar dos animais durante situações de manipulação.

Novos estudos de anestésicos para peixes devem investigar a morfologia e histologia de tecidos; e sobretudo avaliar o desempenho zootécnico dos animais após os testes de anestesia.